
 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 1 of 6 
 

  
 
 
 
Watch Live via YouTube at:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 
Pursuant to Ordinance #08-17, Any citizen of the County may sign to 
speak in person at the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 
Regular Meeting start time) on the Public Comments Sign in Sheet on the 
Podium to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and 
Operations. Presentations will be limited to three (3) minutes per person 
and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes.  Written Public 
Comments may also be submitted by 1PM on the date of the Council 
Meeting by emailing your comment to: comments@jaspercountysc.gov.  
 
To participate in a Public Hearing for a specific agenda item, you may 
either email written public comments to comments@jaspercountysc.gov 
by 1:00PM on Monday, December 2, 2024; or you can speak in person at 
the Council Meeting by signing in on the Public Hearing Sign In Sheet 
located outside the Council Chambers Doors prior to the start of the 
meeting. Public Hearing Comments shall be limited to 3 minutes per 
person. 
 

Instructions may also be found at the Jasper County website 
www.jaspercountysc.gov  
         
FOR MORE INFORMATION, PLEASE CALL (843) 717-3696  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA
mailto:comments@jaspercountysc.gov
http://www.jaspercountysc.gov/


 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 2 of 6 
 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg.  
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

    Monday, December 2, 2024

5:30PM 
 
1.     Call to Order of Council Meeting by Chairman Sauls 
 

Clerk’s Report of Compliance with the Freedom of Information Act.  
In accordance with South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, Section 30-4-80(d), as amended, notification of 
the meeting and the meeting agenda were posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting on the County 
Council Building at a publicly accessible place, on the county website, and a copy of the agenda was 
provided to the local news media and all person’s or organizations requesting notification.  
 

2.         Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.   
(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons: 

 
(2)  Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and proposed     
purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice related to    
pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client  
privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary  
situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim – Exit 3; Engagement Agreement with 
Lawrence Flynn of Pope Flynn; Nickel Plate Tolling Agreement Extension    
 
(5)  Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision  
of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in 
the area served by a public body – Prospect Update; Project Salmon  
 

ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE DISCUSSION 
SUSPENDED FOR PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND COUNCIL MAY 
RETURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION AGENDA 
ITEMS.PLEASE BE ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
 
3:  Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 
 

o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session 
 
4.  Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation:  
 



 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 3 of 6 
 

5.  Introduction of New Council Member  
 
 • Swearing In Ceremony for Councilman Chris VanGeison by Judge Gutierrez 
 
6.  Approval of the Consent Agenda Items:  

Approval of Consent Agenda passes all Consent Agenda Items. Consent Agenda Items are not 
considered separately unless any Councilmember so requests. In the event of such a request the item is 
placed at the end of the Public Hearings, Ordinances and Action Items.  

 
7.  Approval of the Regular Agenda:  
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

 
8. Arthur Benjamin – Update on Detention Center Repairs. 
 

PROCLAMATION  
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
9. None 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

RESOLUTIONS  
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
10. David Tedder – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-43 A Resolution authorizing the acceptance of a deed 
to 5.05 acres of land, more or less, owned by First Carolina Corporation of South Carolina at the Center Point 
Development Agreement Property located on Highway 170 adjacent to the John Paul II school site, being a part 
of TMS Number 081-00-03-019. 
 
11: Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-44 a Resolution of Jasper County, South 
Carolina Authorizing a Capital Lease Purchase Financing in an amount not exceeding Eleven Million 
Dollars ($11,000,000); Approving the execution and delivery of necessary documents and closing 
papers; and other matters relating thereto. 
 
12: David Tedder – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-45 a resolution of Jasper County Council 
Memorializing the Ratification of the Option Contract for the Purchase of 252 Russell Street, Ridgeland, SC , 
having TMP Number 063-26-02-003, and matters related thereto. 
 
13. David Tedder - Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-46 A Resolution Authorizing a Joinder 
Agreement to Provide for the Addition of Palmetto Plastics Innovations, LLC as a Sponsor Affiliate, to 
Authorize an Assignment of the Benefits of Such Agreement, and to Address Other Matters Related 
Thereto. 
______________________________________________________________________________________  

PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 
 



 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 4 of 6 
 

14. David Tedder – Public Hearing and Consideration Of The 3rd Reading Of Ordinance #O-2024-26  
Authorizing The Execution And Delivery Of A Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement By And 
Between Jasper County, South Carolina And Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC, A Company Also 
Known As Project Pilgrimage, With Respect To Certain Economic Development Property In The 
County, Whereby Such Property Will Receive Certain Special Source Credits; And Other Matters 
Related Thereto. (Project Pilgrimage) (1st reading 10.21.2024; Public Hearing and 2nd reading on 
11.04.2024) 
 
15.  David Tedder – Consideration Of The 3rd Reading Of Ordinance #O-2024-27  To Establish, 
Pursuant To Section 4-1-170 Of The Code Of Laws Of South Carolina 1976, As Amended, A Multi-
County Industrial/Business Park, In Conjunction With Beaufort County, South Carolina; To Authorize 
The Execution And Delivery Of A Multicounty Park Agreement By And Between Jasper County, South 
Carolina And Beaufort County, South Carolina; To Provide For A Written Agreement With Beaufort 
County As To The Sharing Of The Revenues And Expenses Of The Park; To Provide For The 
Distribution Of Revenues From The Park Among Taxing Entities Having Jurisdiction Over The Park; To 
Provide For A Fee In Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxation; And Other Matters Related Thereto. (Project 
Micro) (1st reading 10.21.2024; Public Hearing and 2nd reading 11.04.2024)  
 
16.  David Tedder – 2nd Public Hearing Only Of An Ordinance Approving A Development Agreement For The 
Jasper Telfair Tract Pursuant To The South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act And 
Article IV, Title 20 Of The Code Of Ordinances Of Jasper County, And Authorizing The Chairman Of Jasper 
County Council To Execute Said Development Agreement, And Matters Related Thereto. (Jasper Telfair PDD)  
 
To review this Development Agreement Document separately, please see the attached link below: 
Doc#_51968025_v_4_Jasper Telfair One LLC - Development Agreement with Jasper County.pdf  
 
If you find this link will not open from your computer, please type in the following: 
https://acrobat.adobe.com/id/urn:aaid:sc:VA6C2:c56a9592-b19c-491e-84cc-d283cb8daf92 
 
17. Lisa Wagner – Consideration of 1st Reading of an Ordinance to amend the Official Zoning Map of Jasper 
County so as to transfer a property located along Floyd Road, bearing Jasper County Tax Map Number 045-00-
01-049, consisting of 3 acres from the Rural Preservation Zone to the Residential Zone on the Jasper County 
Official Zoning Map. 
 
18. Lisa Wagner – Consideration of 1st Reading of an Ordinance to adopt Planned Development District 
Zoning, Planned Development District Standards, and Conceptual Master Plan for a tract of land consisting 
of approximately 223.70 acres, bearing Jasper County Tax Map Numbers 038-00-08-044, located along 
Bellinger Hill Road, and known as Daly Organics PDD. 
 
19. David Tedder – Consideration of the 1st Reading of an Ordinance Approving a Development Agreement 
for the Daly Organics Development Property consisting of approximately 223 acres, more or less, owned by 
Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC in the Bellinger Hill Area of Jasper County, South Carolina, Pursuant to the 
South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act and Article IV, Title 20 of the Code of 
Ordinances of Jasper county, Authorizing the Chairperson of the Jasper County Council to execute the 
Development Agreement, and Matters Related Thereto. (This document is included in the agenda e-packet) 

https://acrobat.adobe.com/id/urn:aaid:sc:VA6C2:c56a9592-b19c-491e-84cc-d283cb8daf92


 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 5 of 6 
 

20. Lisa Wagner – Consideration of 1st Reading of an Ordinance to Amend Article 2.1.1 of the Jasper County 
Land Development Regulations, Exempt Subdivision, limiting the number of parcels that can be subdivided 
from a single parcel of land when using the State’s exemption, to 4 individual parcels; to define an existing 
street and existing easement; Invoking application of the Pending Ordinance Doctrine; and other matters 
related thereto.  
 
21. Wanda Giles - Consideration Of Approval Of A Candidate To Be Appointed By The Jasper County Council 
To The Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board.  
 
22.  Wanda Giles - Consideration Of Approval For The Re-Appointment Of Harry Williams To The SCA Board 
of Directors Appointment for 2025 
 
23. Chief Wells - Consideration of approval for the purchase of two mid-sized SUV’s for the 911 
Communications Division, this is a budgeted item and on State Contract. Request authorization for the 
Administrator to Execute all Documents.  
 
24. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Acceptance of grant award in the amount of $11,344.40 from the 
South Carolina Department of Health And Authorize the County Administrator to Execute All Documents.  
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________     
Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at the 
Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the Podium), to 
address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will be limited to 
three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________  
25. Administrator’s Report:  
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  
26.  Wanda Giles - Consideration of Re-appointment of Ms. Barbara Bartoldus to the Board of Zoning 
Appeals. 
 
27. Wanda Giles – Consideration of the draft schedule of 2025 County Council Schedule Meeting Dates for 
approval at the January 6, 2025, meeting. 
 
28.  Approval of the Minutes  
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
29. Council Members Comments: 

 



 
 

12.02.2024 Agenda - Page 6 of 6 
 

30. Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II.  
 
*Council may act on any item appearing on the agenda including items discussed in executive session. 
 
31. Adjournment: 
 

Special Accommodations Available Upon Request to Individuals with Disabilities, please  contact the Jasper 
County ADA & Civil Rights Coordinator, Tisha Williams in person at 358 Third Avenue, Ridgeland, South 
Carolina, by telephone at (843) 717-3690 or via email at jcadministrator@jaspercountysc.gov no later than 48 
hours prior to the scheduled meeting  
 
 

mailto:jcadministrator@jaspercountysc.gov






 

 1 

 

  

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER R-2024-43 

 
RESOLUTION OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Authorizing the acceptance of a deed to 4.34 acres of land, more or less, owned by 
First Carolina Corporation of South Carolina at the Center Point Development 
Agreement Property located on Highway 170 adjacent to the John Paul II school 
site, being a part of TMS Number 081-00-03-019. 

 
 

WHEREAS, First Carolina Corporation of South Carolina (“First Carolina”) are 

the owners of certain real property (“Property”) described on a plat of survey by 

Gasque and Associates dated November 21, 2024, entitled “Subdivision of 081-

00-03-019 For Fire Station, Prepared for First Carolina Corporation, Okatie, 

Jasper County, South Carolina” (an unrecorded copy of which is attached); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Property is subject to the terms of a Development Agreement 

filed at Book 691 at Page 172 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper 

County, as amended by Ordinance Number O-2022-10 filed in Book 1105 at Page 

469 (collectively, the “Development Agreement”), and; 

 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement requires the donation of a parcel of 

land for a “Civic Site” being three acres in size, with a valuation of the Civic Site  

to be determined  by an appraisal; and  

 

WHEREAS, such value is contemplated to be used as a credit against 

Development Fees due to the County under the Development Agreement, and are 

capped under the terms of the Development Agreement  at a value not exceeding 

$190,000.00 per acre  for the three (3.0) acres, with an adjustment procedure in 

the event the three acres is valued at more than the $190,000.00 per acre; and  

 

WHEREAS, First Carolina is desirous of amending the terms of the dedication 

to relinquish any claim for payment by credit against Development Fees against 

the County in excess of the capped value provided in the Development 

Agreement, donating any excess value as a donation to the County not only the 

excess value of the three acres, but also donating additional acreage at no cost, 



 

 2 

such additional acreage totaling 1.34 acres, more or less, bringing the total land 

area to be dedicated to the County to 4.34 acres, ; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County Council is of the belief that it is in the best interest of 

the County and its citizens to accept this gift and to establish certain criteria, 

authorizations, and administration for the gift;  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Jasper County Council, in the 

council duly assembled and by the authority of the same, incorporating the 

foregoing premises,  that Jasper County Council hereby authorizes the acceptance 

of the total 4.34 acres identified herein under the terms and conditions set forth 

herein: 

 

1. The real property shall be accepted in “as is” condition by Limited 

Warranty or Quitclaim Deed from current owners with an acknowledgement of a 

gift to the County at the fair market value of the real property, as determined by 

the appraisal,  in excess of the capped value of the three acres as provided in the 

Development Agreement, with the appraised value of the three acres, not 

exceeding the value of $190,000.00 per acre  being available to First Carolina 

Corporation of South Carolina as a credit against the Development Fees  as 

provided in the Development Agreement. 

 

2. The Jasper County Administrator, shall be and he is hereby authorized to 

execute any and all documents to effect the gift, the transfer and to pay the costs, 

if any, of deed preparation, title research, survey, and usual and customary 

expenses of a real estate transfer. 

 

3. The Jasper County Administrator is also authorized to utilize the services 

of attorney Lawrence Flynn of the Pope Flynn law firm, who has previously 

represented Jasper County in transactions regarding First Carolina Corporation 

of South Carolina and the development agreement, for the purposes of 

completing this donation, as the County Attorney has previously disclosed his law 

office represented First Carolina Corporation  for many years in transactional 

matters for the owners of the corporation. 

 

4. The County Administrator is requested to draft for Jasper County Council 

for signature of the Chairman appropriate letters of thanks to the donors of the 

additional property beyond the three acres identified in the Development 

Agreement. 

 
 



 

 3 

This Resolution No.  ______ made this ______ day of ______, 2024. 
 
 
 
       _____________________ 
       L. Martin Sauls, IV  

Chairman 
        

ATTEST: 
 
               _____________________ 
       Wanda Giles  

Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
        
___________________________      _____________ 
David L. Tedder        Date 

 
 
 







STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
RESOLUTION #R-2024-44 

 

A RESOLUTION OF JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

AUTHORIZING A CAPITAL LEASE PURCHASE FINANCING IN AN 

AMOUNT NOT EXCEEDING ELEVEN MILLION DOLLARS 

($11,000,000); APPROVING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND CLOSING PAPERS; AND OTHER 

MATTERS RELATING THERETO 

 

 WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (the “County”) acting through the County 

Council of Jasper County as its governing body (the “Council”), is a body corporate and politic 

and political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), and as such possesses all 

general powers granted by the Constitution and statutes of the State to counties; 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to State law, the County may contract for the purchase, lease, 

rental or other acquisition of equipment to be used for fire-related purposes within the 

unincorporated area of the County; 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the County to acquire certain personal property 

pursuant to a lease purchase financing arrangement and the entering into by the County of a lease 

purchase contract (the “Contract”) with a financial institution (the “Bank”). 

 

WHEREAS, the County has determined that the need exists to acquire eleven (11) 

pumper fire trucks and related equipment (the “Equipment”); 

 

WHEREAS, the Equipment is essential to the operations of the County;  

 

WHEREAS, the Contract will not constitute a “financing agreement” and the Equipment 

will not constitute an “asset” as such terms are defined in Section 11-27-110 of the Code of Laws of 

South Carolina 1976, as amended. Thus, the amount of the Contract will not be included when 

calculating the County’s constitutional debt limit; 

 

 WHEREAS, the Equipment shall be acquired by and titled, as applicable, in the name of 

the County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the County has determined to negotiate with financial institutions and 

receive proposals to finance the Equipment.  

 

 BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, as follows: 

 

 SECTION 1.   Authorization for the Financing and Contract. 

 

(a) Council hereby determines to finance the acquisition of the Equipment (the 

“Financing”). The Council hereby authorizes the County Administrator of the County (the 



2 

 

“County Administrator”) to negotiate the Financing with certain financial institutions, and such 

negotiations may further include distribution and receipt of a request for proposals related to the 

Financing (“RFP”).  On the basis of such negotiations or the responses to the RFP, the Financing 

shall be awarded to the Bank that the County Administrator, in his sole discretion, determines to 

provide the most advantageous terms to the County. In making such determination and award, 

the County Administrator may act in his sole discretion so long as the bid otherwise conforms to 

the term hereof. To the extent the County Administrator has already begun such negotiations or 

otherwise distributed an RFP prior to the approval of this Resolution, all such actions associated 

therewith are ratified and approved in their entirety.  

 

(b) The Financing may be separated into multiple series of obligations, which may be 

issued on tax-exempt and/or taxable basis as determined by legal counsel to the County. The 

amount of the Financing, including any costs of issuance associated therewith, shall not exceed 

$11,000,000 (the “Lease Amount”) and the final Lease Amount, term, closing date, and other 

material terms for the Financing shall be determined by the County Administrator. However, in 

no event shall the interest rate on the Financing exceed 6.50% per annum.  

 

(c) The Contract, the winning Bank’s bid response and all related documents for the 

closing of the Financing (collectively, the “Financing Documents”) shall be consistent with the 

foregoing terms. The County Administrator and the County’s Director of the Administrative 

Services Division (together, the “Authorized Officers”) are severally authorized to execute, 

acknowledge and deliver such documents and instruments as may be necessary in connection 

with the execution and delivery of the Financing Documents. The Clerk to Council or any 

Authorized Officer (other than the Authorized Officer executing the applicable Financing 

Document) are further authorized to affix the seal of the County to any of the Financing 

Documents and attest thereto. Each Authorized Officer is further authorized to take all such 

further action as they may consider necessary or desirable to carry out the Financing as 

contemplated by the provisions of this Resolution.  

 

(d) The County Administrator is hereby directed and authorized to hold executed 

copies of the Financing Documents until the conditions for delivery of the Financing Documents 

have been completed to his satisfaction. The Financing Documents, consistent with the 

provisions of the winning bid, shall be in such final forms as the County Administrator shall 

approve, and with the County Administrator’s release of any Financing Document for delivery 

constituting conclusive evidence of such his final approval of the final form of any of the 

Financing Documents.  

 

 SECTION 2.   Vacancy.  In case any of such offices for any Authorized Officer shall be 

vacant or the holder thereof shall be unable to serve at any particular time, then the authorization 

contained herein shall extend to any person serving in such capacity as an interim or acting 

holder of such office. 

 

 SECTION 3. Security for Contract. The financial obligations of the County under the 

Contract do not constitute general obligations of the County to which its faith and credit or 

taxing power are pledged, but are subject to and dependent upon lawful appropriations of funds 

being made by the Council to pay payments due in each fiscal year under the Contract. The 



3 

 

County’s obligations under the Contract are from year to year only and do not constitute a 

mandatory payment obligation of the County in any fiscal year in which funds are not 

appropriated by the County to pay the lease payments due in such fiscal year. The County has no 

continuing obligation to appropriate funds to pay rental payments due under the Contract and 

may terminate its obligations under the Contract on an annual basis without any penalty.  

 

 SECTION 4.  Tax Covenants. For any portion of the Financing issued on a federally 

tax-exempt basis, the Authorized Officer may covenant on behalf of the County that the County 

shall not take or omit to take any action the taking or omission of which shall cause its interest 

payments on the Financing to be includable in the gross income for federal tax purposes of the 

registered owners of the Financing.  

 

 SECTION 5.  Reimbursement of Certain Expenditures. The Council hereby declares its 

intention to reimburse itself for all or a portion of the original expenditures related to the 

acquiring and equipping the Equipment with the proceeds of the Financing, in a maximum 

aggregate principal amount reasonably expected not to exceed $11,000,000. To that end, the 

Council determines and declares as follows: 

 

(a) No funds from any sources other than the Financing may be, are, or are 

reasonably expected to be, reserved, allocated on a long-term basis, or otherwise set aside by the 

County pursuant to the budget or financial policies of the County for the financing of the portion 

of the costs of acquisition, construction, and equipping of the Equipment to be funded with the 

Financing; 

 

(b) The County reasonably expects that all or a portion of the original expenditures 

incurred for the Equipment and the issuance of the Financing will be paid prior to the date of 

issuance of the Financing; 

 

(c) The County intends and reasonably expects to reimburse itself for all such 

expenditures paid by it with respect to the Equipment, prior to the issuance of the Financing, 

from the proceeds of the Financing, and such intention is consistent with the budgetary and 

financial circumstances of the County; 

 

(d) The County intends and reasonably expects to reimburse itself for all such 

expenditures no later than eighteen months after the later of (i) the date the original expenditure 

is paid, or (ii) the date the Equipment is placed in service or abandoned for federal income tax 

purposes, but in no event more than three years after the original expenditure is paid; 

 

(e) All of the costs to be paid or reimbursed from the proceeds of the Financing will 

be for costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Financing or will, at the time of 

payment thereof, be properly chargeable to the capital account of the Equipment (or would be so 

chargeable with a proper election) under general federal income tax principles; and 

 

 (f) This Resolution shall constitute a declaration of official intent under United States 

Department of Treasury Regulations Section 1.150-2. 

 



4 

 

  SECTION 6.  Miscellaneous. 

 

  (a)   The Council hereby authorizes the County Administrator to retain (i) Pope Flynn, 

LLC, as its bond counsel (“Bond Counsel”), and (ii) all other necessary professionals in 

connection with the Financing. Bond Counsel is hereby authorized to contract with such advisors 

as it deems necessary or desirable to provide for the details of the Financing and to assist in the 

conduct of the sale of the Financing. 

 

(b) The County understands that certain costs of issuance are associated with the 

Financing and the County covenants and agrees that all such costs will be timely paid upon the 

closing of the Financing Documents and may be included in the Financing Amount.  

 

  (c)   All rules, regulations, resolutions and parts thereof, procedural or otherwise, in 

conflict herewith or the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Financing are, to the extent 

of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Resolution shall take effect and be in full force from 

and after its adoption. Further, the acquisition of the Equipment through the Financing as 

authorized and approved hereunder is intended to supersede and replace the acquisition and 

financing of the New Equipment (as such term is defined in Ordinance No. 2024-12 dated June 

3, 2024 (“Ordinance 2024-12”)). To the extent of any conflict between this Resolution and 

Ordinance No. 2024-12, this Resolution, as it relates to the acquisition of the Equipment, shall be 

controlling in all cases. This Resolution has no bearing and does not affect any planned financing 

or acquisition of the New Facilities (as such term is defined in Ordinance No. 2024-12) or any 

other provisions of Ordinance No. 2024-12.  

 

  (d) If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 

paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution. 

 

  (e) This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 

 

 DONE, RATIFIED AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December 2024. 

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

(SEAL) 

         

L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chairman 

County Council of Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

Attest: 

 

       

Wanda H. Giles, Clerk to County Council 

 

 

Approved as to Form: 



5 

 

 

 

 

             

David L. Tedder, County Attorney    Date 





 

 1 

 

  

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
RESOLUTION NUMBER R-2024–45 

 
RESOLUTION OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Memorializing the Ratification of the Option Contract for the Purchase of 252 

Russell Street, Ridgeland, SC, having TMP Number 063-26-02-003, and matters 
related thereto 

 
 

WHEREAS, the owner of certain real property accepted an offer by Jasper 
County to purchase from owner property consisting of an improved lot described 
in an Option Agreement, having TMP Number 063-26-02-003 and a street 
address of 252 Russell Street, Ridgeland, SC 29936 (the “Property”), upon the 
terms and conditions of the Option Agreement dated and executed August 9, 
2024 by the Jasper County Administrator and R. Thayer Rivers, Jr., the owner, 
subject to ratification of the Option Agreement by Jasper County Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, this property is close to the Clementa C. Pinckney Jasper County 
Government Building, will provide additional land area and constructed building 
space, and be of considerable use to the County as a nearby satellite office; and 

 
WHEREAS, by verbal motion/resolution made at the August 19, 2024 regular 
County Council Meeting, County Council having determined that it is in the best 
interest of the County to  complete the purchase, approved and ratified the 
Option Agreement and purchase of the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, Jasper County desires to memorialize by this Resolution the 
ratification made at that time, and the exercise of the Option, and confirm the 
authority of the Jasper County Administrator to proceed with the closing on the 
property, and matters related thereto 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Jasper County Council, in the 
council duly assembled and by the authority of the same that Jasper County 
Council hereby adopts the Resolution ratifying the approval of the Option 
Agreement executed August 9, 2024 and the exercise of the option by the Jasper 
County Administrator (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A), and the 
actions of the County Administrator taken to date to facilitate the acquisition of 
the aforesaid property under the terms and conditions set forth in said Option 
Agreement; and 



 

 2 

 
1. The Jasper County Administrator has been and continues to be authorized 
to engage and associate, the law firm of Harvey and Battey, PA, a law firm the 
County Attorney is associated in an “of counsel” position, to act as Escrow Agent 
for the transaction and undertake the usual and customary tasks of due diligence 
prior to exercise of the Option, including title research, preparation of a title 
insurance commitment, and obtaining a current survey, and upon exercise of the 
Option, document preparation and usual and customary real estate closing tasks 
for Jasper County. 
 
 

 
 

This Resolution No. R-2024–45 made this ______ day of ______, 2024. 
 
 
 
       _____________________ 
       L. Martin Sauls, IV  

Chairman 
        

ATTEST: 
 
               _____________________ 
       Wanda Giles  

Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
        
___________________________      _____________ 
David L. Tedder        Date 

 
 
 































 1 
 
HSB #10229691 v1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     ) RESOLUTION NO. R-2024-46 

COUNTY OF JASPER  ) 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A JOINDER AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FOR THE 

ADDITION OF PALMETTO PLASTICS INNOVATIONS, LLC AS A SPONSOR 

AFFILIATE, TO AUTHORIZE AN ASSIGNMENT OF THE BENEFITS OF SUCH 

AGREEMENT, AND TO ADDRESS OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code of Laws of 

South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”), Jasper County, South Carolina (the “County”), 

acting by and through its County Council (the “County Council”), entered into that certain Fee in 

Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with Freedom Industrial Partners LLC and 

Freedom Industrial Partners 2 LLC (collectively, the “Company”), dated as of November 21, 2022 

(“FILOT Agreement”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the extension of the benefits of a fee in lieu of tax 

arrangement to a “Sponsor Affiliate,” which is defined in the Act as an entity that joins with or is 

an affiliate of a sponsor and that participates in the investment in, or financing of, a project; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Palmetto Plastics Innovations, LLC (“Palmettto”) and the Company have 

requested that the County authorize the addition of Palmetto as a Sponsor Affiliate to the FILOT 

Agreement and approve an assignment of the relevant obligations, duties, responsibilities, terms, 

covenants, conditions and agreements contained in the FILOT Agreement from the Company to 

Palmetto with respect to any property subject to the FILOT Agreement that is owned and leased 

by Palmetto on the Land (Lot 4, Parcel 15, Freedom Industrial Park); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Palmetto and the Company have caused to be prepared and presented to this 

meeting a Joinder Agreement to effectuate the purposes set forth above. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the County Council of Jasper County, in 

meeting duly assembled, as follows: 

 

Section 1.  The form, terms and provisions of the Joinder Agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit A (the “Joinder Agreement”) presented to this meeting and filed with the Clerk of the 

County Council be and hereby are approved, and all of the terms, provisions and conditions thereof 

are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if such Joinder Agreement were set out in this 

Resolution in its entirety.  The County Council Chairman and the Clerk of the County Council are 

hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver the Joinder 

Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County, and thereupon to cause the Joinder Agreement 

to be delivered to the Company and Palmetto and performed by the County.  The Joinder 

Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, with 

any changes thereto as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of the County thereunder and 

as shall be approved by the County Attorney and the officials of the County executing the same, 

the execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of the approval of all changes therein from 

the form of Joinder Agreement now before this meeting. 



 2 
 
HSB #10229691 v1 

  

 Section 2.  The County Council Chairman and all other appropriate officials of the County are 

(and each individually is) hereby authorized, empowered and directed to take or cause to be taken 

such further action and to receive and/or execute and deliver for and in the name and on behalf of the 

County or County Council (as applicable) any and all instruments, certificates, agreements and 

documents as may be required, necessary or appropriate to carry out, give effect to and consummate 

the transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 

 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of 

the State of South Carolina. 

 

Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately following adoption by the 

County Council. 

 

Section 5.  The provisions of this Resolution are hereby declared to be severable and if any 

section, phrase or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to 

be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the 

sections, phrases and provisions hereunder; and 

 

Section 6.  All orders, resolutions and ordinances, and parts thereof, in conflict herewith are, 

to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 
[Signature Page to Follow]



HSB #10229691 v1 

BE IT RESOLVED this ____ day of ______________, 2024.  

 

 JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 Signature:         

 Name:  L. Martin Sauls, IV 

 Title:  County Council Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST 

 

 

Signature:        

Name:  Wanda Giles 

Title:  Clerk to County Council 

 

 

 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
 
 
__________________________      _______________  

David Tedder    Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HSB #10229691 v1 

 

 

Exhibit A 

 

Joinder Agreement 



HSB #10001384 v1 1 
 

JOINDER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective November 21, 

2024 (“Fee Agreement”), between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”) and Freedom Industrial 

Partners LLC and Freedom Industrial Partners 2 LLC (the “Sponsor”). 

 

1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 

 

Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company authorized to conduct 

business in the State of South Carolina ("Palmetto"), hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to be bound 

by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as if it were a Sponsor except the 

following: the property owned and leased by Palmetto shall not be subject to the Clawback set forth in 

Section 6.1; (b) shall receive the benefits as provided under the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic 

Development Property placed in service by the Sponsor Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor; (c) acknowledges 

and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as a 

Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or 

will qualify as a Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(18), Section 

12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Act.  

 

As a Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate, Palmetto leases a building on the Real Property as more specifically 

described in Exhibit A attached hereto and shall acquire and install equipment thereon. 

 

2. Capitalized Terms. 

 

Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term set 

forth in the Fee Agreement. 

 

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate. 

 

The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows: 

(a) The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is 

duly authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business 

in the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and 

delivery of this Joinder Agreement. 

(b) The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its 

compliance with the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, 

under any agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is 

bound. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other 

incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor/Sponsor 

Affiliate to join with the Company in the Project in the County. 

 

4. Governing Law. 

 

This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to 

principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina. 

 

5. Notice.   

Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement shall be sent to: 



HSB #10001384 v1 2 
 

 

 

Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC 

2 Corpus Christi Place, Suite 200 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29928 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  

 

      Name of Entity: Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC 

 

By:         

Its:         

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the above-

named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  

 

             

      JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

             

      By:       

      Its:       

 

 

The Sponsors hereby consent to the joinder of Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC 

 

      Freedom Industrial Partners LLC 

 
      By:       

      Its:       

 

      Freedom Industrial Partners 2 LLC 

 
      By:       

      Its:       

 

 

  



HSB #10001384 v1 3 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

All that certain piece, parcel, or lot of land, situate, lying, and being in the State of South Carolina, 

County of Jasper, being shown and delineated as Lot 4, containing 1.20 acres, more or less, as 

shown on that certain “Subdivision Survey of Parcel 15 ‘Freedom Industrial Park’ S.C. Highway 

170” prepared by Cook Land Surveying, Inc. dated June 29, 2023, and recorded on July 17, 2023, 

in Book 38 at Page 631 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, South Carolina, 

said tract having such metes, bounds, courses, and distances as shown on said plat, which is 

incorporated herein by reference. 

 





HSB #9959378 v3 1 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. O-2024-26  

   

  

WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (the “County”) is authorized by Article VIII, 

Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1, Code of Laws of South 

Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Multi-County Park Act”), to enter into agreements with one or 

more contiguous counties for the creation and operation of joint county industrial and business 

parks, whereby the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be 

promoted and trade developed by inducing new industries to locate in the State and by encouraging 

industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus utilize and employ 

manpower and other resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by 

providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

and  

WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act 

and Section 4-29-68, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the "Infrastructure Credit 

Act") to provide infrastructure credits against payments in lieu of taxes to provide reimbursement 

to companies in respect of investment in infrastructure enhancing the economic development of 

the County, including improvements to real estate and personal property including machinery and 

equipment used in the operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise; and  

 

WHEREAS, Freedom Industrial Partners, LLC (the "Developer") owns and has constructed a 

speculative building on property in the County more specifically described in Exhibit A hereto (the “Real 

Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC, a company also known as Project Pilgrimage (the 

“Company”), intends to enter into a lease agreement with the Developer as to the Real Property and to 

invest approximately $8,000,000 in Real Property improvements and personal property (the "Personal 

Property") to be located at the Real Property in order to establish a new manufacturing facility in the County 

(the “Project”) (collectively, the Real Property and the Personal Property shall be referred to herein as the 

"Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is subject to a Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes and Special Source Revenue Credit 

Agreement dated November 21, 2022 (the "2022 FILOT Agreement"), which provides for a fee-in-lieu of 

tax transaction and a 15 year 10% special source revenue credit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County Council of Jasper County (“County Council”) has agreed to assist 

the Company in connection with the Project by (i) maintaining the Project in a joint county 

industrial and business park established by the County with an adjoining South Carolina county 

pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the 

Multi-County Park Act and (ii) pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, providing certain 

infrastructure credits to the Company with respect to qualified Infrastructure used in the 

establishment and operation of the Project; and  

  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and 

Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act, and pursuant to that certain Agreement for 



HSB #9959378 v3 2 

 

Development of Joint County Industrial Park by and between Jasper County, South Carolina and 

Hampton County, South Carolina dated as November 21, 2022, as supplemented, modified or 

amended, and as such agreement may be further supplemented, modified, amended, or replaced 

from time to time (the “Park Agreement”), the County and Hampton County created a joint 

industrial business park to be located upon property geographically located in Hampton and Jasper 

Counties (the “Park”), which was approved by duly enacted ordinances of each of Hampton and 

Jasper Counties; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council has agreed, pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act and 

the Infrastructure Credit Act, that the Project shall qualify for a 10-year infrastructure credit 

comprised of a 25% credit during years 1-5 and a 10% credit during years 6-10, all as set forth 

more fully in the Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement between the County and the Company 

presented to this meeting (the “SSRC Agreement”); and  

WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 

Company, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by 

providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

and, that the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 

municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to 

be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, retention of jobs, and addition to the 

tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

  

WHEREAS, it appears that the SSRC Agreement above referred to, which is now before 

this meeting, is in appropriate form and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered 

or approved by the County for the purposes intended.  

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council of Jasper County, in 

meeting duly assembled, as follows:  

  

Section 1. The Chair of County Council and the Clerk to County Council, for and on behalf 

of the County, are hereby each authorized to execute and deliver the SSRC Agreement, in 

substantially the form attached hereto, or with such minor changes as are not materially adverse to 

the County and as such officials shall determine and as are not inconsistent with the matters 

contained herein, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of any 

and all changes or revisions therein from the form of the SSRC Agreement now before this meeting, 

and are directed to do anything otherwise necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the 

SSRC Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County under and pursuant to the 

SSRC Agreement.  

Section 2. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 

section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction 

to be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the 

sections, phrases and provisions hereunder. 

  

Section 3. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the 

extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from 

and after its passage by the County Council.  

 



HSB #9959378 v3 3 

 

DONE, RATIFIED AND ADOPTED this 2nd day of December, 2024. 

     JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

  

 ______________________________________________ 

 L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chairman, of Jasper County Council 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Wanda Giles, Clerk 

Jasper County Council 

 
First Reading: October 21, 2024 

Second Reading: November 4, 2024 

Public Hearing: December 2, 2024 

Third Reading: December 2, 2024                      

 

 

 

 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
 
_____________________________       _______________  

David Tedder    Date 



1  
HSB #9939465 v2 

 

  

  

  

  

 
  
  

  

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT  

  

  
between  

  

  

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA,  

  

  

and  

  

 

PALMETTO PLASTICS INNOVATIONS LLCPROJECT PILGRIMAGE, 

a South Carolina limited liability company 

  

  

 
  

Dated as of December 2, 2024 

  

 
  

  
  

 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  



2  
HSB #9939465 v2 

 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT  

  

THIS SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of [_____], 2024 (the 

“Agreement”), between JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a 

political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and PALMETTO PLASTICS 

INNOVATIONS LLC, PROJECT PILGRIMAGE, a limited liability company organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of South Carolina (the “Company”).  

  

W I T N E S E T H:  

  

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “County Council”) is 

authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended and Section 4-29-

68 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure Credit Act”), to provide 

infrastructure credit financing, secured by and payable solely from revenues of the County derived from 

payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, for the 

purpose of defraying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 

infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate and personal property, 

including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or commercial 

enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County; and  

WHEREAS, Freedom Industrial Partners, LLC (the "Developer") owns and has constructed a 

speculative building on property in the County more specifically described in Exhibit A hereto (the 

“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Palmetto Plastics Innovations LLC, a company also known as  Project Pilgrimage 

(the “Company”), intends to enter into a lease agreement with the Developer as to the Real Property and to 

invest approximately $8,000,000 in Real Property improvements and personal property (the "Personal 

Property") to be located at the Real Property in order to establish a new manufacturing facility in the County 

(the “Project”) (collectively, the Real Property and the Personal Property shall be referred to herein as the 

"Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Property is subject to a Fee-in-Lieu of Taxes and Special Source Revenue Credit 

Agreement dated November 21, 2022 (the "2022 FILOT Agreement"), which provides for a fee-in-lieu of 

tax transaction and a 15 year 10% special source revenue credit; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 

Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976 (collectively, the “Multi-County 

Park Act”), and pursuant to that certain Agreement for Development of Joint County Industrial Park by and 

between Jasper County, South Carolina and Hampton County, South Carolina dated as November 11, 2022, 

as supplemented, modified or amended, and as such agreement may be further supplemented, modified, 

amended, or replaced from time to time (the “Park Agreement”), the County and Hampton County created 

a joint industrial business park to be located upon property geographically located in Jasper and Hampton 

Counties (the “Park”), which was approved by duly enacted ordinances of each of Jasper and Hampton 

Counties; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, the County has agreed to provide certain 

special source revenue credits in the amount of 25% for years 1-5 and 10% for years 6-10 beginning in the 

Formatted: Font: Bold



3  
HSB #9939465 v2 

year after the Real Property improvements are placed in service, which infrastructure credits shall apply to 

the Property (the "Additional Infrastructure Credits"); and  

 

WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this Agreement by 

ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on December 2, 2024, following a public hearing held on 

December 2, 2024. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements 

hereinafter contained, the County and the Company agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS  

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings herein 

specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context otherwise requires, words 

importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.   

"Additional Infrastructure Credits" shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the 

recitals in this Agreement. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented 

in accordance with the terms hereof.  

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.  

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 

Agreement.  

"Cost of Infrastructure" shall mean the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or 

expanding the infrastructure serving the Project and for improved or unimproved real estate and personal 

property in connection with the Project, and any other such similar or like expenditures authorized by the 

Infrastructure Credit Act. 

“County” shall mean Jasper County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 

subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns. 

“Fee Payments” shall mean the payments in lieu of taxes, including, if applicable, any negotiated 

payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Code, made by the owners(s) of the Project.  

 “Infrastructure Credit Act” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals 

to this Agreement.  

 “Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, and all future acts amendatory 

thereto.  

“Ordinance” shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on December 2, 2024, 

authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement.  

“Park” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the Park 

Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement delivered 



4  
HSB #9939465 v2 

by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the Act, or any successor 

provision, with respect to the Project. 

 “Park Agreement” shall mean the Multi-County Industrial and Business Park Agreement dated 

November 21, 2022 and all amendments thereto between the County and Hampton County, South Carolina, 

as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time or such other agreement as the 

County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act to the 

Company hereunder.   

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock 

company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political subdivision.  

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 

Agreement. 

“Property” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 

Agreement.   

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

SECTION 2.01.  Representations by the County.  The County makes the following representations 

and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:  

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 

Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the transactions 

contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By proper action by the County 

Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and any and all 

agreements collateral thereto.  

(b) The County proposes to provide the Additional Infrastructure Credits to reimburse the 

Company for the purpose of promoting economic development within the County.  

(c) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the County is not 

in violation of any of the provisions of the laws of the State of South Carolina, where any such default 

would affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement.  

(d) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the authorization, 

execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the Ordinance, and performance of the 

transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, to the best knowledge of the County, 

conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, or 

create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions of (i) the Constitution of the State or any law, 

rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, (ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) 

any judgment, order, or decree to which the County is a party or by which it is bound.    

(e) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, there is no action, 

suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or 

public board which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the 

County or its governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby 

or wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated 

hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other 



5  
HSB #9939465 v2 

agreement or instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is 

contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the 

County is there any basis therefor.  

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Covenants by the Company.  The Company makes the 

following representations, warranties and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 

contained:  

(a) The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and in good 

standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina and qualified to do business in the State of South 

Carolina, has power to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper 

corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement.  

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions 

contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of any corporate restriction or 

any agreement or instrument to which the Company is now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute 

a default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or 

encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Company, other than as 

may be created or permitted by this Agreement.  

(c) To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 

investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board which is pending 

or threatened challenging the power of the Company to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or 

wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated 

hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other 

agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is 

contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the Company is there any basis 

therefore.  

(d) The financing of the Cost of Infrastructure by the County has been instrumental in inducing 

the Company to establish the Project in Jasper County, South Carolina.  

SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of the County.  

(a) To the best of its ability, the County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and 

will use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers and privileges; and it will 

comply with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, executive, 

administrative, or judicial body applicable to this Agreement.  

(b) In the event the Park Agreement is terminated, the County agrees to use commercially 

reasonable efforts to cause the Project, at the Company’s expense, pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the Act 

or any successor provision, to be included in a duly authorized, executed and delivered successor joint 

county industrial park agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county, which successor agreement shall 

contain a termination date occurring no earlier than the final year as to which any Infrastructure Credit shall 

be payable under this Agreement.    

(c) The County covenants that it will from time to time, at the request and expense of the 

Company, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable 

and as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, that such instruments 



6  
HSB #9939465 v2 

or actions shall never create or constitute a general obligation or an indebtedness of the County within the 

meaning of any State constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, Section 14(10) of the 

South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary 

liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing power or pledge the full faith, credit 

or taxing power of the State, or any other political subdivision of the State.  

ARTICLE III INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS  

  

SECTION 3.01.  Infrastructure Credits.    

(a) To assist in paying for the Cost of Infrastructure, the Company and any qualifying sponsor 

are entitled to claim an Additional Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain Fee Payments due and owing from 

the Company or sponsor to the County that pertain to the Project.  The Real Property and improvements 

thereon and all qualifying Personal Property expenses of the Company shall qualify for a 10-year Additional 

Infrastructure Credit comprised of a 25% credit during years 1-5 and 10% credit during years 6-10. The 

Additional Infrastructure Credit shall begin in the year after the Real Property Improvements are placed in 

service.  The Additional Infrastructure Credit will continue to be applied to the next ten annual FILOT 

Payments.  In no event may the Company’s aggregate infrastructure credit claimed pursuant to this Section 

exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Company or sponsor on the Cost of Infrastructure. 

 

(b) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE ADDITIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS 

BECOMING DUE HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY 

THE COUNTY SOLELY FROM THE FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE 

PROJECT PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER 

CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN 

THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF 

ARTICLE X, SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY 

LIMITATION AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY 

LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING 

POWER.  THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT 

PLEDGED FOR THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS.  

(c) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any pecuniary 

liability upon the County or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The liability of 

the County under this Agreement or of any warranty herein included or for any breach or default by the 

County of any of the foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the Fee Payments for the Project 

in the Park. The County shall not be required to execute or perform any of its duties, obligations, powers, 

or covenants hereunder except to the extent of the Fee Payments.  

(d) To the extent that the Additional Infrastructure Revenue Credit is used as payment for 

Personal Property and the Personal Property is removed from the Project during the twenty-year period and 

not otherwise replaced, then the amount of the fee-in-lieu of taxes due on the Personal Property for the year 

in which the Personal Property was removed from the Project shall be due for the two years immediately 

following the removal, as set forth in Section 4-29-68(A)(2)Iii) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 

1976, as amended.  If the Company replaces the removed property with qualifying replacement property, 

as defined in the Act, then the removed Personal Property is deemed not to have been removed from the 

Project.  This Special Source Credit Agreement is applicable to the Real and Personal Properties located in 

the Park as part of the Project. 



7  
HSB #9939465 v2 

ARTICLE IV CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT;  

TITLE TO PROJECT  

SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.  Prior to or simultaneously with the 

execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company:  

(a) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been 

duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and  

(b) Such additional related certificates, instruments or other documents as the Company may 

reasonably request in a form and substance acceptable to the Company and the County.  

SECTION 4.02.  Transfers of Project; Assignment of Interest in this Agreement by the Company. 

The County hereby acknowledges that the Company may from time to time and in accordance with 

applicable law, sell, transfer, lease, convey, or grant the right to occupy and use the Project, in whole or in 

part, or assign its interest in this Agreement, to others; provided, however, that any transfer by the Company 

of any of its interest in this Agreement to any other Person shall require the prior written consent of the 

County, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. No such sale, lease, conveyance, grant or assignment 

shall relieve the County from the County’s obligations to provide Additional Infrastructure Credits to the 

Company or any assignee of the same, under this Agreement as long as such assignee is qualified to receive 

the Additional Infrastructure Credits under the Infrastructure Credit Act.  

SECTION 4.03.  Assignment by County.  The County shall not assign, transfer, or convey its 

obligations to provide Additional Infrastructure Credits hereunder to any other Person, except as may be 

required by South Carolina law.  

ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES  

SECTION 5.01.  Events of Default.  If the County or the Company shall fail duly and punctually to 

perform any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement on its part to be 

performed, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice by the County 

or the Company, respectively, specifying the failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County 

by the Company, or to the Company by the County, by first-class mail, the County or the Company, 

respectively, shall be in default under this Agreement (an “Event of Default”).  

SECTION 5.02.  Remedies and Legal Proceedings by the Company or the County.  Upon the 

happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Company or the County, 

as the case may be, in their discretion may:  

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all of its or 

their rights and require the other party to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and to perform its 

or their duties under the Act and this Agreement;  

(b) bring suit upon this Agreement;  

(c) exercise any or all rights and remedies provided by applicable laws of the State of South  

Carolina; or  

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation 

of its rights.  



8  
HSB #9939465 v2 

 

SECTION 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred upon or 

reserved to the County or the Company hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or 

remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other 

remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  

SECTION 5.04.  Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the County or the Company to exercise any 

right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall 

be construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an acquiescence therein; and every 

power and remedy given by this Article V to any party may be exercised from time to time and as often as 

may be deemed expedient.  

ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEOUS  

SECTION 6.01.  Termination.  Subject to Sections 5.01 and 5.02 above, this Agreement shall 

terminate on the date upon which all Additional Infrastructure Credits provided for herein have been 

credited to the Company.  

SECTION 6.02.  Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements 

in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, shall bind or inure to the 

benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, board, commission, agency, or 

instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County, shall be transferred.  

SECTION 6.03.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of the County and the Company.  Except 

as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is 

intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the Company any right, 

remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole 

and exclusive benefit of the County and the Company.  

SECTION 6.04.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, 

for any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision 

of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions 

had not been contained herein or therein.  

SECTION 6.05.  No Liability for Personnel of the County or the Company.  No covenant or 

agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member, 

agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its officers, employees, 

or agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing body of the County nor any 

official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally for the Additional Infrastructure Credits or this 

Agreement or be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the issuance thereof.  



9  
HSB #9939465 v2 

SECTION 6.06.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 

Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless otherwise required by this 

Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by facsimile and confirmed by United States certified mail, return 

receipt requested, restricted delivery, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

      

A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given under this 

Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others. The County and the Company 

may, by notice given under this Section 6.06, designate any further or different addresses to which 

subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent.  

SECTION 6.07.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the 

construction of this Agreement.  

SECTION 6.08.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together 

constitute but one and the same instrument.  

SECTION 6.09.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 

parties hereto.  

SECTION 6.10.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 

condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party.  

SECTION 6.11.  Joinder.  To the extent required, Developer, as the owner of the Real Property, 

hereby joins in this Agreement and hereby agrees to the terms and provisions hereof. 

(a)  if to the County:  Jasper County, South Carolina 

Attn: County Administrator 

PO Box 1149 

358 Third Avenue, 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

 

  with a copy to: 

(which shall not 

constitute notice 

to the County)   

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein 

Attn: Ray Jones 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 

Columbia, SC 29201 

 

(b)  if to the Company:  Project PilgrimagePalmetto Plastics Innovations LLC 

2 Corpus Christi Place, Suite 200 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29928 

Attention: CEO 

 

 with a copy to:  

(which shall not 

constitute notice to 

the Company)  

 

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 

1201 Main Street, Suite 2200 

Columbia, SC 29201 

Attention: Gary W. Morris    



10  
HSB #9939465 v2 

SECTION 6.12.  Indemnity.  

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless against 

and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Agreement, performance of the 

County’s obligations under this Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, 

or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement.  

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the County 

for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or defense against 

such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a) above. The County shall provide a statement of the 

costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Company shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt 

of the statement. The Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the 

statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 

confidential to evidence the costs. 

(c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an 

Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 

Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage 

and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Company is 

not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to indemnify any 

Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any claim or liability 

(i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, 

performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this 

Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from 

that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 

provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable under the 

circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 

any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 

afford the Company notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise 

respond to a claim. 

 

SECTION 6.13.  Administrative Fees. The Company will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to, 

the County for its Administrative Expenses in the amount of $7,500. The Company will reimburse the 

County for its Administration Expenses on receipt of a written request from the County or at the County’s 

direction, The Company shall pay the Administration Expenses as set forth in the written request no later 

than 60 days following receipt of the written request from the County. For purposes of this Section, 

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable expenses incurred by the County in the negotiation, 

approval and implementation of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees. Administration Expenses do not include any costs, expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the 

County (i) in defending challenges to the Fee Payments or Infrastructure Credits brought by third parties or 

the Company or its affiliates and related entities, or (ii) in connection with matters arising at the request of 



11  
HSB #9939465 v2 

the Company outside of the immediate scope of this Agreement, including amendments to the terms of this 

Agreement. The payment by the Company of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed 

as prohibiting the County from engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice. 

 

 

SECTION 6.14.  Facsimile/Scanned Signature.  The Parties agree that use of a fax or scanned 

signature and the signatures, initials, and handwritten or typewritten modifications to any of the foregoing 

shall be deemed to be valid and binding upon the Parties as if the original signature, initials and handwritten 

or typewritten modifications were present on the documents in the handwriting of each party.  

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]  

 

 

  



12  
HSB #9939465 v2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Jasper County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement to be 

executed by the Chairman of the Jasper County Council and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and 

attested by the Clerk of its County Council, and the Company Project Pilgrimage has each caused this 

Agreement to be executed by an authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written.  

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 ____________________________________________ 

L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chairman of Calhoun County Council 

 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

 

_________________________________________ 

Wanda Simpson, Clerk 

Calhoun County, South Carolina 

  

  

[Signature page 1 to Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement]   



13  
HSB #9939465 v2 

  

      PROJECT PILGRIMAGEPALMETTO PLASTICS 

INNOVATIONS LLC  

  

  

          By: _______________________________________  

          Name: __________________________________  

          Title: ___________________________________  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature page 2 to Special Source Credit Agreement]



HSB #9939465 v2 

The Developer, to the extent of its interest in the Property, hereby joins in the Agreement. 

      FREEDOM INDUSTRIAL PARTNERS LLC  

  

  

          By: _______________________________________  

          Name: __________________________________  

          Title: ___________________________________  

  

 

 

      FREEDOM INDUSTRIAL PARTNERS 2 LLC  

  

  

          By: _______________________________________  

          Name: __________________________________  

          Title: ___________________________________  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature page 3 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 

  

Formatted: Font: 12 pt



HSB #9939465 v2 

EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY 

All that certain piece, parcel, or lot of land, situate, lying, and being in the State of South Carolina, County 

of Jasper, being shown and delineated as Lot 4, containing 1.20 acres, more or less, as shown on that certain 

“Subdivision Survey of Parcel 15 ‘Freedom Industrial Park’ S.C. Highway 170” prepared by Cook Land 

Surveying, Inc. dated June 29, 2023, and recorded on July 17, 2023, in Book 38 at Page 631 in the Office 

of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, South Carolina, said tract having such metes, bounds, courses, 

and distances as shown on said plat, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

 



AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION
Account # Order Number Identification Order PO Amount Cols Depth

20952 611631 Print Legal Ad-IPL02040230 - IPL0204023 $163.39 1 40 L

Nancy WilsonAttention:

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD
PO BOX 11889
COLUMBIA, SC 29211

nwilson@hsblawfirm.com

STATE OF                               )

SOUTH CAROLINA             ) AFFIDAVIT

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT   )

I, Tara Pennington, makes oath that the
advertisment, was published in The Island
Packet and The Beaufort Gazette, a
newspaper published in Beaufort County,
State and County aforesaid, in the issue(s) of

1 insertion(s) published on:

11/15/24

Tara Pennington

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 15th day
of November in the year of 2024

Notary Public in and for the state of Texas, residing in
Dallas County

Extra charge for lost or duplicate affidavits.
Legal document please do not destroy!





 

Project Micro Jasper Ord v.1   

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
ORDINANCE #O-2024-27 

 
 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO ESTABLISH, PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-1-170 OF 

THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED, A 

MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK, IN CONJUNCTION 

WITH BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA; TO AUTHORIZE THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A MULTICOUNTY PARK AGREEMENT 

BY AND BETWEEN JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA TO PROVIDE FOR A 

WRITTEN AGREEMENT WITH BEAUFORT COUNTY AS TO THE 

SHARING OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE PARK; TO 

PROVIDE FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK 

AMONG TAXING ENTITIES HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE PARK; 

TO PROVIDE FOR A FEE IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXATION; AND 

OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County, Carolina (“Jasper County”) and Beaufort County, South Carolina 

(“Beaufort County”) (collectively, the “Counties” and together with any additional counties that become 

parties to the MCP Agreement described below, the “Member Counties”), as authorized under Article 

VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South 

Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”), propose to establish jointly a multi-county industrial/business 

park within the geographical boundaries of one or more of the Member Counties (the “Park”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Article VIII, Section 13(B) of the South Carolina Constitution provides that nothing 

in the State Constitution may be construed to prohibit any of the counties in South Carolina from agreeing 

to share the lawful cost, responsibility, and administration of functions with one or more governments, 

whether within or without the State of South Carolina; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic development of Beaufort County and Jasper 

County, the Counties have initially agreed to include in the Park properties located in Beaufort County 

and described in Exhibit A hereto (the “Initial Property”) and as more particularly described in Exhibit A 

to that certain Agreement for the Establishment of Multi-County Industrial/Business Park to be entered 

into by the Counties as of such date as may be agreed to by the Counties (the “MCP Agreement”), the 

form of which is attached herein as Exhibit B (the MCP Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Counties have agreed to the specific terms and conditions of the arrangement set 

forth in the MCP Agreement; and   

 

 WHEREAS, the Counties now desire to establish the Park to include the Initial Property; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL AS 

FOLLOWS: 



 2 
 

 Section 1.  Establishment of Multi-County Park; Approval of MCP Agreement; Location of 

Park; Change of Park Boundaries.   

 

(a) There is hereby authorized to be established, initially in conjunction with Jasper County, 

a multi-county industrial/business park to include therein the Initial Property.  The form, provisions, 

terms, and conditions of the MCP Agreement (Exhibit A) in sustainably the form before Jasper County 

Council (the “County Council”) at the meeting at which this Ordinance receives third reading, and filed 

with the Clerk to County Council, be and they are hereby approved, and all of the provisions, terms, and 

conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the MCP Agreement were set out in 

this Ordinance in its entirety. 

(b) The MCP Agreement is to be in the form as negotiated by the County Administrator with 

the advice of legal counsel, with such changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of 

Jasper County thereunder and as shall be approved by the officials of Jasper County executing the same. 

The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator, and the Clerk to County Council, for and on 

behalf of Jasper County, are each authorized to execute such documents with such changes therein as 

shall not materially adversely affect the rights of Jasper County thereunder and take such further actions 

as may be necessary or proper to effect the establishment of the Park, the execution and delivery of the 

MCP Agreement, and the performance of all obligations of Jasper County under and pursuant to the MCP 

Agreement and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby and by this Ordinance. 

(c) As of the date of enactment of this Ordinance, the Park shall consist of the Initial 

Property located in Beaufort County.  It is recognized that the Park may from time to time consist of non-

contiguous properties within each Member County.  The boundaries of the Park may be enlarged or 

diminished from time to time as authorized by (a) an ordinance of the Member County in which the 

property to be added or removed from the Park is actually located, and (b) a resolution (or comparable 

action) of the governing bodies of all other Member Counties. 

 Section 2. Payment of Fee-in-lieu of Taxes. 

  

(a)   In accordance with Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, the 

area comprising the Park and all property having a situs therein is exempt from all ad valorem taxation.  

All owners and lessees of property situated in the Park will pay a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes as 

provided for in the MCP Agreement.  The fee paid in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall be paid to the county 

treasurer of the county in which such property is located.  That portion of the fee from the Park property 

located in a Member County and allocated pursuant to the MCP Agreement to the other Member Counties 

shall be paid to the respective county treasurer (or other designated official) of the other Member 

Counties in accordance with the terms of the MCP Agreement.  Payments of fees in lieu of ad valorem 

taxes for each year will be due on the due date for property taxes for such year.  Penalties for late payment 

will be at the same rate as late tax payments.  Any late payment beyond the due date will accrue interest at 

the same rate as late tax payments.  The Member Counties, acting by and through the appropriate official, 

shall maintain all liens and rights to foreclose upon liens provided for counties in the collection of ad 

valorem taxes.   

 

(b) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit any Member County from negotiating and 

collecting reduced fees in lieu of taxes pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 29 or Chapter 12, or Title 12, Chapter 

44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any similar provision of South Carolina 

law. 

 

Section 3.  Further Assurances.  The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County 

Administrator, the County Attorney, the Clerk to County Council, and various other County officials and 



 3 
 

staff, acting at the direction of the Chair, the County Administrator, the County Attorney, or Clerk to 

County Council, as appropriate, to take whatever further action and to negotiate, execute and deliver 

whatever further documents as may be appropriate to effect the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives 

offered to the Sponsor under this Ordinance and the Fee Agreement. 

 

Section 4. Savings Clause.  If any portion of this Ordinance shall be held void or otherwise 

invalid, the validity and binding effect of the remaining portions shall not be affected thereby. 

 

 Section 5.   General Repealer.  Any prior ordinance or resolution, the terms of which are in 

conflict herewith, is, only to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

Section 5.   Effectiveness.  This Ordinance shall be effective upon approval following third 

and final reading. 

 

  

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 

By:________________________________________ 

 L. Martin Sauls, IV 

 Chairman of County Council 

Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

Wanda Giles 

Clerk to County Council 

Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

 

Approved as to Form: 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

David L. Tedder   Date 

Jasper County Attorney 

 

First Reading:  10.21.2024 

Second Reading: 11.04.2024 

Public Hearing:  11.04.2024 

Third Reading:  12.02.2024 



 4 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      ) 

COUNTY OF JASPER    ) 

 

I, the undersigned, Clerk to the County Council of Jasper, South Carolina ("County Council") DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY:  

 

That the foregoing constitutes a true, correct, and verbatim copy of an Ordinance adopted by the County 

Council.  The Ordinance was read and received a favorable vote at three public meetings of the County 

Council on October 21, 2024, November 4, 2024, and December 2, 2024.  At least one day passed 

between first and second reading, and at least seven days passed between second and third readings.  A 

public hearing was held on November 4, 2024, and notice of the public hearing was published in The 

Beaufort Gazette on October 18, 2024.  At each meeting, a quorum of County Council was present and 

remained present throughout the meeting. 

 

Attached hereto are excerpts of the minutes of the meetings of the County Council.  The County Council 

complied with the Freedom of Information Act, Chapter 4, Title 30 of the S.C. Code of Laws, 1976, in 

connection with said meetings of County Council. 

 

The Ordinance is now in full force and effect. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my Hand and the Seal of Jasper County Council, South 

Carolina, as of this 2nd day of December 2024. 

 

      _____________________________ 

      Wanda Giles 

      Clerk to Jasper County Council 

      Jasper, South Carolina 



 5 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Initial Property 

 

All those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land, situate, lying and being in Sheldon 
Township, Beaufort County, South Carolina, consisting of 12.2 acres, more or less, and being 
shown on a plat prepared by George A.Z. Johnson, Sr., Surveyor, dated February 12, 1988, and 
as Parcels R-700-020-00-008, R700-020-00-009 and R700-020-00-009A and recorded in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, South Carolina in Plat Book 35 at Page 
241. 



 6 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MCP Agreement 



HSB #9550282 v1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

MULTI-COUNTY PARK AGREEMENT 

(PROJECT MICRO) 

 

between 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

and 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

Dated as of ______________, 2025 

 

 



HSB #9550282 v1 
2 

Multi-County Park Agreement 

Project Micro 

 

This MULTI-COUNTY PARK AGREEMENT (Project Micro) is made and entered into as of the 

__ day of ___________, 2025, by and between BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“Beaufort 

County”) and JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“Jasper County”) (collectively, Beaufort County 

and Jasper County are the “Parties”), each a body politic and corporate, a political subdivision of the State 

of South Carolina (“Park Agreement”). 

 

In consideration of the mutual agreements, representations and benefits contained in this Park 

Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 

acknowledged, Beaufort County and Jasper County agree as follows: 

 

1. Effective Date.  This Park Agreement is effective at 12:00 a.m. (midnight), [___________], 

2025 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

2. Authorization.  Article VIII, section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and Sections 

4-1-170, -172, and -175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “MCP Law”), 

authorizes contiguous counties to jointly develop industrial and business parks within the geographical 

boundaries of one or more of the participating counties.  Beaufort County authorized and approved this 

Park Agreement by passage of Ordinance No. _____________ and Jasper County authorized and approved 

this Park Agreement by passage of Ordinance No. O-2024-27. 

 

3. Purpose.  The purpose of this Park Agreement is to (i) provide for the establishment of a 

multi-county park in accordance with the MCP Law and (ii) encourage the investment of capital and the 

creation of jobs in Beaufort County and Jasper County.  

 

4. Agreement to Develop Park.  The Parties agree to jointly develop an industrial and business 

park in accordance with the MCP Law and the terms and conditions of this Park Agreement (the “Park”). 

 

5. The Park.  (A)  Location.  The Park consists of certain property located in Beaufort County 

as further identified in Exhibit A (Beaufort County) to this Park Agreement, and property located in Jasper 

County, as further identified in Exhibit B (Jasper County), to this Park Agreement.  The Park may consist 

of non-contiguous properties within each county.  The Parties acknowledge that on the Effective Date, the 

Park does not contain any property located in Jasper County. 

 

(B)  Addition and Removal of Property.    

 

(1) County Action.  Property may be added to or removed from the Park by 

ordinance of the county in which the subject property is located, provided that the host county shall provide 

notice to the non-host county as well as revised exhibits pursuant to subsection (2) below.     

 

(2) Revised Exhibits.  If property is added to or removed from the Park, this 

Park Agreement is deemed amended and a revised Exhibit A (Beaufort County) or Exhibit B (Jasper 

County), as applicable, shall be prepared by the county in which the added or removed property is located.  

The revised exhibit must contain a legal description or other identification of the properties included in the 

Park, after the addition or removal.  A copy of the revised exhibit shall be provided to the Administrator, 

Clerk to Council, Assessor, Auditor and Treasurer of Beaufort County and Jasper County. 

 

(3) Public Hearings and Notice.  Prior to the adoption by either county of an 

ordinance authorizing the removal of property from the Park, the county council in the county in which the 



HSB #9550282 v1 
3 

property to be removed is located, shall hold a public hearing.  The county that will conduct the public 

hearing must give notice of the public hearing by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

county in which the public hearing will be held at least once and not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the 

public hearing.  Notice of the public hearing shall also be served in the manner of service of process at least 

fifteen (15) days prior to the public hearing upon the owner of the real property and, if applicable and 

known, the lessee of any real property which would be removed from the Park. 

 

6. Fee in Lieu of Taxes.  Pursuant to article VIII, section 13(D), of the South Carolina 

Constitution, all property located in the Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation.  The owners or lessees 

of any property situated in the Park shall pay in accordance with this Park Agreement and the MCP Law 

an amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been 

due and payable but for the location of the property within the Park (“Fee in Lieu of Taxes” or “FILOT”). 

 

7. Allocation of Expenses.  Beaufort County and Jasper County shall bear the expenses for 

the development, operation, maintenance and promotion of the Park and the cost of providing public 

services, in the following proportions: 

 

If property is in the Beaufort County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County   100% 

(2) Jasper County        0% 

 

If property is in the Jasper County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County       0% 

(2) Jasper County    100% 

 

8. Allocation of Revenues.  Beaufort County and Jasper County shall receive an allocation of 

revenue generated by the Park through payment of Fee in Lieu of Taxes (net of any special source revenue 

bond payments or special source revenue credits) in the following proportions: 

 

If property is in the Beaufort County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County   99% 

(2) Jasper County         1% 

 

If property is in the Jasper County portion of the Park: 

 

(1) Beaufort County     1% 

(2) Jasper County    99% 

 

9. Revenue Allocation Within Each County.   

 

(A)  Host County.  Revenues generated by the Park through the payment of Fee in Lieu of 

Taxes shall be distributed to Beaufort County and to Jasper County, as applicable, according to the 

proportions established by Paragraph 8 of this Park Agreement.  With respect to revenues allocable to 

Beaufort County or Jasper County by way of FILOT generated within the respective county (the “Host 

County”), such revenue shall be distributed within the Host County in the manner provided by ordinance 

of the council of the Host County; provided, that (i) all taxing districts which overlap the applicable revenue-

generating portion of the Park shall receive at least some portion of the revenues generated from such 

portion, and (ii) with respect to amounts received in any fiscal year by a taxing entity, the governing body 



HSB #9550282 v1 
4 

of the taxing entity shall allocate the revenues received between operations and debt service of the taxing 

entity.  Each Host County is specifically authorized to use a portion of the revenue for economic 

development purposes as permitted by law and as established by ordinance of the council of the Host 

County. Each Host County is further specifically authorized to amend the distribution within such Host 

County at any time by the passage of an ordinance.  

 

(B)  Non-Host County.  Revenues allocable to Beaufort County by way of FILOT generated 

within Jasper County shall be distributed solely to Beaufort County.  Revenues allocated to Jasper County 

by way of FILOT generated within Beaufort County shall be distributed solely to Jasper County. 

 

10. Fees In Lieu of Taxes Pursuant to Title 4 and Title 12 Code of Laws of South Carolina.  

The Parties agree that the entry by Beaufort County into any one or more fee in lieu of tax agreements 

pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Negotiated Fee-

in-Lieu of Tax Agreements”), with respect to property located within the Beaufort County portion of the 

Park and the terms of those agreements shall be at the sole discretion of Beaufort County.  The Parties 

further agree that entry by Jasper County into any one or more Negotiated Fee-in-Lieu of Tax Agreements 

with respect to property located within the Jasper County portion of the Park and the terms of those 

agreements shall be at the sole discretion of Jasper County. 

 

11. Assessed Valuation.  For the purpose of calculating the bonded indebtedness limitation and 

for the purpose of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to Section 59-20-20(3) of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, allocation of the assessed value of property within the Park to 

Beaufort County and Jasper County and to each of the taxing entities within the participating counties shall 

be identical to the allocation of revenue received and retained by each of the counties and by each of the 

taxing entities within the participating counties, pursuant to Paragraphs 8 and 9 of this Park Agreement. 

 

12. Applicable Regulations.  Any applicable ordinances and regulations of Jasper County 

concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall apply to the Park properties in 

Jasper County unless the properties are within the boundaries of a municipality in which case the 

municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply.  Any applicable ordinances and 

regulations of Beaufort County concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall 

apply to the Park properties in Beaufort County unless the properties are within the boundaries of a 

municipality in which case the municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply. 

 

13. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and 

power within the boundaries of the Park properties in Jasper County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department 

of Jasper County.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and power within the boundaries 

of the Park properties in Beaufort County is vested with the Sheriff’s Department of Beaufort County.  If 

any of the Park properties located in either Jasper County or Beaufort County are within the boundaries of 

a municipality, then jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is vested with 

the law enforcement officials of the municipality. 

 

14. Severability.  If any provision or any part of a provision of this Park Agreement is held 

invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable the remainder of that provision or any other provision or part of a provision of this Park 

Agreement. 

 

15. Amendments.  The provisions of this Park Agreement may be modified or amended only 

in a writing signed by the Parties. 

 



HSB #9550282 v1 
5 

16. Headings and Catch Lines.  The headings of the paragraphs and subparagraphs of this Park 

Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Park Agreement. 

 

17. Governing Law.  This Park Agreement, and all documents executed in connection with it, 

shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

 

18. Counterparts.  This Park Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and 

all of the counterparts taken together constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

19. Binding Agreement.  This Park Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 

of the respective Parties. 

 

20. Merger.  This Park Agreement, and all documents executed in connection with it, express 

the entire understanding and all agreements of the Parties with each other, and neither Beaufort County nor 

Jasper County has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation to the other party which 

is not expressly set forth in this Park Agreement. 

 

21. Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition 

of this Park Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party.  The failure or delay on the part of 

any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy hereunder shall not operate as a waiver thereof, 

nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power, or remedy preclude any other or further 

exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or remedy hereunder.  No waiver of any provision 

hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 

 

22. Termination.   

 

(A)  Duration and Renewal.  This Park Agreement commences on the Effective Date and 

shall continue with respect to each parcel included in the Park for at least the duration of any special source 

revenue credits applicable to such parcel. 

 

(B)  Mutual Termination.  Notwithstanding the provisions of subparagraph (A) of this 

Paragraph 22, the Parties may mutually agree to terminate this Park Agreement at any time upon passage 

of an ordinance to that effect by each county and after conducting a public hearing and giving notice as set 

forth in subparagraph (B)(3) of Paragraph 5 of this Park Agreement. 

  
SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE. 

 



HSB #9550282 v1 
6 

WITNESS our hands and seals as of the date first above written. 

 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

  By:       

  Joseph Passiment, Chair, County Council 

 

 

   

ATTEST: 

 

      

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

 

[Additional Signature Page Follows] 

 

  

  



HSB #9550282 v1 
7 

 JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 By:       

  L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chair, County Council 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Wanda Simmons, Clerk to Council 

 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

  



HSB #9550282 v1 
8 

EXHIBIT A (Beaufort County) 

 

Beaufort County Property 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 

 



HSB #9550282 v1 

PROJECT MICRO 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 
All those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land, situate, lying and being in Sheldon 
Township, Beaufort County, South Carolina, consisting of 12.2 acres, more or less, and being 
shown on a plat prepared by George A.Z. Johnson, Sr., Surveyor, dated February 12, 1988, and 
as Parcels R-700-020-00-008, R700-020-00-009 and R700-020-00-009A and recorded in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, South Carolina in Plat Book 35 at Page 
241. 

 
 

  



HSB #9550282 v1 

 

EXHIBIT B (Jasper County) 

 

Jasper County Property 

 

NONE AS OF [___________], 2025 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 

 



2nd Public Hearing Only Of An Ordinance Approving 

A Development Agreement For The Jasper Telfair 

Tract Pursuant To The South Carolina Local 

Government Development Agreement Act And 

Article IV, Title 20 Of The Code Of Ordinances Of 

Jasper County, And Authorizing The Chairman Of 

Jasper County Council To Execute Said 

Development Agreement, And Matters Related 

Thereto. (Jasper Telfair PDD)



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF JASPER 

 
ORDINANCE O-2024-___ 

 

AN ORDINANCE 

OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

APPROVING A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE JASPER 
TELFAIR TRACT PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ACT AND ARTICLE IV, 
TITLE 20 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF JASPER COUNTY, AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL TO 
EXECUTE SAID DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

WHEREAS, the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, South 

Carolina Code of Laws, Title 6, Chapter 31 (1976, as amended) (the “Act”), authorizes 

local governments to enter into development agreements with a developer as therein 

defined; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County Council (“Council”), the governing body of Jasper County, 

South Carolina (the “County” has adopted Article IV, Title 20 of the Code of Ordinances 

of Jasper County governing Jasper County’s participation in development agreements 

(the “Ordinance”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper Telfair One, LLC is the owner of certain lands suitable for 

development with Jasper County Tax Map Parcel Numbers 037-00-02-018, 037-00-02-

014, and 017-00-02-017, as more fully identified in the Development Agreement 

attached as Exhibit A (the “Development Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act and the Ordinance, the County is authorized to enter 

into binding development agreements with entities having legal or equitable interest in 

real property; and 

 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

WHEREAS, the County and the Owner have now concluded their negotiations with 

respect to the terms for a development agreement for the real property subject to the 

Development Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County, acting through the terms of this Ordinance, has determined to 

accept the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement by and between the 

County and Jasper Telfair One, LLC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County has provided for and held the statutorily required public 

hearings, finds that the development agreement is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan for Jasper County, as amended, and that approval of the development agreement 

would be in the best interests of the County. 

   

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Jasper County Council in council 

duly assembled and by the authority of the same: 

 

1. The Development Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 

A, with such minor or grammatical changes as the Chairman of Jasper County Council 

shall approve upon the advice of the County Attorney and County Administrator, his 

execution of a definitive Development Agreement to be conclusive evidence of such 

approval, is hereby approved. 

 
 
2.  The Development Agreement, in substantially the same form attached hereto as 

Exhibit A, shall be executed by the Council Chairman and delivered on behalf of the 

County by the County Administrator, and the Clerk to Council is authorized to attest the 

signature of the Chairman of the Jasper County Council. The consummation of the 

transactions and undertakings described in the Development Agreement, and such 

additional transactions and undertakings as may be determined necessary by the 

County Administrator to be necessary to fully implement the Development Agreement 

are hereby approved.  

 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

3. If any one or more of the provisions of this Ordinance should be contrary to law, 

then such provision shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions, and 

shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
4. This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 
 
 
       JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
    
      By:  ______________________ 
        L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chairman 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
        
       ___________________________ 
       Wanda Simmons, Clerk to Council 

 
 
 
First Reading:  10.21.2024 
Second Reading:  11.04.2024 
Public Hearings:   11.04.2024 and 11.18.2024 
Third Reading and Adoption:  11.18.2024 

 
 

It is required that the Development Agreement be attached as Exhibit A prior to Second 
Reading. 
 
 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney: 
 
 
____________________   __________________ 
David Tedder     Date 
  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

EXHIBIT A 
Jasper Telfair One, LLC   

Development Agreement 
Jasper Telfair Tract 

 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

This document was prepared by 

Burr & Forman LLP (SFR) 

4 Clarks Summit Drive, Suite 200 

Bluffton, SC  29910 

(843) 815-2171 

 

 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

) 

COUNTY OF JASPER )  

 

This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered the latter date of execution 

below, by and among Jasper Telfair One, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, (“Owner”) 

and the governmental authority of Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”). 

WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of South Carolina has enacted the “South Carolina 

Local Government Development Agreement Act,” (the “Act”) as set forth in Sections 6-31-10 

through 6-31-160 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended; and,  

WHEREAS, the Act recognizes that “The lack of certainty in the approval of development 

can result in a waste of economic and land resources, can discourage sound capital improvement 

planning and financing, can cause the cost of housing and development to escalate, and can 

discourage commitment to comprehensive planning.” [Section 6-31-10 (B)(1)]; and, 

WHEREAS, the Act also states: “Development agreements will encourage the vesting of 

property rights by protecting such rights from the effect of subsequently enacted local legislation 

or from the effects of changing policies and procedures of local government agencies which may 

conflict with any term or provision of the Development Agreement or in any way hinder, restrict, 

or prevent the development of the project.  Development Agreements will provide a reasonable 

certainty as to the lawful requirements that must be met in protecting vested property rights, while 

maintaining the authority and duty of government to enforce laws and regulations which promote 

the public safety, health, and general welfare of the citizens of our State.” [Section 6-31-10 (B)(6)]; 

and, 

WHEREAS, the Act further authorizes local governments, including County 

governments, to enter Development Agreements with owners to accomplish these and other goals 

as set forth in Section 6-31-10 of the Act; and,  

WHEREAS, Owner owns and proposed to develop the Property (defined below) and, 

WHEREAS, the County seeks to protect and preserve the natural environment and to 

secure for its citizens quality, well planned and designed development and a stable and viable tax 

base; and, 

WHEREAS, the County finds that the program of development proposed by Owner or a 

Developer for this Property is consistent with the County’s comprehensive land use plan; and will 

further the health, safety, welfare and economic well-being of the County and its residents; and, 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

WHEREAS, the program for development of the Property presents an unprecedented 

opportunity for the County to secure quality planning and growth to protect the environment and 

strengthen and revitalized the tax base; and, 

WHEREAS, this Development Agreement is being made and entered by and between 

Owner and the County, under the terms of the Act, for the purpose of providing assurances to 

Owner and future Developers that development plans for the Property may proceed under the terms 

hereof, as hereinafter defined, consistent with the Zoning Regulations (as hereinafter defined) 

without encountering future changes in law which would materially affect the ability to develop 

the Property, and for the purpose of providing important protection to the natural environment and 

long term financial stability and a viable tax base to the County, and for the purpose of providing 

certain funding and funding sources to assist the County in meeting the service and infrastructure 

needs associated with the development authorized hereunder; 

WHEREAS, the County conducted three readings regarding its consideration of this 

Agreement on October 21, 2024, November 4, 2024, and November 18, 2024 with a public hearing 

on the final date, after publishing and announcing notice in accordance with the Act; 

WHEREAS, County Council adopted Ordinance Number __-2024-___ on November 18, 

2024, (a) determining that this Agreement is consistent with the County Comprehensive Plan, the 

Act, and the Current Regulations of the County, and (b) approving this Agreement.  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions set forth herein, and 

other good and valuable consideration, including the potential economic benefits to both the 

County and Owner by entering into this Agreement, and to encourage well planned development 

by Owner, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being hereby acknowledged, the 

County and Owner hereby agree as follows: 

1. INCORPORATION.   

The above recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement, together with the South Carolina 

General Assembly findings as set forth in Section 6-31-10(B) of the Act. 

2. DEFINITIONS.   

As used herein, the following terms mean: 

“Act” means the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, as 

codified in Sections 6-31-10 through 6-31-160 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as 

amended; incorporated herein by reference. 

“Adjacent Land” shall mean any real property adjacent to the Property. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Development Agreement as amended by the County and 

Owner or Developer, as applicable, in writing from time to time. 

“Association” shall mean one (1) or more property owners’ associations that may be  

established to maintain portions of the Property if such is ever formed which is not expected if the 

Property is not subdivided. 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

“BJWSA” shall mean Beaufort/Jasper Water and Sewer Authority, its successors or 

assigns. 

“County” shall mean Jasper County, South Carolina. 

“Developer” means Owner or a successor in title or lessees of the Owner who undertake 

Development of the Property who are transferred all or portions of the Development Rights in 

writing from the Owner or a successor or assign. 

“Development” means the development of portions of the Property and construction of 

improvements thereon as contemplated in the Zoning Regulations. 

“Development Fees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 11.A. 

“Development Rights” means all rights provided to the Owner or a Developer to 

undertake Development of the Property in accordance with the Zoning Regulations and this 

Development Agreement. 

“Owner” means Jasper Telfair One, LLC, its successors and any assignee, whereby such 

interest is assigned in whole or in part in writing. 

“PDD Standards” or “Planned Development District Standards” means the Planned 

Development District Standards approved by the County contemporaneously herewith, and 

attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by reference. 

“Project” means the Development that will occur on the Property. 

“Property” means that certain tract of land described on Exhibit A, as may be amended 

with the Agreement of the County and Owner. 

“Term” means the duration of this Agreement as set forth in Section 3 hereof.  

“Zoning Regulations” means (a) PDD Standards adopted to establish a planned 

development district for the Property, and all the attachments thereto, including but not being 

limited to the Concept Plan, all narratives, applications, and site development standards thereof, 

all as same may be hereafter amended by mutual agreement of the County and the Owner, or its 

successors or assigns, as applicable; (b) this Development Agreement; and (c) the County Zoning 

Ordinance and Land Development Regulations being codified with Municode© and current on 

Municode© through Supplement No. 3 as of June 21, 2021 as amended through the date of this 

Agreement except as the provisions thereof may be clarified or modified by the terms of this 

Agreement. In the event of conflicts, the terms of the Development Agreement shall take 

precedence, followed by the PDD Standards, and then the County Zoning Ordinance and Land 

Development Regulations. 

3. TERM.   

The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date this Agreement is executed by the County 

and Owner and terminate five (5) years thereafter; provided however, that the terms of this 

Agreement may be considered by the County, in its discretion, for an extension of the Term in 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

accordance with §6-31-60 of the Act absent a material breach of any terms of this Agreement by 

the Owner or any Developer during the initial term, or any subsequent extension.  

4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPERTY.   

The Property shall be developed in accordance with the Zoning Regulations and this Agreement. 

All costs charged by or to the County for reviews required by the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance 

shall be paid by the Owner or a Developer or other party applying for such review as generally 

charged throughout the County for plan review.  The County shall, throughout the Term, maintain 

or cause to be maintained, a procedure for the processing of reviews as contemplated by the Zoning 

Regulations and this Agreement.    

5. CHANGES TO ZONING REGULATIONS.   

The Zoning Regulations relating to the Property subject to this Agreement shall not be amended 

or modified during the Term, without the express written consent of the Owner, except in 

accordance with the procedures and provisions of § 6-31-80 (B) of the Act, which Owner shall 

have the right to challenge.  Owner does, for itself and its successors and assigns, including 

Developers and notwithstanding the Zoning Regulations, agrees to be bound by the following: 

 A. The Owner shall be required to notify the County, in writing, as and when 

Development Rights are transferred to any other party.  Such information shall include the identity 

and address of the acquiring party, a proper contact person, the location and number of acres of 

the Property transferred, and the number of residential units and/or commercial acreage and 

associated square footage of structure, as applicable, subject to the transfer.  Developers 

transferring Development Rights to any other party shall be subject to this requirement of 

notification, and any entity acquiring Development Rights hereunder shall be required to provide 

the County an acknowledgment of this Agreement and a commitment to be bound by it. 

 B. The Owners and Developers, and their respective heirs, successors and assigns 

agree that all Development, with the exception of irrigation, incidental maintenance facilities,  

earthwork and similar amenities which exist from time to time, and facilities existing at the date 

of this Agreement will be served by potable water and sewer prior to occupancy, except as 

otherwise provided herein for temporary use, temporary being defined as one year or less. Septic 

tanks and/or wells may be allowed with the permission of BJWSA where there is a specific finding 

that such use for specific portions of the Property will comply with the overall environmental 

standards.  

6. DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE.  

The Property shall be developed in accordance with the development schedule, attached as Exhibit 

B, or as may be amended by Owner or Developer(s) in the future to reflect actual market 

absorption.  Pursuant to the Act, the failure of the Owner and any Developer to meet the initial 

development schedule shall not, in and of itself, constitute a material breach of this Agreement.  In 

such event, the failure to meet the development schedule shall be judged by the totality of 

circumstances, including but not limited to the Owners and Developer(s) good faith efforts to attain 

compliance with the development schedule.  These schedules are planning and forecasting tools 

only, and shall not be interpreted as mandating the development pace initially forecast or 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

preventing a faster pace if market conditions support a faster pace.  The fact that actual 

development may take place at a different pace, based on future market forces, is expected and 

shall not be considered a default hereunder. Development activity may occur faster or slower than 

the forecast schedule, as a matter of right, depending upon market conditions. Furthermore, 

periodic adjustments to the development schedule which may be submitted unilaterally by Owner 

/ Developers in the future shall not be considered a material amendment or breach of the 

Agreement.  

7. DENSITY. 

Uses and density on the Property shall be the densities and uses as set forth in this Agreement, and 

as set forth below: 

Up to a maximum of 360,000 square feet of general commercial uses as set forth in the PDD 

Standards.  As long as the total square footage of allowed uses does not exceed 360,000 square 

feet, the Owner or Developer shall be allowed to alter location and product mix among all allowed 

uses under the Zoning Regulations, based upon ongoing project planning and market conditions.  

Any such changes to exact location, building size, or product mix shall not be considered a material 

amendment hereto, so long as the total allowed density is not exceeded.  Such minor changes will 

be approved at the staff review level. 

8. RESTRICTED ACCESS 

The Owner and/or each Developer shall have the right (but not the obligation) to restrict access 

within or into and out of the Property as long as such limited access does not adversely affect in 

any material respect adjacent traffic patterns located on public rights-of-way.   

9. EFFECT OF FUTURE LAWS.   

Owner and Developers shall have vested rights to undertake Development of any or all of the 

Property in accordance with the Zoning Regulations, as defined herein and modified hereby, and 

as may be modified in the future with the approval of the Owner or Developer, as applicable, 

pursuant to the terms hereof, and of this Agreement for the entirety of the Term. Future enactments 

of, or changes or amendments to the County ordinances, including zoning or development 

standards ordinances,  which conflict with the Zoning Regulations shall not apply to the Property 

unless the procedures and provisions of §6-31-80 (B) of the Act are followed, which Owner or 

Developer shall have the right to challenge.  Notwithstanding the above, the Property will be 

subject to then current fire safety standards and state and/or federal environmental quality 

standards of general application. 

10. INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES 

The County and Owner recognize that the majority of the direct costs associated with the 

Development of the Property will be borne by the Owner and Developers, and many other 

necessary services will be provided by other governmental or quasi-governmental entities, and not 

by the County.  For clarification, the parties make specific note of and acknowledge the following:   



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

A.   Private Roads.  All roads within the Property shall be constructed by the 

Owner, Developer or other parties and maintained by such party(ies) and/or Association(s), or 

dedicated for maintenance to other appropriate entities.  The County will not be responsible for 

the construction of any private roads within the Property unless the County specifically agrees to 

do so in the future. 

B. Public Roads.  All public roads outside the Property that serve the Property 

are under the jurisdiction of the State of South Carolina or other governmental entities regarding 

access, construction, improvements, and maintenance.  Owner and Developer acknowledges that 

it must comply with all applicable state statues and rules and regulations of the South Carolina 

Department of Transportation or its successor regarding access and use of such public roads. 

Owner or a successor Developer shall be responsible for the provision of funds for the construction 

of improvements to Highway 17 and Highway 315 in addition to property access improvements, 

all as required by SCDOT or Jasper County, as applicable, in conjunction with County approved 

traffic mitigation plans. Upon completion of construction of any such improvements within the 

SCDOT right of way, and acceptance by SCDOT, the SCDOT shall maintain all roadway 

improvements within the public road right of way. Further provisions regarding traffic 

management and mitigation are contained in Section 10.N below. 

  C. Potable Water.  Potable water will be supplied to the Property by BJWSA 

or some other legally constituted public or private provider allowed to operate in the County. The 

County shall not be responsible for any construction, treatment, maintenance or costs associated 

with water service to the Property unless the County elects to provide such services with the 

agreement of the applicable utility authority then providing such service to the Property. Owner 

will construct or cause to be constructed all related infrastructure improvements within the 

Property, which will be maintained by it or the service provider as provided in any utility 

agreement between Owner or Developer and the service provider. 

  D. Sewage Treatment and Disposal.  Sewage treatment and disposal will be 

provided by BJWSA or some other legally constituted public or private provider allowed to operate 

in the County.  The County will not be responsible for any treatment, maintenance or costs 

associated with sewage treatment within the Property, unless the County elects to provide such 

service with the agreement of the applicable utility authority then providing such service to the 

Property. Nothing herein shall be construed as precluding the County from providing sewer 

services to its residents in accordance with applicable provisions of law. Owner or Developer will 

construct or cause to be constructed all related infrastructure improvements within the Property, 

which will be maintained by it or the provider as provided in any utility agreement between Owner 

or Developer and the service provider. 

  E. Use of Effluent.  Owner and Developer agree that treated effluent will be 

disposed of only in such manner as may be approved by DHEC and the BJWSA. The County will 

use good faith efforts to cooperate with Owner or Developer to support Owner or Developer in 

obtaining gray water in connection with providing irrigation water for the  landscaped areas within 

the Property, if such is economically feasible. The Owner or Developer or its designee shall have 

the right to operate an irrigation system to provide irrigation services in connection with all or any 

portion of the Property, provided such is approved by DHEC or other applicable regulatory 

authority.   



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

  F.  Police Services.  County shall provide law enforcement protection services 

to the Property on the same basis as is provided to other similarly situated businesses in the County.  

  G.  Fire Services.  County shall provide fire protection services to the Property 

on the same basis as is provided to other similarly businesses in the County. It is further 

acknowledged the nature of the development of the Project may require additional equipment 

(generically, “Heavy Rescue Equipment”).  Provision of funds towards that acquisition are 

contained hereinbelow in Section 11.B.  Owner and Developer acknowledge the jurisdiction of the 

County’s fire department on the Property and shall not interfere or in any way hinder public safety 

activities on the Property regardless of whether such may be a restricted access community.   

  H. Sanitation Services.  County shall provide sanitation services and trash 

collection services to all properties within the Property on the same basis as provided to other 

similarly situated businesses within the County.  

  I.  Recreation Services.  County shall provide recreation services to the 

Property on the same basis as provided to other similarly situated businesses in the County.  

  J.  Library Services.  Such services are available on the same basis as 

provided to all other citizens of the County.   

  K. Emergency Medical Services (EMS).  Such services shall be provided to 

the Property on the same basis as provided to all other citizens of the County. 

  L.  Drainage System. All stormwater runoff, treatment and drainage system 

improvements within the Property will be designed and operated in accordance with the Zoning 

Regulations and Best Management Practices then current.  All stormwater runoff, treatment and 

drainage system improvements for the Property shall be constructed by Owner, Developer, or the 

Association, as applicable.  The County will not be responsible for any construction or 

maintenance cost associated with the stormwater runoff, treatment and drainage system within the 

Property.     

  M. Storm Water Quality.  Protection of the quality in nearby waters and 

wetlands is a primary goal of the County. Owner and Developer shall be required to abide by all 

provisions of federal and state laws and regulations, including those established by the Department 

of Health and Environmental Control, the Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management, 

and their successors for the handling of storm water.  County shall be provided with 

contemporaneous copies of all submissions to federal and state permitting authorities regarding 

storm water permitting and storm water pollution prevention plans. Additional provisions 

regarding storm water management are included in the PDD Standards.  

  N. Traffic Management/Mitigation.  A traffic impact study was completed 

on March 16, 2023 for the Property and a copy provided to the County.  Traffic lighting and 

associated roadway improvements recommended in the traffic impact study to avoid an 

unacceptable degradation of intersection functioning due to the development of the Property will 

be permitted and constructed at Owner or a subsequent Developer’s expense.  If any such traffic 

improvements are required by the traffic study for development of the Property, Owner or a 

subsequent Developer shall engage, or cause to be engaged, appropriate professionals to design, 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

permit and construct such improvements, said construction to be completed following approval 

and issuance of applicable permits by the SCDOT.   

11. DEVELOPMENT FEES.   

 A. To assist the County in meeting expenses resulting from ongoing 

development, Owner or Developer shall pay development fees for, Fire/Public Safety and Roads 

(“Development Fees”) as follows, as set forth below: 

DEVELOPMENT FEES AMOUNT 

Non-Residential per 1,000 sf $660   Roads and Traffic Mitigation Facilities 

$500    Fire/Public Safety 

 

  B.   All Development Fees shall be collected at the time of obtaining a building 

permit.  Roads and Traffic Mitigation Facilities Development Fees shall be placed in a separate 

interest bearing account and all such monies shall be utilized, unless otherwise agreed by the 

County and Owner or Developer, to reimburse Owner or Developer, as applicable, for the 

construction of external roadways and near-site traffic mitigation measures, including landscaping 

and lighting (which shall be paid by County to Owner or Developer, as applicable, within thirty 

(30) days after substantial completion of each road/traffic mitigation segment out of the first funds 

in the Road and Traffic Fund, as collected and available). The Fire/Public Safety Fee is to be used 

for capital expenditures to provide Heavy Rescue capabilities if necessary due to the 

industrial/commercial nature of the Project, as well as other usual capital expenditures associated 

with the demands for enhanced services. 

  C.   Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained within this 

Agreement, it is acknowledged Jasper County is in the process of considering the adoption of 

Impact Fees as allowed by §6-1-910, et. seq. of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976, as 

amended).  The Property shall be exempt from any requirement to pay County Impact Fees under 

any ordinance subsequently passed and enacted by the County, for the first three (3) years of the 

Term of this Agreement as it may be extended by mutual agreement between the Owner and 

County.  In the event Impact Fees are adopted by the County, the Property shall be subject to such 

fees provided they are applied uniformly to similar properties as this Property, and provided 

further, that any Development Fees paid under Section 11.A and B shall be credited against the 

Impact Fees to the extent the Development fees are for items included in the capital program 

incorporated in the formulation of the Impact Fees. It is further provided Owner and/or Developers 

shall be subject to the payment of any and all present or future permitting fees enacted by the 

County that are of County wide application and that relate to processing applications, development 

permits, building permits, review of plans, or inspection (no other capital improvement related 

impact, development or other extractions).  

  D.    Except as set forth in this Agreement, nothing herein shall be construed as 

relieving the Owner, Developer, their successors and assigns, from payment of any such fees or 

charges as may be assessed by entities other than the County, provided however, if an entity other 

than the County is permitted by County to impose fees or obligations similar in nature to those 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

contemplated by this Agreement, Owner or Developer, as applicable, shall be entitled to  either an 

offset against the Development Fees of this Agreement the amount of such fees or obligations 

which are collected or a credit against the other fees allowed to be collected.  It is the intent of the 

parties that the fees and obligations contemplated by this Agreement are the only obligations which 

will be imposed upon the Property and that County shall not permit any other governmental 

authority to impose fees or obligations of a similar nature to that which are contemplated by this 

Agreement without providing for a credit against the other fees for the fees due under this 

Agreement; provided, however, the provisions of this paragraph shall not preclude the County or 

another governmental authority from imposing a fee of a nature which is  for services or 

improvements other than those contemplated under this Agreement - (i.e., roads, fire/public 

safety), which are imposed on a consistent basis throughout the area regulated by such 

governmental authority imposing such obligations. The County or other governing body shall not 

be precluded by this Agreement from charging fees for delivery of services to citizens or residents 

(i.e., an EMS response fee or the like), nor from charging fees statutorily authorized in the future 

(i.e, a real estate transfer fee or the like) which are not collected as a prerequisite to approval of a 

plat, plan or construction.  

  E.    The fees set forth above in Section 11.A and B are vested for the entire 

Property during the Term of this Agreement and shall not be increased. No other Development 

Fee or development obligation shall be imposed in connection with the Property, except as may 

be allowed pursuant to Section 11.C  and D and fees set out in generally applicable ordinances 

such as building permitting fees and inspection fees. The Fire/Public Safety and Road/Traffic 

Mitigation Development Fees are subject to an annual inflation factor equal to inflation factor as 

provided by the State of South Carolina to each local government for the calculation of tax millage 

increases.   

  F.    Any Development Fees paid and/or credits for Development Fees with 

respect to property conveyed, services performed and/or money paid as provided in this Agreement 

may be assigned by the Owner and/or Developer owning such credits and all such credits shall 

remain valid until utilized.  The Owner and/or Developer shall provide written notice of intent to 

transfer such credits to the County and shall obtain an acknowledgement from the County prior to 

any such transfer.  The County shall recognize all such written assignments of such rights and shall 

credit same against any Development Fees which are owned pursuant to this Agreement.  

  G.    Owner agrees to pay the reasonable costs and expenses of the County’s 

consultants and professionals incurred in negotiating, processing and evaluating this Agreement.  

County will provide sufficient documentation of these charges. Owner shall pay such fees within 

60 days of the delivery of the County’s invoice(s). 

12. PERMITTING PROCEDURES: 

A. The County agrees that the Owner and/or any Developer is not required to 

phase development but shall have the right to do so. 

B. The County agrees to review all land use changes, land development 

applications, and plats in an expeditious manner in accordance with County Regulations as 

modified by the Zoning Regulations. Plans will be processed in accordance with the Zoning 

Regulations, the then current subdivision plat and development plan procedural requirements and 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

fee schedules.  Developer may submit these items for concurrent review with the County and other 

governmental authorities.  County may give final approval to any submission, but will not grant 

authorization to record plats or begin development construction activities until all permitting 

agencies have completed their reviews. 

C. Signage for the Project is governed by the Zoning Regulations.    

D. The County acknowledges that the Owner and/or Developer has the initial 

right of architectural review regarding improvements and building upon the Property, subject to 

normal review by the County Planning staff.  It is the intent of this Agreement to avoid long 

unarticulated facades visible from the adjacent Highway 17 and Highway 315.  

E. The County agrees that the Property is approved and fully vested for 

intensity, density, development fees, uses and height, and shall not have any obligations for on or 

off site transportation or other facilities or improvements other than as provided in this Agreement, 

but must adhere to then current Master Plan, subdivision plat and development plan procedural 

guidelines. The County may not impose additional development obligations or regulations in 

connection with the ownership or development of the Property, except in accordance with the 

procedures and provisions of § 6-31-80 (B) of the Act, which the Owner and Developer shall have 

the right to challenge. 

F. Private or public roadways may utilize swale drainage systems and are not 

required to have raised curb and gutter systems, except where necessary to adequately control 

stormwater runoff or to accommodate pedestrian or multi-use sidewalks or pathways. Raised curb 

and gutter systems are not required for the sole purpose of aesthetic appeal. Public road 

improvements are subject to the drainage requirements of the public agency having jurisdiction 

and/or ownership.  Roadway cross sections utilizing swale drainage will be designed, constructed 

and maintained to meet BMP standards (imposed by regulatory agencies) for stormwater quality.  

Roadway cross sections will be reviewed at time of proposed construction of such roadway based 

upon engineering and planning standards consistent with the Master Plan prepared by Developer 

subject to the approval of the County Planning Administrator.    

G. All plan review fees shall be consistent with the fees charged generally in 

the County and in effect at that time. 

13. DEVELOPER ENTITLEMENTS 

County acknowledges that the Property is vested with the following items: 

A. The County will, to the extent available, promote public transportation 

which exists within the County to service the Property. 

B. All drainage systems constructed within the Project shall be owned and 

maintained by Owner, Developer or one (1) or more Association(s) which may be established for 

various portions of the Property, and the County shall have no responsibility for the construction, 

operation or maintenance of such systems.  Such systems shall be constructed in compliance with 

any applicable federal, state, or local requirement utilizing then current Best Management 

Practices.  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

C. On-site burning may be permitted within the Property upon obtaining 

applicable permits 

D. The County agrees to cooperate with the Owner and each Developer with 

county, state and federal roadway permitting in connection with the Development of portions of 

the Property. 

E. County services, including, but not limited to, police, fire, sanitation, and 

other governmental services shall be supplied to the Property in the same manner and to the same 

extent as provided to other similar business properties within the County, subject to the limitations 

(if any) of Section 10 above.  Subject to the limitations of Section 10 above (if any), should the 

Owner or a Developer require enhanced services beyond that which is routinely provided within 

the County, then the County agrees that upon the written request of Owner or a Developer, it shall 

negotiate in good faith with the Owner or a Developer to provide such enhanced services to the 

Property.   Any enhanced services shall be at the sole cost of the Owner and/or Developer.   

14. COMPLIANCE REVIEWS. 

As long as Owner or a Developer owns any of the Property, Owner or a Developer or its designee, 

shall meet with the County, or its designee, at least once, per year, during the Term to review 

Development completed by within the Property in the prior year and the Development anticipated 

to be commenced or completed in the ensuing year. The Owner or a Developer, or its designee, 

shall provide such information as may reasonably be requested, to include but not be limited to, 

acreage of the Property sold in the prior year, acreage of the Property under contract, and the 

number anticipated to be issued in the ensuing year, Development Rights transferred in the prior 

year, and anticipated to be transferred in the ensuing year. Owner or a Developer or its designee, 

shall be required to compile this information within a reasonable time after written request by the 

County. 

15. DEFAULTS. 

The failure of the Owner, Developer or the County to comply with the terms of this Agreement 

not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice from the non-defaulting party to the defaulting 

party (as such time period may be extended with regard to non-monetary breaches for a reasonable 

period of time based on the circumstances, provided such defaulting party commences to cure such 

breach within such period and is proceeding diligently and expeditiously to complete such cure) 

shall constitute a default, entitling the non-defaulting party to pursue such remedies that are 

deemed appropriate, including specific performance; provided however no termination of this 

Agreement may be declared by the County absent its according the Owner and any relevant 

Developer the notice, hearing and opportunity to cure in accordance with the Act; and provided 

any such termination shall be limited to the portion of the Property in default, and provided further 

that nothing herein shall be deemed or construed to preclude the County or its designee from 

issuing stop work orders or voiding permits issued for Development when such Development 

contravenes the provisions of the Zoning Regulations or this Agreement.  

Each Party recognizes that the other Party may suffer irreparable harm from a material breach of 

this Agreement and that no adequate remedy at law may exist to enforce this Agreement. 

Consequently, the Parties agree that any non-breaching Party who seeks enforcement of the 

Agreement is entitled to seek the equitable remedies of injunction and specific performance. 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

However, if there is a dispute between the County and Owner or Developer, or their successor or 

assign, concerning the terms, meaning, interpretation, rights or obligations under this Agreement 

(including any determination of material breach under the Act), the Parties agree to submit such 

dispute to prompt mediation before invoking legal proceedings. This pre-litigation mediation, 

conducted pursuant to South Carolina Rules for Alternative Dispute Resolution with subsequent 

judicial action lying in the Court of Common Pleas for Jasper County, shall be initiated by one 

Party notifying the other Party or Parties in writing of the dispute together with a request for 

mediation as described herein.  The Parties agree that disputes under this Agreement not involving 

the Current Regulations are contractual matters, not appealable to the Zoning Board of Appeals or 

the Planning Commission, but to the Court of Common Pleas for Jasper County; however, matters 

involving the application of the Current Regulations are not contractual, but are subject to the 

administrative review and appellate provisions involving the Zoning Board of Appeals or the 

Planning Commission.  

A default of the Owner shall not constitute a default by Developers, and default by Developers 

shall not constitute a default by the Owner. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the failure of the Owner 

or a Developer, as applicable, to reasonably pursue the required permitting/approvals for and 

completion of required traffic mitigation measures shall be grounds for the cessation of the 

issuance of development permits for future sites; provided, however, that should the County 

Administrator determine that there is a default by the Owner or a Developer, he shall immediately 

notify the Owner or Developer in writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, and allow the 

Owner or Developer fifteen (15) days to respond with an explanation of why Owner or Developer 

is not in default or a plan for remedying the default. In the event Owner or Developer presents a 

plan of remediation for approval by the County Administrator, whose approval shall not be 

unreasonably withheld, the parties shall agree to a commercially reasonable time to complete the 

remediation plan, and during such time no negative action shall be taken against the Owner or 

Developer. Failure to submit such a response or failure to subsequently pursue a plan of 

remediation may result in a moratorium on future development permits, a stop work order, and 

any other consequences reasonably determined by the County Administrator. The parties 

acknowledge that owners of completed buildings within the Project shall not be obligated for the 

obligations of the Owner or Developer set forth in this Agreement, unless the Property remains 

under unified ownership or unless such owners of completed buildings have been assigned any 

rights under this Agreement.  In such case, the owners of completed buildings shall also be 

obligated for obligations set forth in this Agreement.  

16. MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT. 

This Agreement may be modified or amended only by the written agreement of the County and 

the Owner and Developer; such written agreement may be by resolution.  No statement, action or 

agreement hereafter made shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, discharge, terminate 

or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such statement, action or 

agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom such change, amendment, waiver, 

modification, discharge, termination or abandonment is sought to be enforced.  

This Agreement may be modified or amended as to a portion of the Property only by the written 

agreement of the County and the Owner of said portion of the Property.  No statement, action or 

agreement hereafter made shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, discharge, 

terminate, or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such change, 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

amendment, waiver, modification, discharge, termination or abandonment is sought to be 

enforced. 

If an amendment affects less than all the persons and entities comprising the Owner and 

Developers, then only the County and those affected persons or entities need to sign such written 

amendment.  Because this Agreement constitutes the plan for certain planned development under 

the zoning ordinance, minor modifications to a site plan or to development provisions may be 

made without a public hearing or amendment to applicable ordinances.  Any requirement of this 

Agreement requiring consent or approval of one of the Parties shall not require amendment of this 

Agreement unless the text expressly requires amendment, and such approval or consent shall be in 

writing and signed by the affected parties.  Wherever said consent or approval is required, the same 

shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

The master plans are not intended to be rigid, exact site plans for future development.  The location 

of roads, buildings, recreational amenities and other elements may vary at the time of permit 

applications when more specific designs are available, as long as the maximum densities set herein 

and the general concept of development suggested by the Development Agreement and Master 

Plan is followed and respected; however, reductions in required buffers and setbacks in relation to 

external properties and roadways are a major modification. Such minor variations are eligible to 

be approved at staff level in accordance with the Zoning Regulations. 

17. NOTICES. 

Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication which a signatory party is 

required to or may give to another signatory party hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 

delivered or addressed to the other at the address below set forth or to such other address as such 

party may from time to time direct by written notice given in the manner herein prescribed, and 

such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given or made when communicated 

by personal delivery or by independent courier service or by facsimile, email or other means of 

electronic communication or if by mail on the fifth (5th) business day after the deposit thereof in 

the United States Mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified, addressed as hereinafter provided. 

All notices, demands, requests, consents, approvals or communications shall be given at: 

To the County:  County Administrator 

Jasper County 

PO Box 1149 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

Email: afulghum@jaspercountysc.gov  

 

With Copy to: County Attorney 

Jasper County 

PO Box 420 

Ridgeland, SC 29936  

Email: dtedder@jaspercountysc.gov   

 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

And to Owner at:  Jasper Telfair One, LLC  

    5005 Woodway Drive, Suite 215 

    Houston, TX  77056 

    ATTN: Mark Barineau 

    Email: mark@lionsmarkgroup.com 

     

With Copy to:    Burr & Forman LLP 

    4 Clarks Summit Drive, Suite 200 

    Bluffton, SC 29910 

    ATTN: Sarah F. Robertson 

    Email: srobertson@burr.com 

  

18.  ENFORCEMENT.   

Any party hereto shall have the right to enforce the terms, provisions and conditions of this 

Agreement (if not cured within the applicable cure period) by any remedies available at law or in 

equity, including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated 

with said enforcement. 

19. GENERAL. 

A. Subsequent Laws.  In the event state or federal laws or regulations are 

enacted after the execution of this Agreement or decisions are issued by a court of competent 

jurisdiction which prevent or preclude compliance with the Act or one or more provisions of this 

Agreement (“New Laws”), the provisions of this Agreement shall be modified or suspended as 

may be necessary to comply with such New Laws. Immediately after enactment of any such New 

Law, or court decision, a party designated by the Owners and Developer(s) and the County shall 

meet and confer in good faith in order to agree upon such modification or suspension based on the 

effect such New Law would have on the purposes and intent of this Agreement. During the time 

that these parties are conferring on such modification or suspension or challenging the New Laws, 

the County may take reasonable action to comply with such New Laws. Should these parties be 

unable to agree to a modification or suspension, either may petition a court of competent 

jurisdiction for an appropriate modification or suspension of this Agreement. In addition, the 

Owner, Developers and the County each shall have the right to challenge the New Law preventing 

compliance with the terms of this Agreement. In the event that such challenge is successful, this 

Agreement shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. 

B. Estoppel Certificate.  The County, the Owner or any Developer may, at 

any time, and from time to time, deliver written notice to the other applicable party requesting such 

party to certify in writing: 

1.  that this Agreement is in full force and effect, 

 2. that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so amended, 

identifying the amendments, 

 3. whether, to the knowledge of such party, the requesting party is in default or 

claimed default in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and, if so, describing 

the nature and amount, if any, of any such default or claimed default, and 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

 4. whether, to the knowledge of such party, any event has occurred or failed to 

occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default 

and, if so, specifying each such event. 

C. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement sets forth and incorporates by 

reference all of the agreements. conditions and understandings among the County and the Owner 

relative to the Property and its Development, and there are no promises, agreements, conditions or 

understandings, oral or written, expressed or implied, among these parties relative to the matters 

addressed herein other than as set forth or as referred to herein. 

D No Partnership or Joint Venture.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be 

deemed to create a partnership or joint venture between the County, the Owner or any Developer 

or to render such party liable in any manner for the debts or obligations of another party. 

E. Exhibits.  All exhibits attached hereto and/or referred to in this Agreement 

are incorporated herein as though set forth in full. 

F. Construction.  The parties agree that each party and its counsel have 

reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities 

are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement 

or any amendments or exhibits hereto. This Agreement should be construed so as to effectuate the 

public purpose of settlement of disputes, while protecting the public health, safety and welfare, 

including but not limited to ensuring the adequacy of public facilities and compatibility between 

developed and undeveloped lands and their uses. 

G. Assignment.  Subject to the notification provisions hereof, Owner or 

Developer may assign its rights and responsibilities hereunder to a subsidiary or sister company, 

or subsequent land owners and Developers. 

H. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 

of South Carolina. 

I. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and the 

same instrument. 

J. Agreement to Cooperate.   In the event of any legal action instituted by a 

third party or other governmental entity or official challenging the validity of any provision of this 

Agreement, the parties hereby agree to cooperate in defending such action; provided, however, 

each party shall retain the right to pursue its own independent legal defense. 

K. Eminent Domain.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair 

or restrict the County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State of South 

Carolina. 

L. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  The provisions of this Agreement may be 

enforced only by the County, the Owner and Developers.   No other persons shall have any rights 

hereunder. 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

M. Contingencies.  Not applicable. 

N. Recording.  Within fourteen (14) days after execution of this Agreement 

by all parties, the Owner shall record the Agreement with the Jasper County Register of Deeds.  

The burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of this Agreement shall inure 

to, all successors in interest and assigns of the Parties to this Agreement. 

O. Agreement to Run with the Land.  This Agreement shall be recorded 

against the Property as described in Exhibit A.  The agreements contained herein shall be deemed 

to run with the land.  The burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of the 

Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interest to the Parties to the Agreement. 

P. Assignment of Development Rights.  Any and all conveyances of any 

portion of the Property to Developers shall by written agreement assign a precise amount of 

Development Rights along with the permitted land uses that may be constructed on the subject 

property being conveyed.  Assignee shall notify the County within thirty (30) days of the 

conveyance of the property, provide the County with the applicable documents assigning the 

development rights to the assignee and record the same in the Office of the Jasper County Register 

of Deeds. In the event of conveyance of all or a portion of the Property and compliance with the 

conditions set forth herein, the assignor shall be released from all obligations as to the portion of 

Property and Development Rights so transferred, and the assignee shall be substituted as the Owner 

under the Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred. 

  Q. Adjacent Property.  In the event Owner, its successors or assigns, acquires 

real property adjacent to the Property, County agrees to allow Owner, its successors or assigns, to 

subject such real property to the terms of this Development Agreement and the PDD Standards by 

an amendment to this Development Agreement subject to the approval of the which shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

20. STATEMENT OF REQUIRED PROVISIONS 

  A. Specific Statements.  The Act requires that a development agreement must 

include certain mandatory provisions, pursuant to Section 6-31-60 (A).  Although certain of these 

items are addressed elsewhere in this Agreement, the following listing of the required provisions 

is set forth for convenient reference.  The numbering below corresponds to the numbering utilized 

under Section 6-31-60 (A) for the required items: 

1. Legal Description of Property and Legal and Equitable Owners.  The 

legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.  The 

present legal Owner of the Property is Jasper Telfair One, LLC, a Texas limited 

liability company, as described above.   

2. Duration of Agreement.  The duration of this Agreement shall be as 

provided in Section 3. 

3. Permitted Uses, Densities, Building Heights and Intensities.  A complete 

listing and description of permitted uses, population densities, building intensities 

and heights, as well as other development – related standards, are contained in 

Zoning Regulations, as supplemented by this Agreement.   



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

4. Required Public Facilities.  The utility services available to the Property 

are described generally above regarding water service, sewer service, cable and 

other telecommunication services, gas service, electrical services, telephone service 

and solid waste disposal.  The mandatory procedures of the Zoning Regulations 

will ensure availability of roads and utilities to serve the residents on a timely basis. 

5. Dedication of Land and Provisions to Protect Environmentally 

Sensitive Areas.  All requirements relating to land transfers for public facilities are 

set forth in Section 10 above. The Zoning Regulations described above, and 

incorporated herein, contain numerous provisions for the protection of 

environmentally sensitive areas.  All relevant State and Federal laws will be fully 

complied with, in addition to the important provisions set forth in this Agreement. 

6. Local Development Permits.  The Development standards for the Property 

shall be as set forth in the Zoning Regulations.  Specific permits must be obtained 

prior to commencing Development, consistent with the standards set forth in the 

Zoning Regulations.  Building Permits must be obtained under applicable law for 

any vertical construction, and appropriate permits must be obtained from the State 

of South Carolina (OCRM) and Army Corps of Engineers, when applicable, prior 

to any impact upon freshwater wetlands. It is specifically understood that the failure 

of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term or restriction does 

not relieve the Owner, its successors and assign, of the necessity of complying with 

the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms or restrictions, 

unless otherwise provided hereunder. 

7. Comprehensive Plan and Development Agreement. The Development 

permitted and proposed under the Zoning Regulations and permitted under this 

Agreement is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and with current land use 

regulations of the County. 

8. Terms for Public Health, Safety and Welfare.  The County Council finds 

that all issues relating to public health, safety and welfare have been adequately 

considered and appropriately dealt with under the terms of this Agreement, the 

Zoning Regulations and existing laws. 

9. Historical Structures.  Any cultural, historical structure or sites will be 

addressed through the applicable federal and state permitting process at the time of 

development, as required by applicable State regulations.  No such structures or 

sites are known to exist. 

 [SEPARATE SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby set their hands and seals, effective the date indicated 

below. 

 

WITNESSES: Jasper Telfair One, LLC 

 a Texas limited liability company 

 

  By:  

Witness  Mark Barineau, Member 

 

   

Notary Public 

 

 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

)  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

COUNTY OF   ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of ________________, 2024 

by Mark Barineau, a Member of Jasper Telfair One, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, on 

behalf of the company. 

___________________________________ 

Notary Public for South Carolina 

Print Name:      

      My Commission Expires:    

 

 

 

 

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

 

WITNESSES:     COUNTY OF JASPER, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

_______________________________ By:________________________________ 

Witness 

 

_______________________________ Its:________________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

)  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

COUNTY OF JASPER  ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of ________________, 2024 

by _________________________________, known to me (or satisfactorily proven) to be the 

person whose name is subscribed to the within document, as the appropriate official of Jasper 

County, South Carolina, who acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing document. 

___________________________________ 

Notary Public for South Carolina 

Print Name:      

      My Commission Expires:    

 

 

 

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

MORTGAGEE CONSENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

The undersigned Frost Bank, a Texas state bank (the “Mortgagee”), as holder of that certain Mortgage, 
Security Agreement – Financing Statement from Jasper Telfair One, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (the “Mortgagor”), dated October 20, 2023, and recorded in Book 1136 at Page 643 in the Office 
of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, South Carolina (as modified from time to time, the 
“Mortgage”), relating to the real property described in the Mortgage and more particularly described in 
and encumbered by this Development Agreement, as amended or supplemented (the “Development 
Agreement”), does hereby consent to the foregoing Development Agreement and acknowledges that the 
terms thereof are and shall be binding upon the undersigned and its successors and assigns. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the undersigned consents to the recordation of the Development Agreement. 

Mortgagee makes no warranty or any representation of any kind or nature concerning the Development 
Agreement, any of its terms or provisions, or the legal sufficiency thereof, and disavows any such warranty 
or representation as well as any participation in the development of the Property, and does not hereby 
assume and shall not hereby be responsible for any of the obligations or liabilities of the Owner in the 
Development Agreement. None of the representations contained in the Development Agreement shall be 
deemed to have been made by Mortgagee, nor shall they be construed to create any obligations on 
Mortgagee to any person relying thereon.  Nothing contained herein shall affect or impair the rights and 
remedies of Mortgagee as set forth in the Mortgage or in the Development Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Consent as of the ____ day of 
___________________, 2024. 

Signed, sealed and delivered   Frost Bank,  
in the presence of:    a Texas state bank 
     
 
      By:       
Witness      Name:      
      Title:      
 
      
Notary Public 
 
STATE OF      

COUNTY OF      

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of _____________________, 2024, 
by ______________________________________________, as _____________________________ of 
Frost Bank, a Texas state bank, on behalf of the bank. 

        
Notary Public for the State of      
Print Name:       
My Commission Expires:     

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

EXHIBIT A 

TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

Lot A and Lot B 

All those certain parcels or tracts of land situate, lying and being in Jasper County, South Carolina, 

designated as Lot A, Delta Plantation, containing 6.33 acres, more or less, and Lot B, Delta 

Plantation, containing 20.00 acres, more or less, and being more particularly shown and described 

on a map or plat prepared by Charles W. Tuten, Jr., SCRLS #13522, dated March 3, 2004, recorded 

in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, South Carolina (“Jasper County Records”) 

in Plat Book 27, Page 315. For a more particular description reference is hereby made to said map 

or plat for better determining the metes, bounds and dimensions of said property. 

Jasper County TMP:  037-00-02-018 

Jasper County TMP:  037-00-02-014 

Tract C 

AND ALSO, ALL that certain parcel or tract of land situate, lying and being in Jasper County, 

South Carolina, containing 5.00 acres, more or less, and being a portion of the Poindexter Tract of 

Delta Plantation, as shown and delineated on that certain plat of survey prepared by Paul D. Wilder, 

RLS of Wilder Surveying and Mapping, dated January 9, 1998 and recorded in the Jasper County 

Records in Plat Book 23, Page 46. Said parcel of tract of land being generally bounded and 

described as follows: on the north by the R/W of S.C. Highway 170; on the east by other lands, 

now or formerly of Henry Ingram; on the south by other lands, now or formerly of Henry Ingram; 

and on the west by the R/W of U.S. Highway 17-A. For a more particular description, reference is 

made to the aforementioned plat of record. 

Jasper County TMP:  017-00-02-017 

LESS AND EXCEPTING 

ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land situate, lying and being in Jasper County, South 

Carolina and designated as a "BJWSA Ground Water Well" containing 1.00 acres, 43,743 square 

feet on a plat dated May 6, 2009, entitled "A Plat of a 0.517 Acre Water Well Being a Portion of 

Lot "B" Delta Plantation Jasper County, South Carolina Prepared For: North Savannah Properties, 

LLC" by Kennedy Ragsdale & Associates Inc., James C. Brewer SCRLS No. 25441. For a more 

complete description as to metes, bounds and distances, reference may be made to said plat, filed 

as an attachment to the Partial Release recorded in the Jasper County Records in Book 759 Page 

21. 

ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land containing 15.576 square feet (0.358 acre), more or 

less, and all improvements thereon, if any, shown as the "Area of Acquisition" on Exhibit A 

attached to the deed from Zinn Investments II, LLC to South Carolina Department of 

Transportation recorded in Book 1018 at Page 729 in the Jasper County Records with such Right 



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

of Way therein granted located along a relocated centerline as shown on plans between 

approximate survey stations 134+60.00 and 332+82.17.  

This being the same property conveyed to Owner by Zinn Investments II, LLC by deed dated 

December 7, 2021 and recorded January 4, 2022 in Book 1093 at Page 1887 in the Jasper County 

Records. 

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

EXHIBIT B 

TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 

Development of the Property is expected to occur over the 5-year term of the Agreement, with the 

sequence and timing of development activity to be dictated largely by market conditions.  The 

following estimate of expected activity is hereby included, to be updated by Owner or Developer 

as the development evolves over the term: 

Year(s) of Commencement / Completion  

 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 

Type of 

Development 

Potential start 

of 

development. 

Start clearing 

and mass 

grading. Begin 

design of 

offsite 

improvements. 

Start 

underground 

utilities, hard 

scape, start 

building 

construction. 

Start 

construction 

on offsite 

improvements 

as required by 

SCDOT and 

County. 

Complete first 

120,000 SF of 

building space, 

complete any 

hard scape 

associated with 

building space. 

Continue 

construction of 

offsite 

improvements 

as required by 

SCDOT/County. 

Complete next 

120,000 SF of 

building space 

and any 

associated hard 

scape. 

Complete 

offsite 

improvements. 

Complete 

remainder of 

building SF 

and site work 

 

As stated in the Development Agreement, Section 6, actual development may occur more rapidly 

or less rapidly, based on market conditions and final product mix. 

  



55489355 v1 0047703-0000001 

EXHIBIT C 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT STANDARDS 

 

 





Floyd Road                                                                                        Page 1 of 2 

Jasper County  

Planning and Building Services 
 

358 Third Avenue - Post Office Box 1659 

Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

Phone (843) 717-3650   Fax (843) 726-7707 

 

        

Lisa Wagner, CFM 
Director of Planning and Building Services 

lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov 

 

 

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: December 2, 2024 

Project: Zoning Map Amendment – Residential  

Applicant: Jasper County  

Tax Map Number: 045-00-01-049 

Submitted For: 1st Reading  

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends approval of Residential   

 

Description: This is a staff initiated request for a Zoning Map Amendment to have a property 

designated as Residential. The subject property consists of three (3) acres and is identified by TMS 

#045-00-01-049, located along Floyd Road near the Tillman area. The property is currently zoned 

Rural Preservation. The purpose for the re-zoning is to have the subject property zoned the same as 

the adjacent property in order to combine the properties without creating a parcel of land that 

would be split zoned. The adjacent property is zoned Residential.  

 

Analysis: The Zoning Map Amendment application and request are reviewed by considering the 

following factors: 

 

• Comprehensive Plan: According to the 2018 Jasper County Comprehensive Plan, the 

Future Land Use Map identifies this area as “Rural Conservation”. The Rural Conservation 

areas seek to protect and promote the character of Jasper County that largely exists today 

outside of the municipalities.   

 

• Adjacent Zoning: The adjacent parcels are zoned Rural Preservation and Residential.  

    

• Adjacent Land Use: Adjacent land uses are residential and vacant property.        

 

• Traffic and Access: The subject property is accessed by Floyd Road, which is a two-lane 

state-maintained highway classified as a local road. 

    

mailto:lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov


Floyd Road                                                                                        Page 2 of 2 

Planning Commission Recommendation: The Planning Commission recommends approval of 

the request to have the property designated as Residential on the Jasper County Official Zoning 

Map.   

 

Attachments: 

  

1. Ordinance 

2. Aerial map of property and surrounding area 

3. Aerial map with zoning layer 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF JASPER 

 
ORDINANCE: 2024 -____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE 

OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

To amend the Official Zoning Map of Jasper County so as to transfer a 

property located along Floyd Road, bearing Jasper County Tax Map 

Number 045-00-01-049, consisting of 3 acres from the Rural Preservation 

Zone to the Residential Zone on the Jasper County Official Zoning Map. 

 

WHEREAS, A Zoning Map Amendment request was submitted to the Planning 

Commission to have a parcel bearing Jasper County Tax Map Number 045-00-01-

049, consisting of approximately 3 acres, located along Floyd Road to have the 

zoning changed from the Rural Preservation Zone to the Residential Zone on the 

Official Zoning Map of Jasper County; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Jasper County Planning Commission has concurred with the 

recommendations of the staff report as reflected in this Ordinance and recommends 

approval by Council; and  

 

WHEREAS, this matter is now before the Jasper County Council for determination; 

and 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the Jasper County Council in council 

duly convened and by the authority of the same: 

1. Jasper County Council finds that in accordance with the staff report and the 

recommendation of the Planning Commission, the proposed zoning is 

consistent with the continued pattern of growth in the vicinity and is in 

harmony with the Jasper County Comprehensive Plan. Good cause having 

been shown, approximately 3 acres bearing Jasper County Tax Map Number 

045-00-01-049, located along Floyd Road, depicted on the Jasper County 



Official Zoning Map in the Rural Preservation Zone shall be changed to the 

Residential Zone. 

 

2. This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 

 

 
       _______________________ 

      L. Martin Sauls IV  
Chairman   
 

 
       ATTEST: 
 
       _____________________ 

Wanda Giles                                                                     
Clerk to Council 

 
 

ORDINANCE: # 2024-__ 
 
First Reading: December 2, 2024 
Second Reading:     
Public Hearing:     
Adopted:        
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
  

Considered by the Jasper County Planning Commission at it’s meeting on 
 

November 12, 2024 and recommended for approval. 
 

_____________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney. 
 
 
         
__________________________      _______________ 
David Tedder         Date  









Daly Organics PDD                                                                                         Page 1 of 3 

Jasper County  

Planning and Building Services 
 

358 Third Avenue - Post Office Box 1659 

Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

Phone (843) 717-3650   Fax (843) 726-7707 

        

Lisa Wagner, CFM 

Director of Planning and Building Services 
lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov 

  

 
 

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: December 2, 2024 

Project: Zoning Map Amendment and Concept Plan - Planned Development 

District – Daly Organics PDD 

Applicant: Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC 

Madison and James Daly 

Tax Map Number: 038-00-08-044 

Submitted For: Consideration of 1st Reading  

Recommendation:  Planning Commission recommends approval of the PDD designation and 

Concept Map. The Planning Commission also recommends that the PDD 

Standards limit the uses to only allow commercial and industrial uses that 

support the Daly Organic Farm, including the existing composting and 

mulching operation, and the proposed bagging facility. 

 

Description: The Applicant is requesting approval of a Planned Development District (PDD) zoning 

designation for a commercial project, and if approved, will be known as Daly Organics PDD. Included 

with the Zoning Map Amendment application is a Concept Plan and PDD Standards. The project site 

consists of a 223.7 acre parcel located along Bellinger Hill Road and also has frontage on Bellinger 

Hill Run. The property is currently zoned Rural Preservation and is developed as an existing farm that 

includes an organic composting and mulching operation. The applicant proposes to add a bagging 

facility, which will require an Industrial zoning designation or a PDD that will allow this type of land 

use.  

 

Analysis: In accordance with Article 8:1 of the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance, the intent of a PDD 

is to encourage flexibility in the development of land to promote its most appropriate use; and to do so 

in a manner that will enhance public health, safety, morals, and general welfare. The PDD regulations 

are intended to accomplish the purpose of zoning and other applicable regulations to an equivalent or 

higher degree and are designed to control unscheduled development on individual lots or tracts, 

promote economical and efficient land use, provide an improved level of amenities, foster a 

harmonious variety of uses, encourage creative design, and produce a better environment. In view of 

the substantial public advantage of “planned development,” it is the intent of the PDD regulations to 

promote and encourage or require development in this form where appropriate in character, timing, 

and location, particularly in large undeveloped tracts. All PDD’s shall conform to the Jasper County 

Comprehensive Land Use Plan and Land Use Map (latest edition).   

mailto:lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov


Daly Organics PDD                                                                                         Page 2 of 3 

• Comprehensive Plan: According to the 2018 Jasper County Comprehensive Plan, the Future 

Land Use Map identifies this area as “Rural Transition.” The rural transition areas are located in 

southern Jasper County and will likely be under pressure to develop within the foreseeable future. 

Development proposals in existing communities, such as Levy-Limehouse, should be respectful 

and complement the scale and character of the area. 

 

• Adjacent Zoning and Land Uses: Figure 1 below shows the project location and Table 1 shows 

the adjacent land uses and zoning designation: 

 

Table 1. Adjacent Land Uses and Zoning Designations 

Adjacent Property Existing Uses Zoning 

North Residential Residential 

South Mining Operation Resource Extraction 

West Residential and 

Vacant 

Residential and 

PDD 

East Residential, Small 

Campground and 

Mining Operation 

Residential, Rural 

Preservation and 

Resource Extraction 

 

                                     Figure 1. 

 

• Traffic and Access: The subject property is accessed by Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill 

Run. Bellinger Hill Road is a 2-lane state maintained road, classified as a limited local road. 

Bellinger Hill Run is a private dirt road.  



Daly Organics PDD                                                                                         Page 3 of 3 

The Daly Organics Concept Plan (Appendix H) illustrates the proposed land use, the general layout, 

and access point. A Master Plan will be submitted separately and will provide additional information 

regarding the proposed layout of the development.  

 

The proposed PDD will establish the following: 

 

• Access Points – the main access point exists and is located on Bellinger Hill Road.  

• Allowed Land Uses – rural preservation, general commercial and industrial. 

• Density – 166 acres is designated to remain Rural Preservation, 36 acres is designated as General 

Commercial, and 21 acres is designated as Industrial.  

• Open Space – a minimum of 10% open space based on overall commercial highlands will be 

provided.  

• Stormwater Management – best management practices will be used in the development to 

ensure runoff leaving the site meets SC Department of Environmental Services Office of Ocean 

and Coastal Resource Management and Jasper County standards for water quality. 

• Setbacks and Buffers – The concept map shows the commercial areas are setback 400’ + from 

Bellinger Hill Road.   

• Landscaping Standards – A landscape road-side buffer will be provided along Bellinger Hill as 

required by the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance. 

 

The Daly Organics PDD and Concept Plan meets all of the requirements for a PDD Application and 
Concept Plan as outlined in Article 8:1.7 of the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance. As far as a traffic 
analysis, Hussey Gay Bell, engineering firm determined that the current use produces 40 trips a day, 
which is made up of 30 trucks/day (customers) and 10 cars/day (employees). The future conditions is 
predicted to produce 40 trucks/day (customers) and 20 cars/day (employees). The Daly Organic 
property is currently served by water, wastewater and electric. The property is served by well and 
septic tank. Electric is served by Palmetto Electric. Telecommunication and fiber are not currently 
available to serve the Daly Organic property.   
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: A zoning designation of PDD does not entitle an applicant 

or owner of the affected property a right to develop or engage in any land use or land disturbing 

activity, other than the rights in existence at the time of the Concept Plan approval. To engage in 

development or any land use or land disturbing activity, a Master Plan and subsequent Development 

Plan(s) must be approved for the areas to be developed. While the Concept Plan is very generalized, a 

Master Plan is a more refined document which will be reassessed by the Planning Commission at a 

future date. The Planning Commission recommends approval of the PDD designation and 

Concept Map. The Planning Commission also recommends that the PDD Standards limit the 

uses to only allow commercial and industrial uses that support the Daly Organic Farm, 

including the existing composting and mulching operation, and the proposed bagging facility. 

 

Attachments: 

 

1. Application 

2. Ordinance 

3. PDD Document and Concept Plan  

 



 

 1 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
ORDINANCE #2024 -____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF  

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

To adopt Planned Development District Zoning, Planned Development 

District Standards, and Conceptual Master Plan for a tract of land 

consisting of approximately 223.70 acres, bearing Jasper County Tax 

Map Numbers 038-00-08-044, located along Bellinger Hill Road, and 

known as Daly Organics PDD. 

 

WHEREAS, The Planned Development District Zoning standards were adopted by 

Jasper County to permit and encourage flexibility in the development of land in order to 

promote its most appropriate use; and to do so in a manner that will enhance public 

health, safety, morals, and general welfare; and  

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County has received a request from the owner of a tract of land 

consisting of approximately 223.70 acres, bearing Jasper County Tax Map Numbers 

038-00-08-044, located along Bellinger Hill Road, to zone such in accordance with 

submitted Planned Development District Standards prepared for Daly Organics and 

accompanying Planned Development District Standards and Conceptual Master Plan; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the above mentioned property was duly posed, with public meetings 

properly noticed and held by the Jasper County Planning Commission on November 12, 

2024, which recommended approval and adoption by the Jasper County Council on 

November 12, 2024; and  

 



 

 2 

WHEREAS, Jasper County Council finds the Planned Development District Standards 

and the Concept Map (Appendix H) to be in accordance with the statutory requirements 

of the state, and consistent with the Jasper County Comprehensive Plan, Jasper’s 

Journey, as well as the Jasper County Zoning and Land Development Ordinances; and  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by Jasper County Council, in council duly 

assembled and by the authority of the same: 

 
1.  Jasper County Council finds in accordance with the staff report, and 

the recommendation of Jasper County Planning Commission, the 

proposed zoning is consistent with the continued pattern of growth in 

the vicinity and is in harmony with the Jasper County Comprehensive 

Plan. Good cause having been shown to approve the applicant’s 

request for Planned Development District Zoning for the Property, 

and of the Planned Development District Standards and Conceptual 

Master Plan (Appendix H), and to amend the Jasper County Official 

Zoning Map to reflect Planned Development District zoning for a 

tract of land consisting of approximately 223.70 acres, bearing Jasper 

County Tax Map Numbers 038-00-08-044, and known as Daly 

Organics PDD. 

 

2.  This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 

 

 

_______________________ 
L. Martin Sauls IV 
Chairman 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

_____________________ 
Wanda Giles                                                                 

Clerk to Council 

 

 



 

 3 

ORDINANCE: # 2024-__ 

 

First Reading: December 2, 2024 

Public Hearing: _____________ 

Second Reading: ___________ 

Adopted: ______________   

 
 
_____________________________________________________ 

  

Considered by the Jasper County Planning Commission at it’s meeting on 

 

November 12, 2024 and recommended for approval. 

_____________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney. 

 
 
         

__________________________      __________________ 
David Tedder         Date  

 



PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT AND CONCEPT PLAN  

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 
FOR 

DALY ORGANICS 
 

 
 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 

1465 BELLINGER HILL ROAD 

HARDEEVILLE, SC 29927 

 
BY 

 

HUSSEY GAY BELL 

329 COMMERCIAL DRIVE 

SAVANNAH, GA 31406 
 

ORIGINALLY SUBMITTED SEPTEMBER 10TH, 2024 

(REVISED NOVEMBER 5TH, 2024)



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

1 

 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

AND 

CONCEPT PLAN 
 

DALY ORGANICS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
SECTION I – SITE DEVELOPMENT 

 

A. The Property 3 

B. Planned Development District and Development Agreement Process 4 

C. Concept Plan 4 

D. Environmental Protection 7 

E. Cultural and Historical Resources 7 

F. Water and Sewer Service 8 

G. Utility Service 8 

H. Roadways and Traffic 8 

I. Parking 9 

J. Stormwater Management 10 

 

SECTION II - LAND USE 
 

A. Introduction and Narrative 11 

B. Allowed Land Uses 12 

C. Allowed Density 12 

D. Definitions of Land Use Terms and Density Terms 13 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

2 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

 
Appendix A Site Location Map 

Appendix B Recorded Plat 

Appendix C Freshwater Wetlands Delineation 

Appendix D USDA Soils Data 

Appendix E Aerial Site Map 

Appendix F USGS Quadrangle Map 

Appendix G FEMA Map 

Appendix H Conceptual Master Plan 

Appendix I Development Schedule 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

3  

 

DALY ORGANICS 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 

CONCEPT PLAN 

SECTION I – SITE DEVELOPMENT 

 

A. THE PROPERTY 
 

The Daly Organics Planned Development District (PDD) is located in Jasper County, 

South Carolina with frontage on Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill Run. The 

tract is located near Hardeeville and is approximately 223.7 acres. A site location 

map is provided in Appendix A. 
 

The Daly Organics Tract is currently owned by Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC 

(“Owner”), its successors or assigns. The Owner proposes that this property be zoned 

and developed as a PDD in accordance with the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance 

(ZO) and Land Development Regulations (LDR) in effect at the time of submittal to 

Jasper County. The PDD designation will be utilized to encourage unified planning 

and development, promote economical and efficient land use, foster a harmonious 

variety of uses, encourage creative design, and produce a better environment. 
 

The Daly Organics Tract (TM# 038-00-08-044) is located in Jasper County, South 

Carolina and is located southeast of the intersection of S. Okatie Highway and 

Bellinger Hill Road. The property is currently farmed and has an existing organic 

composting and mulching operations under the existing Rural Preservation zoning. 

The property has approximately 5,000 linear feet (LF) and 2,400 LF of road 

frontages along Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill Run, respectively. A site 

survey is included as Appendix B.   
 

The property encompasses approximately 223.7 acres which does not include any 

jurisdictional wetlands within the current project area (existing operations of Daly 

Organics). The property does not contains. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 

(USACE) wetland verification letter and survey are included in Appendix C. 

Preliminary soil data has been evaluated using available on site soil data and USDA 

soils information. On site soils are Williman loamy fine sand, Coosaw loamy fine 

sand, Seewee fine sand, and a Seabrook fine sand. The soils are expected to be 

acceptable to current operations as well as the future plans for expansion for Daly 

Organics. USDA soils data is included as Appendix D. 
 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

4  

The land adjacent to the PDD is Rural Preservation and Residential zoning and 

existing uses consist mostly of farming, larger residential lots, and parcels that are 

currently undeveloped. An aerial overlay map of the PDD and surrounding area is 

included as Appendix E. 
 

Based on a review of the USGS Jasper quadrangle map, site elevations range from 

approximately 15 - 18 feet above mean sea level on average. A portion of the USGS 

map is included as Appendix F. The site has gentle slopes ranging from 0-2%. 
 

Based on a review of FEMA Maps, the site is within the 100-year flood plain. A 

portion of FEMA Map Panel Number 450112, dated September 29, 1986, is 

included as Appendix G. 

 
 

B. PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (PDD) AND 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DA) PROCESS 

 

The PDD overlay zone was adopted by the Jasper County Council to permit and 

encourage the effective, efficient, and economical development of large tracts of land 

in Jasper County. The PDD application will be accompanied by a Development 

Agreement, the intent of which is to protect the rights and entitlements specified in 

the PDD for the property from the effect of subsequently enacted local legislation or 

from the effects of changing policies and procedures of local government agencies 

which may conflict with any term or provision of the PDD or in any way hinder, 

restrict, or prevent the development of the project. The Development Agreement will 

provide a reasonable certainty as to the lawful requirements that must be met in 

protecting vested property rights, while maintaining the authority and duty of 

government to enforce laws and regulations which promote the public safety, health, 

and general welfare of the citizens of our State. The Development Agreement is 

being made and entered between Owner and The Jasper County Council, under the 

terms of the Act, for the purpose of providing assurances to Owner that it may 

proceed without encountering future changes in law which would materially affect 

the ability to develop under the plan, and for the purpose of providing important 

protection to the natural environment and long term financial stability and a viable 

tax base to Jasper County. The Owner as well as its successors, assigns, and future 

owners will adhere to the provisions of the PDD and Development Agreement for 

the duration that each remains in effect, unless one or both is modified or extended 

through mutual agreement with the Jasper County Council. 

 
 

C. CONCEPT PLAN 
 

The Daly Organics property is an approximately 223.7 acre tract of land located 

adjacent to Bellinger Hill Road in Jasper County, South Carolina. It is anticipated 

that the property will be developed over a period of several years as the existing 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

5  

organic composting and mulching operations expand, in accordance with the 

Concept Plan as set forth in this document or amended in the future. The Concept 

Plan sets forth the general scope of the development including number of units, 

phasing, development standards, open space and other issues. In addition to the 

Concept Plan, development of the property is controlled by other provisions of the 

PDD and further guaranteed by the Development Agreement (DA) between the 

applicant and the Jasper County Council. 

 

The Conceptual Master Plan is included in Appendix H. 

 

The goal of the development is to produce a high quality, mixed use development. 

The tract of land provides an opportunity for a mix of land uses that will be 

developed over a period of time. The PDD designation is necessary to 

accommodate the mix of land uses and provide for the responsible planning and 

development of the property over time. 
 

The Daly Organics Concept Plan, prepared by Hussey Gay Bell, shows a general 

access layout and a proposed mix-use Planned Development District showing 

areas designated for Rural Preservation (current and existing zoning), 

General Commercial, and Industrial Development. Proposed land uses in the 

Rural Preservation (current and existing zoning), General Commercial, and 

Industrial Development areas are detailed under Section 2 - Land Use 

Designation and Definitions. 
 

The proposed uses will consist of the following acreages: Rural Preservation 

(166.2 acres), General Commercial (36.2 acres), and Industrial Development 

(three (3) areas at 6.1 acres, 6.8 acres and 8.4 acres). Appropriate buffers shall be 

provided between incompatible land uses. Buffer widths are described in Section 

II.D.5 of the PDD. 

 

Development is planned to occur in accordance with the Development Schedule 

presented in Appendix I, which is preliminary and subject to change based on 

market conditions. 

 

The proposed Concept Plan will maintain open space requirements as per Section II, 

D.4 of this document. The open space and amenities will be owned and maintained 

in the manner approved with appropriate covenants and restrictions by the 

developer, homeowner’s association, or other legally designated entity. Property 

deeded to a governmental entity becomes the maintenance responsibility of that 

entity. 

 

Activities along any external property lines of the PDD shall conform to the 

setback, buffer, screening as described in Section II.D.5 of the PDD. Height 

requirements shall conform to the latest adopted version of the Jasper County 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

6  

Zoning Ordinance (ZO) and Land Development Regulations (LDR). 

 

The Concept Plan and Development Agreement may constitute a request for a 

waiver from the current Jasper County ZO and LDR where differences occur. 

However, activities in the PDD shall conform to all other Jasper County Ordinances 

and Regulations where differences do not occur. The Concept Plan may introduce 

land uses that do not exist in the current Zoning Ordinance. Based on the PDD, Daly 

Organics does not request deviations from the ZO/LDR provisions. 

 
General Requirement Description of Proposal 

N/A N/A 

  



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

7  

The provisions of the Development Agreement and the Concept Plan shall apply to 

development in the Daly Organics PDD. In the event of a conflict, the hierarchy of 

documents is the following: 1) Development Agreement; 2) PDD and Concept Plan; 

3) Jasper County ZO and LDR in effect at the time of Final Adoption of the Daly 

Organics PDD. 

 
 

D. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

 

Environmental protection is a priority for the Applicant. As part of the development 

process, Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC developers (owners) will meet or exceed the 

stormwater management requirements of the Jasper County LDR/Stormwater 

Regulations and the South Carolina Department of Health’s Office of Ocean and 

Coastal Resource Management (OCRM). 
 

Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC developers (owners) will prepare stormwater 

management plans for the tracts of land as they are developed. The plan will 

address the hydrological characteristics of the site as well as predevelopment 

conditions and post-development stormwater management facilities for flood 

control and sediment reduction. 

 

Freshwater wetlands on the property are typical of the South Carolina 

Lowcountry. None of the area planned expansion to the Organic Composting 

and Mulching Operations is within jurisdictional wetlands. A plat indicating 

the freshwater wetlands on the property is included in Appendix C. 
 

On-site wetland impacts resulting from the development of the Daly Organics PDD 

will be permitted jointly through the USACE and OCRM. All impact mitigation will 

be accomplished through a combination of buffers and preservation of jurisdictional 

wetlands located on the property and will meet or exceed state and/or federal 

standards. 

 
 

E. CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES 

 

As part of the comprehensive study of the property, a preliminary assessment of the 

cultural and historical resources on the site has not been prepared at this time. As 

part of Master Plan Approval and prior to final design, the South Carolina 

Department of Archives and History will be contacted by the Owner to request a 

review of the Department’s cultural resource inventory database. The Owner will 

follow the direction and procedures of the Department of Archives and History as 

appropriate and if necessary, will address all cultural resource issues with the State 

Historic Preservation Office. A final determination will be provided as part of 

Master Plan Approval. 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

8  

F. WATER AND SEWER SERVICE 
 

Water and sewer service to Daly Organics is private (well and septic). Detailed 

planning for the water and sewer systems will commence at the time of 

Development Agreement and PDD approval by Jasper County, if public service ever 

becomes available to the property. 

 
 

G. UTILITY SERVICE 
 

Daly Organics is currently served by Palmetto Electric for electrical power. The 

Owner will coordinate with Palmetto Electric regarding planning for the PDD as 

necessary. 
 

Telecommunications and fiber are not currently available to serve Daly Organics.  

 

Other utility services may be provided by legally established entities at the discretion 

of the Owner, provided such are in accordance with applicable franchising 

ordinances and licensing requirements of Jasper County. 

 
 

H. ROADWAYS AND TRAFFIC 
 

Daly Organics has approximately 5,000 linear feet (LF) and 2,400 LF of road 

frontages along Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill Run, respectively, with 

respect to access, construction, improvements and maintenance. Establishing safe 

and reasonable ingress and egress for the property is a priority for the Owner, South 

Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT), and Jasper County. Full access 

shall be defined as access which allows any and all possible vehicular traffic 

movements into and out of the development. Limited access shall be defined as 

access which limits the movement of traffic into and out of a development (i.e., 

right-in, right-out). Any proposed roadway improvements shall be subject to 

approval by Jasper County and, where appropriate, the SCDOT. 
 

 

All new access points shall be accompanied by a traffic analysis that demonstrates 

consistency with the Jasper County and SCDOT Highway Management Access 

Plans and design criteria. These accesses may be relocated to accommodate traffic 

modeling information, site specific characteristics and adjacent land uses as part of 

the access management plan. Additional ingress and egress to the property from 

Bellinger Hill Road may result by sharing the existing full access points from the 

currently developed outparcels, or by sharing other limited or full access points with 

adjacent property owners. 
 

Primary access to the interior of the development will be via the Bellinger Hill Road 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

9  

as shown on the Conceptual Master Plan. Connectivity between the various 

development parcels and these access locations will be planned and incorporated 

into the site plans for the individual developments as they are submitted to Jasper 

County for review. Traffic circulation and access systems will be developed to 

maximize the public utility of full access points to Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger 

Hill Run from Daly Organics and also from adjacent and opposite parcels, to the 

extent practical. Interconnectivity between different proposed uses within the PDD 

will be promoted in order to encourage efficient traffic flow within the PDD and 

minimize access locations onto Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill Run. 
 

The Daly Organics PDD may have roads designed with funding as outlined in the 

Development Agreement. Roads indicated on the Conceptual Master Plan are subject 

to modification at the time of Development Plan approval based upon specific soil 

conditions, environmental concerns, physical constraints and design parameters. 

 

The access point locations described above and shown on the Conceptual Master 

Plan are preliminary and may be relocated during Master Plan approval and final 

development plans. Planning, design and construction of these accesses as well as all 

roadways and transportation elements shall be in accordance with SCDOT 

standards, Jasper County Ordinances, traffic impact assessment, PDD standards, or 

other engineering standards reasonably acceptable to the County engineer. Typical 

roadway sections will be submitted for review at the Master Plan approval stage. 

 

Potential access across the jurisdictional wetlands surrounding adjacent tracts may be 

allowed if approved by OCRM and the USACE. Road linkages to adjacent 

properties may include impacts to jurisdictional wetlands. 

 

Notwithstanding other provisions of this document and subject to approval by Jasper 

County, roadway design standards may be modified to reduce environmental impacts 

and increase tree preservation provided safety concerns are not compromised. 

Protection and preservation of significant trees will be encouraged. Reductions of 

roadway and right-of- way widths may not occur unless specifically authorized by 

the County. 
 

I. PARKING 

 

The total number of required parking spaces for all land uses allowed herein shall 

conform to the Jasper County ZO and LDR in effect at the time of Final Adoption 

of the Daly Organics PDD. Modulation of those standards may be allowed 

provided the applicant furnishes actual documentation that the new proposed 

standard meets the parking needs of the proposed land use and the County agrees at 

Master Plan approval. 

 

 
 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

10  

J. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 

Daly Organics PDD shall conform to the Jasper County ZO, LDR and Stormwater 

Management Ordinance in effect at the time of Master Plan approval for the Daly 

Organics PDD as well as all other applicable state and federal requirements. 

Sufficient stormwater best management practices will be employed in the 

development of the PDD to ensure runoff leaving the site does not degrade water 

quality within surrounding wetlands and the receiving waterways. 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

11  

SECTION II – LAND USE 

 

A. INTRODUCTION AND NARRATIVE 
 

The Daly Organics PDD has a total area of 223.7 acres, which does not include any 

jurisdictional wetlands within the current project area (existing operations of Daly 

Organics)., as indicated in the ‘Hardeeville Wetland Survey’. 

 

The Concept Plan consists of the following land use areas: 
 

Rural Preservation (RP – the current and existing zoning), General Commercial 

(GC), and Industrial Development (ID). 

 

The developed acres are intended for types of non- residential uses, which are 

preliminary and subject to change based on market conditions. A portion of the 

existing Rural Preservation use will remain as indicated on the Concept Plan. 

 

The land use areas indicated on the Concept Plan are not intended to be rigid exact 

boundary lines for future land use and improvements. The Concept Plan for the Daly 

Organics PDD shall maintain flexibility to accommodate specific soil conditions, 

environmental concerns, pedestrian friendly requirements, physical constraints, 

market conditions and design parameters and as such, the exact location of boundary 

lines between land uses and their subsequent location and size indicated within the 

planning area shall be subject to change at the time Development Permit Plan(s) are 

submitted for development; provided, however, that maximum densities and other 

conditions of this PDD and the Development agreement between the Owner and 

Jasper County, South Carolina, will be strictly adhered to, unless adjustment is 

requested by the Owner and approved by the County. The boundaries of the PDD 

may be modified to include adjacent acreage subject to the approval of Jasper 

County by appropriate petition/application to the County to amend the PDD and the 

Development Agreement. 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

12  

 

B. ALLOWED LAND USES 
 

The following land uses shall be permitted in the Daly Organics PDD. The purpose 

of this portion of the PDD document is to state which land uses shall be allowed 

within the Daly Organics PDD; however, by allowing these uses this does not 

obligate the developer to provide the uses or facilities stated herein. 
 

The following land uses and definitions shall be permitted in the Daly Organics 

PDD: 

Rural Preservation (RP): Current and existing zoning as permitted in Jasper 

County ZO and LDR. 

General Commercial (GC): Existing Operations for Organic Composting / 

Mulching and Area for Expansion plus uses permitted in the Jasper County ZO and 

LDR. 

Industrial Development (ID): Including future Bagging Plant plus uses permitted 

in the Jasper County ZO and LDR. 

 

Apart from operations/construction offices, mobile homes shall not be an allowed 

land use. 

 

Any easement that occurs within the property shall have the same land uses as any of 

the adjacent land uses. Any restrictions shall be based on the legal definition of the  

easement. 

 

Design Regulations and Performance Standards will be established for each area at 

the time of the Master Plan approval. Unless otherwise agreed at Master Plan 

approval or in this PDD, the standard for uses and design criteria from the Jasper 

County ZO and LDR will apply. 

 
C. ALLOWED DENSITY 

 

Of the approximately size upland acres, the Concept Plan for the Daly Organics 

PDD consists of approximately 166.2 acres of Rural Preservation (current and 

existing zoning), approximately 36.2 acres of General Commercial, and 

approximately 21.3 acres (total of three (3) areas) of Industrial Development. The 

Concept Plan may be modified at Master Plan approval, taking into consideration 

the potential need to change the exact locations of the proposed use(s) in order to 

address traffic considerations and in response to market conditions. 
 

Commercial acreage shall include the commercial uses of Existing Operations for 

Organic Composting / Mulching and Area for Expansion plus uses permitted in the 

Jasper County ZO and LDR), as well as other uses and shall have no cap placed on 

unit density (building square footage/acre), provided compliance with stormwater, 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

13  

parking, buffering, landscaping and other site design requirements of the PDD and 

the Jasper County ZO and LDR are met. Hotel/Inn/Bed and Breakfast Properties, and 

assisted living, congregate care, and nursing home facilities shall not have a 

specified dwelling unit per acre maximum, provided compliance with stormwater, 

parking, buffering, landscaping and other site design requirements of the PDD and 

the Jasper County Ordinances and Regulations are met. All commercial development 

shall be subject to the provisions of the Jasper County ZO and LDR unless 

specifically exempted by this document. In addition to the Prohibited Uses specified 

in Section II(D)(5), trucking terminals will not be a permitted use in the commercial 

use areas. 
 

D. DEFINITIONS OF LAND USE TERMS AND DENSITY TERMS 
 

In the absence of a term definition in this Concept Plan or in the Daly Organics 

Development Agreement with Jasper County, the definitions of the Jasper County 

Zoning Ordinance shall apply in the interpretation of this Concept Plan.  

 

However, the definitions below shall generally describe the allowed uses within the 

PDD. 

 

1. Industrial Development 

 

This designation allows for a multi-use Business Park to meet regional 

demands for Light Industrial, Office, Commercial Services and 

Wholesale/Retail Businesses. Permitted uses include: 

 

a. Establishments involved in light manufacturing, regional warehouses, 

distribution operations, back-office operations, commercial businesses, office 

space, office/warehouse operations, wholesale/retail businesses, commercial 

service businesses, research or experimental laboratories, public building, 

public utility facility, agricultural farm, horticultural nursery, off street 

commercial parking or storage area for customer, client, or employee-owned 

vehicles and call centers. 
 

b. Build-to-property lines subject to Master Plan Review by the Planning 

Commission will be allowed to reduce cost of utilities and create a more 

pedestrian friendly environment as long as fire protection between adjacent 

and party-walls is strictly adhered to and visual design standards are met. 

 

c. Light Industrial uses shall provide a minimum buffer in accordance with 

Section 12.8.1-12.8.9 of the LDR from adjacent non-compatible uses not 

separated by a road right of way, or wetland of an equal width (including 

wetland buffer). 

 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

14  

d. Excluded Uses: Public utility facilities, TV stations and transmission towers, 

commercial trade or vocational schools, water supply systems, sewer 

systems, wholesale of used motor vehicle parts, junkyards, retail trade of 

vehicles and parts, retail trade of home furnishings, electronics, gasoline 

stations, truck stops, fuel dealers, transportation (air, rail, truck, transit, 

scenic), motor vehicle towing, publishing industry, motion picture, banks, 

credit intermediation, incinerator, marinas, auto repair & maintenance, 

funeral home, cemeteries, crematories, laundry services, parking garages. 

 

2. General Commercial 

 

The general commercial designation allows for the development of 

concentrated commercial and office nodes located on primary vehicular 

routes to serve the Daly Organics PDD and surrounding area. 

 

a. Permitted Uses: 

 

(1) Establishments engaged in selling goods or merchandise to the 

general public for personal or household consumption (e.g., regional 

malls, outlet centers, shopping centers, supermarkets, department 

stores, convenience stores, gas stations, automobile and boat 

dealerships, etc.) and rendering services incidental to the sale of such 

goods; establishments providing services or entertainment to the 

general public including but not limited to eating and drinking 

establishments, personal service and repair business and 

entertainment establishments (e.g. movie theatres, bowling alleys, 

etc.); medical and health facilities/office buildings and/or office for 

government, business professional or general purposes, unless 

specifically prohibited under Prohibited Uses below. 

(2) Assembly and Worship 

(3) Colleges and Professional Schools 

(4) Schools, Neighborhood (elementary and middle school) 

(5) Schools (community high school) 

(6) Daycare, commercial 

(7) Utilities 

(8) Public Services 

(9) Government Office 

(10) Commercial lodging (hotel and motel) 

(11) Commercial Retail 

(12) Office 

(13) Restaurant (including outdoor seating) 

(14) Service Businesses 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

15  

 

(15) Commercial Amusement (indoor) 

(16) Christmas Tree Sales 

(17) Roadside Stands (on designated areas only) 

(18) Commercial Outdoor Sales (related to existing retail) 

(19) Public Interest and Special Events (permitted, located, and scheduled 

ahead of time) 

(20) Grocery 

(21) Mini-warehouse facilities will be limited to a maximum height of 35 

feet from finished grade. 

 

b. Sidewalk displays are permitted directly in front of an establishment, if at 

least five (5) feet of sidewalk is maintained for adequate and uncluttered 

pedestrian access. 

 

c. Commercial uses shall provide a minimum buffer of twenty-five (25) feet 

from any adjacent residential use not separated by a road right of way, 

excluding TND uses. 

 

d. Excluded Uses: Regional malls, shopping centers, supermarkets, department 

stores, convenience stores, gas stations, automotive and boat dealers, 

entertainment establishments (movie theaters, bowling, etc.), medical and 

health facilities, colleges and schools, hotel/motel, parking garages, laundry 

services, commercial amusement, nightclub and entertainment, go-cart racing, 

flea markets, junkyards or auto salvage yards, gambling facilities not authorized 

by law, sexually-oriented businesses. 

 

Maximum building height shall meet the requirements of the Jasper County 

Ordinances and Regulations for group dwellings and multiple family 

dwellings. 

 

3. Maintenance Areas 

 

The maintenance areas will contain the facilities, tools and equipment 

necessary to maintain the common properties and golf courses within the 

Daly Organics PDD. These facilities may be congregated on a central site or 

located in separate convenient sites for different services such as general 

community maintenance, golf course maintenance, recreation area 

maintenance or individual property regime maintenance. Permitted uses 

include: 

 

a. Vehicle maintenance 

b. Storage of vehicles and parts, boats, recreational vehicles and resident storage 

c. Fuel storage 

d. Shops for woodwork, metalwork and painting. 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

16  

e. Greenhouses, plant propagation areas and holding yards 

f. Mulching facility and mulch storage. 

g. Storage of chemicals and bulk materials as permitted by law. 

h. Offices associated with community and maintenance. 
 

4. Open Space 
 

There shall be no requirement for additional open space for the Commercial 

portions of the development; however 10% of the overall Commercial 

uplands will remain pervious. Open space may be located in restricted access, 

gated communities and shall consist of the following: 

 

(1) Landscaped areas including manicured village greens 

(2) Forest, wildlife preserves/corridors, conservation areas and greenbelts 

(3) Community garden plots 

(4) Recreation areas including swimming pools, tennis courts, 

playgrounds, ball fields, lawn game fields, gardens, public or private 

regulation or par three golf courses, etc. 

(5) Pedestrian/bicycle trails 

 

5. Setbacks and Buffers 

 

Setbacks and buffers required by the HCOD shall apply according to the 

LDR if and when necessary. All other buffers and setbacks shall be 

maintained as described below: 
 

a. Setbacks and buffer standards within the Daly Organics PDD shall include: 

 

(1) There shall be no minimum setbacks applied to the Concept Plan 

other than those described in the HCOD where necessary, those 

required by Fire Code, and those described elsewhere in this 

document. 
 

(2) Buffers between non-compatible land uses shall comply with Section 

12.8.1-12.8.9 of the LDR. The required buffers shall be a total width 

and can be met by sharing a buffer across a property line. 
 

(3) At jurisdictional wetlands or recorded conservation easements the 

setbacks and buffers shall be as determined by the state and federal 

agencies having jurisdiction over the wetlands. The project shall also 

comply with Section 

7.4 of the LDR with regards to riparian buffering. The project shall 

have the right to buffer average in accordance with USACE and 

OCRM standards. 

 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

17  

(4) A 10-foot setback shall be required for all drainage systems and 

retention ponds within the development. 
 

b. Perimeter setbacks and buffers at adjacent property boundaries of Daly 

Organics shall comply with Section 8.1.6 of the LDR. Stormwater features 

related to the outfall from a detention, retention or filtration system shall be 

allowed within the perimeter setbacks and buffers. Only temporary flood 

control and soil erosion control devices shall be permitted in the perimeter 

setback and buffer areas during construction. These devices shall be 

immediately removed upon stabilization of these areas. 

 

6. Signage Control 
 

Signage for the Daly Organics PDD shall be governed by the Jasper County 

ZO and LDR in effect at the time of the submission of final development 

plans or as herein contained. 

 

7. Wetlands 

 

This designation allows the following uses within wetlands. Freshwater 

wetlands on the property shall be those areas over which the applicable 

governmental agencies claim jurisdiction for freshwater wetlands. Unless 

restricted via a future Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) to the contrary, 

the following are permitted uses: 

 

a. Buffers 

b. Conservation areas 

c. Activities in all wetland areas as permitted by the USACE and OCRM 

d. Disposal of reclaimed water as permitted by SCDHEC 

e. Stormwater management and recreational lakes 

f. Boardwalks, trails, bridges and other permitted structures 

g. Game Management 

 

8. Utilities 

 

This designation allows for utility service to serve the planned tracts of the 

Daly Organics PDD. Utility types and facilities not germane to the 

development will be subject to review by the Planning Commission as part of 

the Master Plan review process. The following land uses shall be allowed: 

 

a. Potable water supply and distribution 

b. Wastewater collection, treatment and disposal 

c. Stormwater collection, treatment and detention 

d. Irrigation 



DALY ORGANICS – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT Proj. No. 123406100 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 09/10/2024 
REVISED 11/05/2024 
 

 

18  

e. Communication towers 

f. Satellite antennas 

g. Cable television facilities 

h. Telephone facilities 

i. Power transmission and distribution 

j. Fiber optic lines 

k. Other utility services (i.e., Internet access and other telecommunication uses) 

 

Certain community-wide infrastructure is required for the development of 

any large, master-planned community. This infrastructure may include, but is 

not limited to the following: 

 

a. Arterial streets and primary access roads 

b. Water supply 

c. Wastewater treatment and effluent disposal 

d. Power substations 

e. Central telephone facilities 

f. Stormwater management lagoons 

g. Natural gas supply 

 

In the case of this Concept Plan, the community-wide infrastructure may 

serve more than one planning tract. Infrastructure serving the community 

(on-site and off-site) will be approved as part of the Master Plan approval 

process. Infrastructure projects must receive a Jasper County Development 

Permit prior to construction. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

SITE LOCATION MAP 



hwhitfield
Image



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 
 

RECORDED PLAT 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 
 

FRESHWATER WETLANDS 

DELINEATION 





Upland Point 3

Upland Point 2

Upland Point 1

Esri, HERE, Garmin, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community,
Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

Greentree Land Management, LLC.
105 Wappoo Creek Drive, STE 4A

Charleston, SC 29412
(843) 830-5375 ®

Bellinger Debris Yard
Jasper County

Legend
Project Area - 26.75 AC
Property Boundary - 222 AC
Data Points

0 150 300 450 60075
Feet

No Wetlands were identified within the project area 
as defined by the USACE and SCDHEC- OCRM



Upland Point 3

Upland Point 2

Upland Point 1

Esri, HERE, Garmin, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community,
Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

Greentree Land Management, LLC.
105 Wappoo Creek Drive, STE 4A

Charleston, SC 29412
(843) 830-5375 ®

Bellinger Debris Yard
Jasper County

Legend
Project Area - 26.75 AC
Property Boundary - 222 AC
Data Points

0 150 300 450 60075
Feet

No Wetlands were identified within the project area 
as defined by the USACE and SCDHEC- OCRM





















 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D 

 
 

USDA SOILS DATA 



hwhitfield
Image



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E 

 
 

AERIAL SITE MAP 



hwhitfield
Image



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F 

 
 

USGS QUADRANGLE MAP 



hwhitfield
Image



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G 

 
 

FEMA MAP 



hwhitfield
Image



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX H 

 
 

CONCEPT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 



© 2024 Microsoft Corporation © 2024 Maxar ©CNES (2024) Distribution Airbus DS 

Established 1958

HUSSEY GAY  BELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DALY ORGANICS PDD ZONING PLAN JASPER COUNTY, SC DATE: MAY 21, 2024  SCALE: 1" = 300'

AutoCAD SHX Text
G R A P H I C   S C A L E

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,500'

AutoCAD SHX Text
750'

AutoCAD SHX Text
450'

AutoCAD SHX Text
600'

AutoCAD SHX Text
300'

AutoCAD SHX Text
150'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE HIGHLIGHTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 300'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL AREA = 223.7 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=5000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
1465 BELLINGER HILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL NO. 038-00-08-044

AutoCAD SHX Text
DALY ORGANICS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLINGER HILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLINGER HILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING TO REMAIN (RURAL PRESERVATION) 166.2 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ZONING TO REMAIN (RURAL PRESERVATION) 166.2 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (PDD)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING

AutoCAD SHX Text
*GENERAL COMMERCIAL WILL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH SCDHEC FOR  EXPANSION AND PURSUIT OF A SOLID WASTE CLASS II FACILITY PERMIT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORGANIC COMPOSTING / MULCHING EXISTING OPERATIONS & AREA  FOR EXPANSION  (GENERAL COMMERCIAL) 36.2 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORGANIC COMPOSTING / MULCHING EXISTING OPERATIONS & AREA  FOR EXPANSION  (GENERAL COMMERCIAL) 36.2 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 6.8 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAGGING PLANT PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 8.4 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 6.8 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAGGING PLANT PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 8.4 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 6.1 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLINGER HILL RUN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLINGER HILL RUN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHALMERS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHALMERS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. OKATIE HIGHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. OKATIE HIGHWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING RURAL PRESERVATION (RP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONING (GC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT (ID)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 6.1 ACRES



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX I 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 
 

The following is a Preliminary Development Schedule for Daly Organics PDD that is 

subject to change based on market conditions and other factors: 

 
Year General Commercial / Industrial Development 

1 Bagging Plant construction begins. 

2 Bagging Plant (Phase 1) production underway. Storage yard with 

stone base to be added for finished bag storage. 

3 Expansion of storage yard (Phase 2). 

4 Additional bagging machine installed for expansion of Bagging 

Plant (Phase 3). Additional expansion of the storage yard as part 

of this phase as well. 

5 100% complete expansion for Daly Organics. Remaining 

development for the Rural Preservation and Industrial 

Development uses to be determined. 

FUTURE T.B.D. 

 





 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF JASPER 

 
ORDINANCE O-2024-___ 

 

AN ORDINANCE 

OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

APPROVING A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE DALY 
ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY CONSISTING OF 
APPROXIMATELY 223 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OWNED BY 
BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC IN THE BELLINGER HILL AREA 
OF JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH 
CAROLINA LOCAL GOVERNMENT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ACT 
AND ARTICLE IV, TITLE 20 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
JASPER COUNTY, AND AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN OF JASPER 
COUNTY COUNCIL TO EXECUTE SAID DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

WHEREAS, the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, South 

Carolina Code of Laws, Title 6, Chapter 31 (1976, as amended) (the “Act”), authorizes 

local governments to enter into development agreements with a developer as therein 

defined; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County Council (“Council”), the governing body of Jasper County, 

South Carolina (the “County” has adopted Article IV, Title 20 of the Code of Ordinances 

of Jasper County governing Jasper County’s participation in development agreements 

(the “Ordinance”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC is the owner of certain lands suitable for 

development with Jasper County Tax Map Parcel Numbers 038-00-08-044, consisting 

of approximately 223 acres, more or less as more fully identified in the Development 

Agreement attached as Exhibit A (the “Development Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act and the Ordinance, the County is authorized to enter 

into binding development agreements with entities having legal or equitable interest in 

real property; and 

 



 

WHEREAS, the County and the Owner have now concluded their negotiations with 

respect to the terms for a development agreement for the real property subject to the 

Development Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County, acting through the terms of this Ordinance, has determined to 

accept the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement by and between the 

County and Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County has provided for and held the statutorily required public 

hearings, finds that the development agreement is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan for Jasper County, as amended, and that approval of the development agreement 

would be in the best interests of the County. 

   

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Jasper County Council in council 

duly assembled and by the authority of the same: 

 

1. The Development Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 

A, with such minor or grammatical changes as the Chairman of Jasper County Council 

shall approve upon the advice of the County Attorney and County Administrator, his 

execution of a definitive Development Agreement to be conclusive evidence of such 

approval, is hereby approved. 

 
 
2.  The Development Agreement, in substantially the same form attached hereto as 

Exhibit A, shall be executed by the Council Chairman and delivered on behalf of the 

County by the County Administrator, and the Clerk to Council is authorized to attest the 

signature of the Chairman of the Jasper County Council. The consummation of the 

transactions and undertakings described in the Development Agreement, and such 

additional transactions and undertakings as may be determined necessary by the 

County Administrator to be necessary to fully implement the Development Agreement 

are hereby approved.  

 



 

3. If any one or more of the provisions of this Ordinance should be contrary to law, 

then such provision shall be deemed severable from the remaining provisions, and 

shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this Ordinance. 

 
4. This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 
 
 
       JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
    
      By:  ______________________ 
        L. Martin Sauls, IV, Chairman 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
        
       ___________________________ 
       Wanda Giles, Clerk to Council 

 
 
 
First Reading:   
Second Reading:   
Public Hearings:    
Third Reading and Adoption:   

 
 

It is required that the Development Agreement be attached as Exhibit A prior to Second 
Reading. 
 
 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney: 
 
 
____________________   __________________ 
David Tedder     Date 
  



 

EXHIBIT A 
Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC Development Agreement 

Daly Organics Development  
 

  



 

 



AFTER RECORDING, PLEASE RETURN TO: 
RONALD T. SCOTT, ESQ. 
RSCOTT@HSBLAWFIRM.COM 
HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A. 
POST OFFICE BOX 11889 
COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA 29211 

 

PAGE 1 OF 27 

  
 
 
 
 
 
-------------------------------------------------(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING USE)-------------------------------------------------- 

SOUTH CAROLINA  ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
      ) DALY ORGANICS 
JASPER COUNTY    ) DEVELOPMENT 

This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered as of _____________ __, 2025 
(“Agreement Date”), by and among BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC, a South Carolina limited 
liability company (“Owner”), and JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (“County”), a body politic 
and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), each a “Party,” and 
collectively the “Parties.” 

R E C I T A L S 

WHEREAS, the Owner owns legal title to certain real property consisting of approximately  
223.7 +/- acres, located in the County with frontage on Bellinger Hill Road and Bellinger Hill Run, and 
known as the Daly Organics development and more fully described in Section 1.04 of this Agreement 
(“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the County has rezoned the Property a Planned Development District (“PDD”); and 

WHEREAS, the Owner and the County have determined that it is in the best interests of the County 
and the Owner to enter this Agreement to set forth the terms and conditions of the development to achieve 
a well-coordinated, master planned development, reasonably mitigate any project impacts to the community 
and achieve predictability to the County and the Owner on the scope and terms of the development; and 

WHEREAS, The Owner desires to obtain from the County in connection with the development, and 
County is willing to provide, assurances: (1) that the Property is zoned a PDD for the duration of this 
Agreement, (2) that at receipt of the Owner’s development and construction permits, the Owner may 
proceed with the planned development and construction, and (3) that the Development Rights (defined 
below) will be vested for the duration of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the proposed development, the Owner and the County recognize that 
the scope and term of the planned development under this Agreement accomplish the statutory aims of 
comprehensive, orderly planning and development in the County, thus providing benefits to the citizens of 
the County and providing public benefits through, among other things, the donation of funds or financing 
of those public facilities and services described and identified in this Agreement: 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being acknowledged by the parties, and 
pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, codified in South Carolina 
Code Annotated sections 6-31-10 through and including 6-31-160, as amended (collectively, “Act”) and 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 2 OF 27 

Jasper County Ordinance No. [] (“Ordinance No. []”), the parties to this Agreement, intending to be legally 
bound, agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
GENERAL 

Section 1.01. Incorporation. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement as if the recitals 
were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. The findings contained in the Act are incorporated into this 
Agreement as if it were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

Section 1.02. Definitions. 

(A) In addition to those vest pocket definitions contained throughout this Agreement, as used in this 
Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

(1) “County Council” means the governing body of Jasper County, South Carolina. 

(2) “Development Plan” means the Daly Organics Planned Development District and Concept 
Plan for development of the Property, including permitted uses, as set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

(3) “Development Rights” means the right of the Owner to develop all or part of the Property 
in accordance with this Agreement. 

(4) “Laws and Land Development Regulations” means the County’s applicable rules and 
regulations governing development of the Property as set forth on Exhibit E attached hereto. A copy of 
the Laws and Land Development Regulations, as of the Agreement Date, is on file in the Office of the 
Planning and Building Department for the County.  

(5) “Ordinance No. []” means Ordinance No. [] of County which is cited as the Development 
Agreement Ordinance for Jasper County, South Carolina. 

(6) “Property” means the land described in Exhibit A, attached hereto, and incorporated herein 
by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety.  

(7)  “UDO” means Ordinance No. [], as amended to be the most current adopted version on file 
with the County. 

(B) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement have 
the meanings set forth in the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

Section 1.03. Parties. The Parties to this Agreement are the County and the Owner. 

Section 1.04. Property. This Agreement applies to the land described in Exhibit A, attached hereto, 
and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety.  The 
Property is generally known as the Daly Organics development.  

Section 1.05. Zoning. The Property is currently zoned as Rural Preservation as set forth in Exhibit B 
attached hereto. 

Section 1.06. Permitted Uses.  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 3 OF 27 

(A) The Development Plan for the Property, including permitted uses, is set forth in Exhibit B, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety.  

(B) The UDO and this Agreement provide for the development uses on the Property, including 
development standards, allowed density, building intensities and height, as applicable. 

(C) All lots for the Development must meet all standards contained in this Agreement and if no specific 
standard is contained in this Agreement, then the standards contained in the UDO shall apply.  In the event 
of a conflict between the standards contained in the UDO and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement 
control.  

Section 1.07. Development Schedule. 

(A) The estimated development schedule for the Property is set forth on Exhibit C, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

(B) The County and the Owner acknowledge that the development schedule is an estimate. The failure 
of the Owner to meet a commencement or completion date does not, in and of itself, constitute a material 
breach of this Agreement, but must be judged based on the totality of the circumstances. The development 
schedule is a planning and forecasting tool only. The County and the Owner acknowledge that actual 
development is likely to take place at a different pace than set forth in the development schedule because 
of future market forces. 

(C) The County agrees that if the Owner requests an adjustment to the development schedule, including 
commencement dates and interim completion dates, then the dates must be modified if the Owner is able to 
demonstrate and establish that there is good cause to modify those dates. “Good cause” includes, but is not 
limited to, changes in market conditions. 

(D) Periodic adjustments to the development schedule do not require a formal amendment to this 
Agreement and are not considered a major modification. To adjust the development schedule, the Owner 
shall submit a proposed adjustment in writing, substantially in the form of Exhibit F attached hereto, to the 
Director of the Planning and Building Department for the County who shall forward copies of the proposed 
adjustment to each member of County Council. The proposed adjustment shall include an explanation and 
justification. The proposed adjustment shall become effective sixty (60) days from receipt by the Director 
of the Planning and Building Department for the County unless County Council has disapproved the 
proposed adjustment by adoption of a resolution to that effect within the sixty (60) day period.  

Section 1.08. Relationship of Parties. This Agreement creates a contractual relationship between the 
Parties. This Agreement is not intended to create, and does not create the relationship of partnership, joint 
venture, or any other relationship wherein any one of the parties may be held responsible for the acts of any 
other party. This Agreement is not intended to create and does not create a relationship whereby any one of 
the Parties may be rendered liable in any manner for the debts or obligations of any other party, to any 
person, firm, corporation, or entity whatsoever, whether the debt or obligation arises under this Agreement 
or outside of this Agreement. 

Section 1.09. Benefits and Burdens.  

(A) The Parties agree that the burdens of this Agreement are binding upon, and the benefits of this 
Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interests to the Parties to this Agreement. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 4 OF 27 

(B) Except for the owners and lessees of completed residences on individual lots who are the end users 
and not the Owners thereof and the owners and lessees of individual lots, who are not the Owners and who 
intend to build a residence on the lot for the owner or lessee to occupy, any purchaser or other successor in 
title is responsible for performance of the Owner’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement as to the portion 
of the Property so transferred. The Owner must give notice to County of the transfer of any portion or all of 
the Property to a Owner in the manner prescribed in Section 3.05 hereof. 

(C) The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it and its successors and assigns (i) are responsible for 
the development of the Property, and (ii) will develop the Property in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement.  It is the express intention of the Parties that the obligations of this Agreement 
are intended to run with the Property. If the Property is sold, either in whole or in party, and the Owner’s 
obligations are transferred to a purchaser or successor in title to the Property as provided herein and in 
Section 3.05 hereof, the Owner shall be relieved of any further liability for the performance of the Owner’s 
obligations as provided in this Agreement as it relates to the portion of the Property sold if the Owner is 
then current with its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.  

Section 1.10. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Agreement Date and terminate 
5 years thereafter as provided herein; provided, however that the Owner and the County may extend the 
Term of this Agreement or enter into subsequent development agreements upon mutual written consent to 
the extent permitted by the Act.  

The expiration of the Term of this Agreement shall have no effect on the validity or authority of any 
restrictive covenants except as may be specifically provided for therein.  

Section 1.11. Required Information. Ordinance No. [] requires a development agreement to include 
certain information. Exhibit D contains the required information or identifies where the information may 
be found in this Agreement. Exhibit D is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as if the 
exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of the County.  

(A) The County represents that it finds the development permitted by this Agreement is consistent with 
County’s comprehensive plan and Laws and Land Development Regulations.  

(B) The County has approved this Agreement by adoption of Ordinance No. _____-[] in accordance 
with the procedural requirements of the Act, Ordinance No. [] and any other applicable state law. 

(C) The County represents that prior to the final reading of Ordinance No. ________-[] that at least two 
(2) public hearings were held after publication of the required notice and the publication of a notice of intent 
to consider a proposed development agreement. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties of the Owner.  

(A) The Owner represents that the number of acres of highland contained in the Property is 
approximately 223.7 +/- acres. 

(B) The Owner represents that, as of the Agreement Date, it owns legal title to the Property. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 5 OF 27 

(C) The Owner represents and warrants that the execution, delivery, and performance by the respective 
individual or entity signing this Agreement on behalf of the Owner has been duly authorized and approved 
by all requisite action on the part of the Owner. 

ARTICLE III 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

Section 3.01. Vested Right to Develop.  

(A) The County agrees that the Owner, upon receipt of its development permits as identified in Section 
3.04 hereof, may proceed to develop the Property according to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
The right of the Owner to develop the Property as set forth in this Agreement is deemed vested with the 
Owner for the term of this Agreement when the Owner has complied with all requirements of Section 5.19 
of this Agreement.  

(B) The County agrees that the specific Laws and Land Development Regulations in force as of the 
Agreement Date as set forth in Exhibit E to this Agreement, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference as if the exhibit were set out in this Agreement in its entirety, shall govern all aspects of the 
development of the Property, according to the terms and standards as stated in this Agreement, for the term 
of this Agreement. 

(C) The Owner has a vested right to proceed with the development of the Property in accordance with 
the zoning classification set forth in Ordinance No. _______-[], the UDO and the terms of this Agreement 
when the Owner has complied with all the requirements of Section 5.19 of this Agreement.  

(D) Except as may be otherwise provided for in this Agreement, the Act or Ordinance No. ______-[], 
no future changes or amendments to the Laws and Land Development Regulations shall apply to the 
Property, and no other local land development legislative enactments shall apply to the development, the 
Property, or this Agreement which have a direct or indirect adverse effect on the ability of the Owner to 
develop the Property in accordance with the Laws and Land Development Regulations.  

(E) To the extent that this Agreement may contain zoning and development standards which conflict 
with existing zoning and development standards, including zoning and development standards contained in 
the UDO, the standards contained in this Agreement supersede all other standards and this Agreement is 
deemed controlling. 

Section 3.02. Effect on Vested Rights Act and County Ordinance No. []. The Parties agree that 
vested rights conferred upon the Owner in this Agreement are not affected by the provisions of the Vested 
Rights Act, codified as South Carolina Code Annotated Section 6-29-1510 through and including Section 
6-29-1560, as amended, or the provisions of Ordinance No. [], the County’s ordinance relating to the Vested 
Rights Act. 

Section 3.03. Applicability of Subsequently Adopted Laws and Land Development Regulations.  

(A) It is recognized that laws and regulations will periodically change. The County shall not enforce 
subsequently adopted laws and land development regulations on the development of the Property except in 
conformance with the procedures and provisions of Section 6-31-80(B) of the Act in effect as of the 
Effective Date.  

(B) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (A) of this Section, County agrees that if County 
imposes a moratorium or other similar restriction that would curtail or hinder the rate at which development 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 6 OF 27 

can occur, then the moratorium or other similar restriction shall not apply to the Development of the 
Property. No moratorium or schedule for allocation or approval of any development permits as set forth in 
Section 3.04 hereof, or any other subsequently adopted laws and land development regulations shall affect 
the rights and prerogatives of the Owner under this Agreement except in conformance with Section 5.02 
hereof. 

(C) The Owner agrees to comply with any county-wide storm water regulations, building, housing, 
electrical, plumbing, fire and gas codes adopted by County pursuant to the laws of South Carolina after the 
Agreement Date and in force at the time plans for buildings are submitted to the County for review. Nothing 
in this Agreement is intended to supersede or contravene the requirements of any storm water, building, 
housing, electrical, plumbing, fire or gas code adopted by the County. 

Section 3.04. Development Permits.  

(A) Notwithstanding this Agreement, the Owner shall obtain all local development permits for the 
development of the Property. Local development permits, approvals, and processes, some of which may 
have been obtained or complied with as of the Agreement Date, may include, but are not limited to: 

(1) Site Plan approval; 

(2) Preliminary plan approval; 

(3) Final plat approval; 

(4) Zoning permits; 

(5) Building permits; and 

(6) Sign permits. 

(B) With respect to the County’s review and processing of subdivision plats, development plan 
applications, grading permits, building permits, certificates of occupancy and other County permits, 
applications and approvals relating to the development of the Property (including dwellings and other 
improvements thereon), the County shall approve or reject (and, in the case of a rejection, provide feedback 
necessary for the Owner to resubmit any such submittals) within the time limitations as set forth in the 
County ordinances.  

Section 3.05. Transfer of Real Property and Assignment of Development Rights.  

(A) Nothing in this Agreement shall limit or constrain the Owner’s right to legally convey, sell, transfer, 
ground lease, or otherwise dedicate any portion or all of the Property or an interest therein to any other 
person, firm, corporation, or entity.  

(B)  The Owner may, at its sole discretion, transfer its Development Rights to other Owners or 
purchasers of the Property.  Together with any conveyance or transfer of interest in a portion or all of the 
Property, the Owner may assign any portion or all of its Development Rights and obligations under this 
Agreement to such transferee or grantee.  

The Owner may transfer any or all Development Rights and/or development obligations to any person, firm, 
corporation, or entity even in an absence of a transfer of portion of Property, and shall be entitled to effect 
a recording of an Assignment in accordance with this Section 3.05.  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 7 OF 27 

Any Owner shall be entitled to legally convey real property in accordance with this Agreement and to 
legally assign its Development Rights and/or development obligations in accordance with this Section 3.05 
in an instrument substantially in the Form of Assignment attached hereto as Exhibit G. 

(C) The recording requirement of an Assignment shall not apply to (i) any mortgage lender either as the 
result of foreclosure of any mortgage secured by any portion of the Property or any other transfer in lieu of 
foreclosure; (ii) any third party purchaser at such a foreclosure; or (iii) any third party purchaser of such 
mortgage lender’s interest subsequent to the mortgage lender’s acquiring ownership of any portion of the 
Property as set forth above. Any such mortgage lender or subsequent purchaser shall be bound by the 
development obligations and be a beneficiary of the Development Rights as the Owner successor in title to 
the Owner. 

(D) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Owner shall have the right to 
manage its corporate affairs in such manner that may cause another person, firm, corporation, or entity, 
including without limitation, the Owner’s subsidiaries and affiliates, to assume some or all of the Owner’s 
Development Rights and/or development obligations pursuant to this Agreement (the “Assumption”).  

Section 3.06. Allowed Density. The allowed density for the Property shall be as set forth in this 
Agreement. The location of land uses as set forth in Exhibit B may be adjusted and transferred within the 
Property by the Owner, at its sole discretion. An adjustment and/or transfer of the location of land uses shall 
not be deemed a minor modification or major modification of this Agreement, described in Section 5.02 of 
this Agreement.  

 

ARTICLE IV 
DEDICATIONS AND FEES AND RELATED AGREEMENTS 

Section 4.01. Purpose of Article. The Parties understand and agree that Development of the Property 
imposes certain burdens and costs on the County, including those for certain services and infrastructure 
improvements. Eventually, ad valorem taxes collected from the Property may, but are not necessarily 
guaranteed to, meet, or exceed the burdens and costs placed on the County, but certain initial costs and 
capital expenditures are now required that are not to be funded by any increase in taxes paid by existing 
residents of the County. The purpose of this article is to identify the matters agreed upon to be provided by 
the Owner to mitigate such burdens and costs. 

Section 4.02. [RESERVED] 

Section 4.03. Other Charges or Fees. 

(A) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as relieving the Owner from the payment of any fees 
or charges in effect at the time of collection as may be assessed by entities other than the County.  

(B) The Property shall be subject to development and/or permit fees enacted by the County that are in 
effect on the Agreement Date, of County-wide application and that relate to the County’s costs of processing 
applications, issuing development permits, reviewing plans, conducting inspections, or similar type 
processing costs. The property shall not be subject to any additional development and/or permit fees enacted 
by the County after the Agreement Date, however characterized. 

Section 4.04. Infrastructure and Services. The Parties recognize that most of the direct costs 
associated with the Development of the Property will be borne by the Owner, and many necessary 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 8 OF 27 

infrastructure improvements and services will be provided by the Owner or other governmental or quasi-
governmental entities, and not by the County. For clarification, the Parties make specific note of and 
acknowledge the following:  

(A) Roads. The Owner is responsible for the construction and costs of all roads, whether for public or 
private use, within the Property including but not limited to any necessary entrance and intersection 
improvements as required by the County related to the development of the Property. The Owner shall 
dedicate and convey public roads within the Property to the County, and the County shall accept such 
dedication, pursuant to the County’s road dedication and acceptance process.  Thereafter, the County shall 
assume maintenance responsibility for such roads. All roads must be constructed in accordance with the 
County’s road standards. The road improvements are expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent 
with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary to serve 
the development. The Owner is also responsible for maintenance of all roads that are not public roads. The 
Owner acknowledges that the County will only accept and maintain as public roads those roads constructed 
in full compliance with the UDO and providing connectivity to the County road system or serving as a 
necessary component for the proper development of the County road system. The County will not accept 
private roads within the Property into the County road system for any other purpose, including, but not 
limited to, maintenance. The Owner may transfer the ownership of the roads and its obligations for the roads 
to a homeowners’ or property owners’ association or similar organization. 

(B) Potable Water. Potable water will be supplied to the Property by a we;;. The Owner will construct, 
or cause to be constructed, all necessary water service infrastructure within the Property and the water 
service infrastructure will be maintained by the Owner. The County is not responsible for any construction, 
treatment, maintenance, or costs associated with water service or water service infrastructure to or within 
the Property. The water service infrastructure is expected to be implemented on a schedule consistent with 
the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and as necessary to serve the 
development.  

(C) Sewage Treatment and Disposal. Sewage treatment and disposal will be supplied to the Property 
by private septic system. The Owner will construct, or cause to be constructed, all necessary sewage 
treatment and disposal service infrastructure within the Property and the sewage treatment and disposal 
service infrastructure will be maintained by the Owner. The County is not responsible for any construction, 
treatment, maintenance, or costs associated with sewage treatment and disposal service and/or infrastructure 
to or within the Property. The sewage treatment and disposal service infrastructure is expected to be 
implemented on a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development 
schedule and as necessary to serve the development.  

(D) Storm Water Management. The Owner will construct or cause to be constructed all storm water 
runoff and drainage improvements within the Property required by the development of the Property. The 
County is not responsible for any construction, maintenance or costs associated with the storm water runoff 
and drainage for the Property. The applicable requirements and standards for all storm water management 
improvements shall be the more stringent of either the requirements and standards contained in the Laws 
and Land Development regulations as may be modified pursuant to Section 5.02 hereof or the requirements 
and standards established by the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control or its 
successor agency.  The County shall accept into its storm water management system and maintain all 
drainage system components within easements and rights-of-way that are constructed according to the 
requirements set forth herein. Storm water management improvements are expected to be implemented on 
a schedule consistent with the development of the Property as contained in the development schedule and 
as necessary to serve the development. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 9 OF 27 

(E) Solid Waste Collection. The County shall provide solid waste collection to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses in the County. It is understood and acknowledged 
that the County does not presently provide solid waste disposal for single, multi-family or commercial 
developments.  

(F) Recycling Services.  The County shall provide recycling services to the Property on the same basis 
as is provided to other residents and businesses within the County. It is understood and acknowledged that 
the County does not presently provide recycling services for single, multi-family or commercial 
developments.  

(G) Law Enforcement Protection Services. The County shall provide law enforcement protection 
services to the Property on the same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses within the County.  

(H) Emergency Medical Services (EMS). The County shall provide emergency medical services to 
the Property on the same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses within the County. 

(I)  Fire Services. The Property is located in the ______________________ Fire Service District and 
fire services will be provided by the Levy Fire Department, or its successor entities.  

(J)  Library Services. The County shall provide library services to the Property on the same basis as is 
provided to other residents and businesses within the County. 

(K) Parks and Recreation Services. The County shall provide parks and recreation services to the 
Property on the same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses within the County. 

(L) School Services. Public school services are now provided by the Jasper County School District. 
The Owner acknowledges that the County has no authority or responsibility for providing public school 
services in the County. 

  

ARTICLE V 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 5.01. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be provided 
under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective (i) when delivered to the party named below, 
(ii) when deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid, or (iii) when deposited in Federal Express (or any other reputable national “next day” delivery 
service) addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously 
furnished in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of 
any notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

To The Owner:  Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC 
Attn: Madison Daly 

   1465 Bellinger Hill Road 
Hardeeville, SC 29927 

  
 With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
   Attn:  Ron Scott, Esq. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 10 OF 27 

   1201 Main Street (hand delivery/courier service) 
   P.O. Box 11889 
   Columbia, South Carolina 29201 

To County:  Jasper County, South Carolina 
Attn: County Administrator 

   358 Third Avenue (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

With a Copy to (does not constitute notice): 

Jasper County, South Carolina 
Attn: County Attorney 

   358 Third Avenue (hand delivery/courier service) 
   Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

 
Section 5.02. Amendments.  

(A) This Agreement may not be amended or cancelled in whole or in part except upon mutual consent 
of the County and the Owner. An amendment to this Agreement must be in writing. No statement, action 
or agreement made after the Agreement Date shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, discharge, 
terminate or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such statement, action or 
agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom the change, amendment, waiver, modification, 
discharge, termination, or abandonment is sought to be enforced.  

(B) Any minor modifications of this Agreement, enumerated in Section 5.02(D) hereof, may be made 
without a public hearing and shall constitute an amendment of this Agreement upon mutual written consent 
of the County and the Owner. Any major modifications of this Agreement, enumerated in Section 5.02(D) 
hereof, shall constitute an amendment of this Agreement and may occur only pursuant to the public notice 
and hearing requirements of the Act.  

(C) This Agreement must be modified or suspended as may be necessary to comply with any state or 
federal laws or regulations enacted after the Agreement Date which prevents or precludes compliance with 
one or more of the provisions of this Agreement but only to the extent necessary to effectuate compliance 
with the state or federal law. 

(D) Minor and Major Modification of the Development Agreement. The Parties recognize that periodic 
modifications to the Development Plan may be needed to address market conditions, environmental 
challenges, and other elements. The following will outline what is considered a minor modification and a 
major modification to this Agreement and the processes for a minor modification and major modification 
to this Agreement.  

a. Minor Modifications: The Director of the Planning and Building Department for the 
County shall have the authority to administratively approve a minor modification to this 
Agreement. The following modifications, adjustment, and clarifications shall constitute 
minor modifications to this Agreement:  

i. Correction of any typographic or scrivener’s error.  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 11 OF 27 

ii. Minor adjustments to the site layout set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto caused 
by environmental features, adaptations to comply with regulatory requirements, 
and other changes considered incidental by County staff. 

iii. Dimensional adjustments that are within ten percent (10%) of the dimensional 
requirements set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and/or dimensional adjustments 
that are within ten percent (10%) of the dimensional requirements as set forth in 
other applicable County codes or ordinances, as approved by the Director of the 
Planning and Building Department for the County.  

iv. Recording of any subsequent laws or regulations enforceable pursuant to the public 
hearing provisions of Section 6-31-80(B) of the Act.  

v. Recording of modification in the addressee provisions of Section 5.01 of this 
Agreement.  

vi. Recording of any instruments or documentation to evidence any act permissible or 
regulated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, where the Agreement does not 
specifically provide for the recording of such instruments or documentation.  

vii. Adjustments to the development schedule set forth in Exhibit C, including 
commencement dates and interim completion dates, as requested by the Owner.  

b. Major Modifications: major modifications are those that do not qualify as a minor 
modification. Major modifications must be processed and considered in the same manner 
as set forth in the Act.  

Section 5.03. Periodic Review. At least every twelve (12) months, the Director of the Planning and 
Building Department for the County, or his or her designee, must review compliance with this Agreement 
by the Owner. At the time of review the Owner must demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of 
the Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Breach of Agreement. 

(A) If, as a result of the periodic review provided in Section 5.03 of this Agreement or at any other time, 
the Director of the Planning and Building Department for the County finds and determines that the Owner 
has committed a breach of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, then the Director of the Planning and 
Building Department for the County shall serve notice in writing, within a reasonable time after the periodic 
review, on the Owner setting forth with reasonable particularity the nature of the breach and the information 
supporting the determination, and providing the Owner sixty (60) days in which to cure or rectify said 
breach or account for those obligations pursuant to this Agreement that have a material effect on the ability 
of the Owner to cure such breach. 

(B) If the Owner fails to cure the breach within sixty (60) days, or if the breach cannot be cured within 
such 60-day period and the Owner does not commence to cure the breach within such 60-day period, and 
thereafter diligently pursue the same to completion, then the County Council may unilaterally terminate or 
modify this Agreement; provided, that prior to terminating or modifying this Agreement as provided in this 
section, County Council must first give the Owner the opportunity (i) to rebut the finding and determination, 
or (ii) to consent to amend the Agreement to meet the County Council’s concerns with respect to the 
determination. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 12 OF 27 

Section 5.05. Enforcement. The Parties shall each have the right to enforce the terms, provisions, and 
conditions of this Agreement, if not cured within the applicable cure period, by any remedy available at law 
or in equity, including specific performance, and the right to recover attorney’s fees and costs associated 
with enforcement. 

Section 5.06. No Third-Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement may be enforced only 
by the Parties and their successors and assigns. No other persons, natural or corporate, shall have any rights 
hereunder. 

Section 5.07. Recording of Agreement. The Parties agree that the Owner shall record this Agreement 
with the County Clerk of Court within fourteen (14) days after the date of execution of this Agreement. 

Section 5.08. Administration of Agreement. The County is the only local government that is a party 
to this Agreement and the County is responsible for the Agreement’s administration. 

Section 5.09. Effect of Annexation and Incorporation. The Parties agree that this Agreement remains 
in effect if the Property is, in whole or in part, included in a newly-incorporated municipality or annexed 
into a municipality. The Parties acknowledge that upon incorporation or annexation the application and 
duration of this Agreement is controlled by section 6-31-110 of the Act. The County reserves the right to 
enter into an agreement with the newly incorporated municipality or the annexing municipality for the 
administration and enforcement of this Agreement after the date of incorporation or annexation. 

Section 5.10. Estoppel Certificate. Any of the Parties may, at any time, and from time to time, deliver 
written notice to the other party requesting the party to certify in writing: (i) that this Agreement is in full 
force and effect, (ii) that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so amended, identifying 
the amendments, and (iii) whether, to the knowledge of the party, without inquiry, the requesting party is 
in default or claimed default in the performance of its obligation under this Agreement, and, if so, describing 
the nature and amount, if any, of any such default or claimed default, and (iv) whether, to the knowledge of 
the party, without inquiry, any event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the 
giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event.  

Section 5.11. Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference all the 
agreements, conditions, and understandings among the Parties relative to the Property and its Development 
and there are no promises, agreements, conditions, or understandings, oral or written, expressed or implied, 
among the Parties relative to the matters addressed in this Agreement other than as set forth or as referred 
to in this Agreement. 

Section 5.12. Covenant to Sign Other Documents. The County and the Owner acknowledge that 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may require the execution 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement and thereafter of certain documents in addition to 
this Agreement, and the County and the Owner agree to cooperate with the execution thereof. 

Section 5.13. Construction of Agreement. The Parties agree that each party and its counsel have 
reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to 
be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any 
amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 5.14. Assignment. The rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this 
Agreement on or to the Owner are assignable to any other person, firm, corporation, or entity except that 
the assignment must conform to the requirements of Section 1.09 and Section 3.05 hereof. The County may 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 13 OF 27 

assign its rights, obligations, duties, and responsibilities devolved by this Agreement on or to the County to 
any other person, firm, corporation, or entity. 

Section 5.15. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; and Venue.  

(A) This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

(B) The Parties agree that jurisdiction and venue for disputes relating to this Agreement is the 14th 
Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.16. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts in original, 
facsimile, or electronic means, provided such means of execution are sufficient for recording, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.17. Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair, or restrict the 
County’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State of South Carolina. 

Section 5.18. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be void by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected and shall remain in full force 
and effect. However, if any invalid provision would prevent or materially impair the Owner’s right or ability 
to complete performance of this Agreement, the Parties agree to use their best efforts to renegotiate such 
provision(s) in order for the Owner to complete performance of this Agreement.   

Section 5.19. When Agreement takes Effect. This Agreement is dated as of the Agreement Date and 
takes effect when (i) the County and the Owner have each executed the Agreement, and (ii) the Owner has 
delivered to the County Administrator clocked-in copies of the recorded Agreement. If the County 
Administrator has not received clocked-in copies of the Agreement within ten (10) business days after 
recording the Agreement with the Jasper County Clerk of Court, then this Agreement is automatically 
terminated without further action of either the County or the Owner. The obligation of the Owner pursuant 
to section 4.02 hereof is effective on the date the last Party to sign this Agreement executes this Agreement 
and the obligations imposed on the Owner pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof survives the termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to this Section 5.19. 

  
[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES AND [] EXHIBITS FOLLOW] 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 14 OF 27 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the first date written 
above. 

WITNESSES:      THE OWNER: 

       BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC, 
       A South Carolina Limited Liability Company  
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Madison Daly 
       Its: 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
     )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF     ) 

[_______________________________], who personally appeared before me and proved to me through 
government-issued photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and 
delivery of the within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as 
his/her own free act and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of South Carolina 

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 15 OF 27 

WITNESSES:      COUNTY: 

       JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
       a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
 
Name: 

              
Name:       By: Andrew P. Fulghum 
       Its: County Administrator 

[COUNTY SEAL] 

Attest: 

       
Wanda Simmons 
Clerk to County Council 

SOUTH CAROLINA   ) 
     )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
JASPER COUNTY   ) 

Andrew P. Fulghum, who personally appeared before me and proved to me through government-issued 
photo identification to be the above-named person and acknowledged the execution and delivery of the 
within name Development Agreement and that s/he executed and delivered the same as his/her own free act 
and deed. 

Dated:              

Notary Public for the State of South Carolina 

My commission expires:     
[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 16 OF 27 

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

 
Jasper County Tax Map#: 038-00-08-044 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 17 OF 27 

EXHIBIT B 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

1. Daly Organics Planned Development District and Concept Plan: The Daly Organics Planned 
Development District and Concept Plan, which is attached hereto as Exhibit B-1, incorporated by reference, 
and made a part hereof, shall serve as the general guide for the location of roads, buildings, and other 
development features and land uses. The Property shall be generally developed consistent with the approved 
Development Plan and associated exhibits unless otherwise modified consistent with the terms of the 
Agreement. 

2. Zoning District: The Property is in the Planned Development District and shall be developed 
consistent with the provisions of the applicable zoning restrictions/requirements unless otherwise specified 
in the Agreement. 

3. Permitted Uses: As set forth in “Section II – Land Use” of Exhibit B-1, the Property shall be 
permitted to include allowed land uses of the following zoning districts established in the Jasper County 
Zoning Ordinance and Land Development Regulations: Rural Preservation, General Commercial, and 
Industrial Development. Excluded land uses are set forth in “Section II – Land Use” of Exhibit B-1. The 
permitted location and development standards for all said uses on the Property shall be identified on the 
approved Development Plan, provided that the Owner, at its sole discretion, shall have the sole right and 
discretion to adjust the location of said uses at the Property.  

4. Excluded Uses: Excluded land uses are set forth in “Section II – Land Use” of Exhibit B-1.   

5. Dimensional Requirements: The Property shall comply with the dimensional requirements (i.e., 
building setbacks, height, and related provisions) specified in the Development Plan.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 18 OF 27 

EXHIBIT C 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

This estimated Development Schedule is subject to update according to Section 1.07 of the Agreement. 
Within one year after the Agreement Date, the Owner anticipates beginning environmental assessments, 
site development studies, and/or plan development for the Property. Subject to approval by the County of 
development plans and permits, which approval the County agrees that it will not unreasonably withhold, 
the Owner anticipates beginning construction at the Property within one years after the Agreement Date. 
Consistent with the long-term approach to planning and developing the Property, the County and the Owner 
anticipate the following interim completion dates for development of the Property pursuant to the 
Agreement.  

Year  Percentage Completed  

    1  20% 

    2  40% 

    3  60% 

    4  80% 

    5  100% 

For the limited purpose of this Exhibit C only, the Development of any portion of the Property shall be 
deemed completed upon the approval of a development permit for such portion.  

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 19 OF 27 

EXHIBIT D 
REQUIRED INFORMATION 

The Act and Ordinance No. [] require a development agreement to include certain information. The 
following information is provided in conformance with the Act and Ordinance No. []. 

(A) a legal description of the property subject to the agreement and the names of the property’s legal 
and equitable owners. The legal description of the Property is set forth in Exhibit A. As of the Agreement 
Date, Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC, is the legal and equitable owner of the Property. 

(B) the duration of the agreement which must comply with section 6-31-40 of the Act. See Section 1.10. 

(C) a representation by the Owner of the number of acres of highland contained in the property subject 
to the agreement. See Section 2.02. 

(D) the then current zoning of the property and a statement, if applicable, of any proposed re-zoning of 
the property. See Section 1.05.  

(E) the development uses that would be permitted on the property pursuant to the agreement, including 
population densities, building intensities, and height. See Section 1.06 and Exhibit B. 

(F) a description of the public facilities that will service the development, including who provides the 
facilities, the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed, and a schedule to assure public facilities 
are available concurrent with the impacts of the development construction timeline for those facilities. If 
the agreement provides that the County shall provide certain public facilities, the agreement shall provide 
that the delivery date of the public facilities will be tied to defined completion percentages or other defined 
performance standards to be met by the Owner. See Article IV. 

(G) a description, where appropriate, of any reservation or dedication of land for public purposes and 
any provisions to protect environmentally sensitive property as may be required or permitted pursuant to 
laws in effect at the time of entering into the agreement. See Section 4.04.  The Owner shall comply with 
all applicable environmental laws. 

(H) a description of all local development permits approved or needed to be approved for the 
development of the property together with a statement indicating that the failure of the agreement to address 
a particular permit, condition, term, or restriction does not relieve the Owner of the necessity of complying 
with the law governing the permitting requirements, conditions, terms, or restrictions. See Section 3.04. 

(I) a finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent or will be consistent by the time 
of execution of the Agreement, with the County’s comprehensive plan and land development regulations. 
See Section 2.01(A). 

(J) a description, where appropriate, of any provisions for the preservation and restoration of historic 
structures. The Owner shall comply with all laws applicable to the preservation and restoration of historic 
structures within the Property. 

(K) a development schedule including commencement dates and interim completion dates at no greater 
than five-year intervals. See Section 1.07 and Exhibit C. 

(L) if more than one local government is made party to the agreement, a provision stating which local 
government is responsible for the overall administration of the agreement. See Section 5.08. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 20 OF 27 

(M) a listing of the laws and land development regulations that will apply to the development of the 
property subject to the agreement, including citation to specific ordinance numbers, portions of the County 
Code of Ordinances, or both. See Section 3.01(B) and Exhibit E. 

(N) a provision, consistent with section 6-31-80 of the Act, addressing the circumstances under which 
laws and land development regulations adopted after the execution of the agreement apply to the property 
subject to the agreement. See Section 3.03. 

(O) a provision stating whether the agreement continues to apply to the property or portions of it that 
are annexed into a municipality or included in a newly incorporated area and, if so, that the provisions of 
section 6-31-110 of the Act apply. See Section 5.09. 

(P) a provision relating to the amendment, cancellation, modification, or suspension of the Agreement. 
See Section 5.02. 

(Q) a provision for periodic review, consistent with the Act. See Section 5.03. 

(R) a provision addressing the effects of a material breach of the agreement, consistent with the 
provisions of Ordinance No. []. See Section 5.04. 

(S) a provision that the Owner, within 14 days after the County executes the Agreement, will record the 
Agreement with County Clerk of Court. See Section 5.07. 

(T) a provision that the burdens of the Agreement are binding on, and the benefits of the Agreement 
shall inure to, the County and the Owner. See Section 1.09(A). 

(U) a provision addressing the conditions and procedures by which the Agreement may be assigned, if 
applicable. See Section 1.09(B), Section 3.05, and Section 5.14. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 21 OF 27 

EXHIBIT E 
LAWS AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

1. Ordinance No. _________, zoning the Property as a Planned Development District. 

2. Ordinance No. _________, approving this Development Agreement. 

3. Ordinance No. _________, the Development Agreement Ordinance. 

4. Unified Development Ordinance of Jasper County: Ordinance No. [], as amended as of the 
Agreement Date (“UDO”). The UDO includes Ordinance No. [], as amended, as of the Agreement Date 
and which is cited as the Land Development Regulations of Jasper County. A copy of the UDO has been 
signed by the Parties and is on file in the office of County Planning Department.  

5. Land Development Regulations of Jasper County: See Unified Development Ordinance of Jasper 
County. 

6. Article [], Chapter [], Jasper County Code of Ordinances [] [] []. 

[NOTHING SUBSTANTIVE FOLLOWS ON THIS PAGE] 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 22 OF 27 

Exhibit F 
Form Request to Modify Development Schedule 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ADDENDUM 
 ) TO 
COUNTY OF JASPER ) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ADDENDUM TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is made effective 
on the 

[insert recording date of Addendum] 

, by Jasper County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and Bellinger Hill Properties, 
LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company, or its successor or assign. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC, a South Carolina limited liability company 
(the “Property Owner”), is a party to that certain Development Agreement with JASPER COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), effective date of ______________, 2025, recorded on 
______________, 2025 in the office of Jasper County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ (the 
“Development Agreement”); and 

[if applicable, insert successor or assign of Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC as  
Owner pursuant to an Assignment] 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real property 
situate in Jasper County, South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real property attached to 
the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement establishes a vested 
right in a Development Schedule, together with commencement, interim completion, and completion dates 
for development of the Property in accordance with the terms of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, without limitation, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement provides that the 

[insert either Property Owner or Owner] 

(hereinafter the “Petitioner”) may request a modification in the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of 
the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement further provides that where the 
Petitioner demonstrates that there is good cause to modify the Development Schedule, the County shall 
approve such request within 60 days of its submittal, and that such modification shall not constitute or 
require an amendment of the Development Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Petitioner has requested and the County has approved a modification in the 
Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development Agreement as more specifically set forth herein 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 23 OF 27 

below with respect to the portion of the Property more specifically identified in the legal description 
attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Addendum Property”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Petitioner desires to execute and record this Addendum to the 
Development Agreement to modify the Development Schedule of Section 1.07. of the Development 
Agreement as follows: 

1. Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. The Development Schedule for the 
Addendum Property shall hereby be modified as follows: 

[insert description of the proposed modification, including a proposed schedule for the submittal of 
the Development Applications consistent with the proposed modification] 

2. Approval by County. This modification of the Development Schedule for the Addendum 
Property has been approved by the County as evidenced by the Planning and Zoning Director’s signature 
and insignia imprinted below. This approval constitutes a finding by the County that the Petitioner has 
demonstrated good cause to modify the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property. 

  
[insert name] Director of Planning and Building  
Director of Planning and Building Dated Stamp of Approval 
Jasper County 

3. Effect of Modification of Development Phasing Schedule. Except as specifically modified in 
this Addendum with respect to the Development Schedule for the Addendum Property, no other 
modification or amendment of the Development Agreement shall be effected by the recording of this 
Addendum, and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This 
Addendum shall be binding upon the County, the Petitioner, its successors and assigns, and shall run with 
the title to the Addendum Property. 

4. Recording Required. This Addendum shall be recorded by the Petitioner within fourteen (14) 
days of the date of County’s approval herein below. The modification of the Development Schedule shall 
be effective upon the recording of this Addendum, and this Addendum as recorded shall constitute 
conclusive evidence of the same. 

5. Authority. The Petitioner represents and warrants that this Addendum has been duly authorized 
by all necessary corporate action. 

[insert Section 6. only if Petitioner is not [ORIGINAL OWNER NAME] or its  
successor in corporate interest] 

6. Consent by Property Owner. The undersigned Property Owner hereby consents to the 
modification of the Development Phasing Schedule for the Addendum Property: 

  



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: __________________, 2025 

 

PAGE 24 OF 27 

 

Witness: Property Owner: 
  
    
Print Name:   By:   
 Print Name:   
  Its:   
Print Name:     

 
 
 
STATE OF   

COUNTY OF   

Personally appeared before me the undersigned witness who being duly sworn deposes and says 
that he/she saw the within named _______________, (name), the _______________ (title) of 
_______________ (Property Owner), _______________ (corporate form), sign, and as its act and deed 
deliver the foregoing instrument for the uses and purposes therein mentioned, and that he/she, together with 
_______________ (witness #2), the other witness subscribed above, witnessed the execution thereof. 

Sworn to before me this   
day of ________________, 20____ 
    
Notary Public for   (Witness #1 sign here) 
County, State of    

My Commission Expires:   

[NOTARIAL STAMP-SEAL] 

 

[Insert Signature Pages for Petitioner] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 

 



 

PAGE 25 OF 27 

Exhibit G 
Form Assignment 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION 
 ) OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS  
 ) AND OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO 
COUNTY OF JASPER ) A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
AND OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Assignment”) is made 
effective on the 

[insert date of Assignment] 

, by 
[insert name of assignor] 

, (the “Assignor”), and 
[insert name of assignee] 

, (the “Assignee”), (collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC, a South Carolina limited liability 
company, is a party to that certain Development Agreement with JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, effective date of ________________, 2025, recorded on ________________, 2025 in the 
office of Jasper County Clerk of Court in Book _____, Page _____ (the “Development Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement is appurtenant to and runs with that certain real property 
situate in Jasper County, State of South Carolina, as set forth on a legal description of the real property 
attached to the Development Agreement as Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Development Agreement establishes certain vested Development Rights and 
development obligations as more specifically set forth therewith; and 

WHEREAS, Section 3.05. of the Development Agreement authorizes the conveyance, sale, 
transfer, ground lease, and other dedications by Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC, and its successors and 
assigns of any portion or all of the Property, and Sections 3.05 and 5.14. of the Development Agreement 
authorizes the Assignment by Bellinger Hill Properties, LLC, and its successors and assigns, of any portion 
or all of its Development Rights and/or development obligations to such transferee or grantee; and 

[insert interim conveyances and assignments, if any] 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: ______________, 2025 

PAGE 26 OF 27 

WHEREAS, on 

[insert date of contract to sell and purchase a portion or all of the Property] 

Assignor and Assignee entered into a contract to sell and purchase that portion of the Property as more 
specifically set forth in the legal description attached hereto as Attachment A (the “Assignment Property”); 
and 

WHEREAS, in consideration of Assignor’s agreement to convey the Assignment Property to 
Assignee, Assignee has agreed to assume those certain development obligations under the Development 
Agreement appurtenant to the Assignment Property as more specifically set forth herein below; and 

WHEREAS, in consideration of Assignee’s agreement to acquire the Assignment Property, 
Assignor has agreed to assign to Assignee those certain Development Rights under the Development 
Agreement appurtenant to the Assignment Property as more specifically set forth herein below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Assignment and Assumption of Development Rights. Assignor hereby assigns to 
Assignee, and Assignee hereby assumes from Assignor, those certain Development Rights as specifically 
set forth herein: 

[insert assigned Development Rights] 

2. Retained Development Rights. Assignor retains any and all Development Rights not 
specifically assigned to Assignee herein above, including without limitation: 

[insert retained Development Rights] 

3. Assignment and Assumption of Development Obligations. Assignor hereby assigns to 
Assignee and Assignee hereby assumes from Assignor those certain development obligations as specifically 
set forth herein: 

[insert assigned development obligations] 

4. Retained Development Obligations. Assignor retains the following development 
obligations: 

[insert retained development obligations] 

5. Release; Indemnity. Assignee hereby releases Assignor and its successors and assigns 
(other than Assignee and its affiliates, successors and assigns) from any and all liability in connection with 
the performance of any of the development obligations and the exercise of any Development Rights as 
specifically set forth herein above. Assignee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Assignor and its 
members, managers, officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, from and against all losses, fines, 
penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, 
reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ fees) arising in any manner, directly or indirectly, out of or by reason 
of the development obligations and Development Rights as specifically set forth hereinabove. This 
indemnification shall survive the execution and delivery of this Assignment and the closing of the sale of 
the Assignment Property to Assignee. 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
DALY ORGANICS DEVELOPMENT 

BELLINGER HILL PROPERTIES, LLC 
EFFECTIVE: ______________, 2025 

PAGE 27 OF 27 

6. Severability. If any provision of this Assignment shall be held to be invalid or 
unenforceable, then the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby. 

7. Notice to Jasper County. Assignor covenants and agrees for the benefit of Assignee that, 
to the full extent required under the Development Agreement, Assignor shall, prior to or contemporaneously 
with the making hereof, comply with all requirements of the Development Agreement regarding notice of 
Assignment to Jasper County. Pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Development Agreement, Assignee shall 
have the obligation to record this executed Assignment with the Jasper County Clerk of Court, together 
with the recording of the instrument transferring an interest in the Assignment Property to Assignee. 

8. Binding Effect. This Assignment shall be binding upon the Parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns and shall run with the title to the Property. 

9. Authority. The undersigned Parties each represent and warrant that this Assignment has 
been duly authorized by all necessary company action. 

10. Counterparts. This Assignment may be signed in one or more counterparts which, 
together, shall constitute one agreement. 

[Insert Signature Pages] 

[Insert Attachment A: Legal Description of Assignment Property] 





Jasper County Land Development Regulations– Article 2.1.1 Exempt Subdivision 

Jasper County  

Planning and Building Services 
 

358 Third Avenue  -  Post Office Box 1659 

Ridgeland, South Carolina  29936 

Phone (843) 717-3650   Fax (843) 726-7707 

 

        

Lisa Wagner, CFM 
Director of Planning and Building Services 

lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov  

 

Jasper Planning Commission 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: December 2, 2024 

Project: Text Amendment – Jasper County Land Development Regulations, 

Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision 

Submitted For: 1st Reading  

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends approval  

 

Description: The intent of this ordinance is to amend the Jasper County Land Development 

Regulations, Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision, limiting the number of parcels that can be 

subdivided using the State’s exemptions for parcels that are 5 acres and greater, where each parcel 

abuts an existing road right-of-way or access easement that was in existence prior to January 

2018. Currently, there is no limit on the number of parcels that can be subdivided from a single 

parcel of land using the State’s exemption. Over the last few years, Jasper County has received 

several exempt subdivisions that have created anywhere from 10 – 26 lots, subdividing 100 plus 

acres, with no community facilities, sidewalks, and other things that should be provided for a 

subdivision.  

 

Analysis: Jasper County Land Development Regulations, Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision 

states, “the division of land into parcels of five acres or more where each parcel abuts an 

existing road right-of-way or access easement recorded prior to January 1, 2018.” The State’s 

exemption states, “the division of land into parcels of five acres or more where no new street is 

involved, and plats of these exceptions must be received as information by the planning agency 

which shall indicate that fact on the plats.”  

 

The proposed amendment seeks to limit the number of parcels that can be subdivided from a 

single parcel of land using the State’s exemption to 4 parcels. Also, to define an existing street 

and existing easement. As amended, Article 2.1.1.b would read as follows: 

 

Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision - An exempt subdivision is one which meets one of the 

following definitions and are included only for the purpose of requiring notification and 

information to the authorized designee of the Planning Commission, the DSR. The DSR shall 

be notified by the owner about the exemption, and the plat shall be recorded with the 

Register of Deeds identifying the exemption from the County’s subdivision standards.  

 

mailto:lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov


Jasper County Land Development Regulations– Article 2.1.1 Exempt Subdivision 

a. The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the total 

number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the standards of this 

Ordinance; or  

 

b. The division of land into parcels of five acres or more where each parcel abuts an 
existing road right-of-way or access easement recorded prior to January 1, 2018. 

  The division of land into Parcels of five acres or more, where no new Street or Easement is 

involved provided, that out of any single tract of land, parcel of lot of land existing as a 

distinct tax parcel as of July 1, 2024, no more than four (4) such parcels may be created 

within a five year period.  

 

 [Commentary: Existing Streets or Easements must meet the design standards outlined in 

Article 7.1 of the Jasper County Land Development Regulations; Roadway 

Classifications.]  

 

c. The combination or recombination of entire lots of record where no new street or change in 

existing streets is involved;  

 

d. The division of land into parcels for conveyance to other persons through the provisions of 

a will or similar document, and in the settlement of an intestate's estate or as determined by 

an order of a court of competent jurisdiction;  

 

e. Property trades or swaps between immediately adjacent landowners not resulting in the 

creation of new parcels of record;  

 

f.  Division of land for the purpose of sale or transfer to an immediately adjacent landowner 

for the sole purpose of enlarging the adjacent landowner's property, and not resulting in 

the creation of new parcels, or the creation of new nonconforming parcels;  

 

g.  The recordation of a plat of land or property for purposes other than the sale or transfer of 

title to land including the following:  

 

i.  The creation or termination of leases, easements, or liens;  

 

ii. The creation or termination of mortgages on existing parcels of record, approved 

subdivisions or commercial projects, partly or undeveloped land;  

 

iii. Lot line corrections on existing recorded properties;  

 

iv. The creation, termination or amendment of private covenants or restrictions on land; 

and  

 

v.  A transfer of title to land not involving the division of land into parcels. 

 

vi. The public acquisition of land for Right-of-Way or Drainage Easements or any Lot or 

parcel created therefrom. 

 



Jasper County Land Development Regulations– Article 2.1.1 Exempt Subdivision 

vii. A Parcel of land that is proposed to be used as the site for a Utility substation, power 

line Easements, or Right-of-Way, pumping station, pressure regulating station, 

electricity regulating substation, gas pressure control station, or similar facilities. 

 
 

Attachments: 

 

1. Ordinance 

2. Article 2 of the Land Development Regulations 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF JASPER 

 
ORDINANCE #2024-___ 

 ORDINANCE OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

An Ordinance to Amend Article 2.1.1 of the Jasper County Land Development 

Regulations, Exempt Subdivision, to limit the number of parcels that can be 

subdivided from a single parcel of land using the State’s exemption to 4 

individual parcels; to define an existing street and existing easement; and 

other matters related thereto; and Invoking application of the Pending 

Ordinance Doctrine.  

 

WHEREAS, The purpose of the Jasper County Land Development Regulations is to 

provide regulations for the harmonious development of the County; coordination of 

streets within subdivisions; provide adequate open spaces for traffic, recreation, light, 

and air; and for a distribution of population and traffic which will tend to create 

conditions favorable to the health, safety, and welfare of the general public; and   

WHEREAS, Section 6-29-1110 of the South Carolina Code of Laws allows exemptions 

for the division of land into parcels of five acres or more where no new street is involved; 

and  

WHEREAS, Jasper County currently has no limit on the number of parcels that can be 

subdivided from a single parcel of land using the State’s exemption for an exempt 

subdivision, which has created large subdivisions that do not provide community open 

space, recreation, and favorable conditions to the health, safety, and welfare of the general 

public; and   

WHEREAS, the Council finds it is in the public interest to invoke the pending ordinance 

doctrine upon first reading of this Ordinance, and announces a public hearing to be held 

prior to or at second reading of this Ordinance, tentatively scheduled for the December 2, 

2024 regularly scheduled County Council meeting; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has recommended approval by County Council 

to amend Article 2.1.1 of the Jasper County Land Development Regulations, Exempt 

Subdivision; and   

WHEREAS, this matter is now before the Jasper County Council for determination; 



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the Jasper County Council duly assembled 

and by the authority of same: 

1. Amend Jasper County Land Development Regulations, Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision 

as follows: 

Article 2.1.1, Exempt Subdivision - An exempt subdivision is one which meets 
one of the following definitions and are included only for the purpose of requiring 
notification and information to the authorized designee of the Planning 
Commission, the DSR. The DSR shall be notified by the owner about the exemption, 
and the plat shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds identifying the exemption 
from the County’s subdivision standards.  

 
a. The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots where the 

total number of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are equal to the 
standards of this Ordinance; or  

 
b. The division of land into parcels of five acres or more where each parcel abuts an 

existing road right-of-way or access easement recorded prior to January 1, 2018. 
The division of land into Parcels of five acres or more, where no new Street or 

Easement is involved provided, that out of any single tract of land, parcel of lot of 

land existing as a distinct tax parcel as of July 1, 2024, no more than four (4) such 

parcels may be created within a five year period.  

 [Commentary: Existing Streets or Easements must meet the design standards 

outlined in Article 7.1 of the Jasper County Land Development Regulations; 

Roadway Classifications.]  

c. The combination or recombination of entire lots of record where no new street or 
change in existing streets is involved;  

 
d. The division of land into parcels for conveyance to other persons through the 

provisions of a will or similar document, and in the settlement of an intestate's 
estate or as determined by an order of a court of competent jurisdiction;  

 
e. Property trades or swaps between immediately adjacent landowners not resulting 

in the creation of new parcels of record;  
 
f.  Division of land for the purpose of sale or transfer to an immediately adjacent 

landowner for the sole purpose of enlarging the adjacent landowner's property, 
and not resulting in the creation of new parcels, or the creation of new 
nonconforming parcels;  

 
g.  The recordation of a plat of land or property for purposes other than the sale or 

transfer of title to land including the following:  
 



i.  The creation or termination of leases, easements, or liens;  
 
ii. The creation or termination of mortgages on existing parcels of record, 

approved subdivisions or commercial projects, partly or undeveloped land;  
 
iii. Lot line corrections on existing recorded properties;  
 
iv. The creation, termination or amendment of private covenants or restrictions on 

land; and  
 
v.  A transfer of title to land not involving the division of land into parcels. 

vi. The public acquisition of land for Right-of-Way or Drainage Easements or any 

Lot or parcel created therefrom. 

vii. A Parcel of land that is proposed to be used as the site for a Utility substation, 

power line Easements, or Right-of-Way, pumping station, pressure regulating 

station, electricity regulating substation, gas pressure control station, or 

similar facilities. 

 
 
________________________________ 
L. Martin Sauls IV 
Chairman   
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Wanda Simmons  

                                                                        Clerk to Council 
 
 

ORDINANCE 2024- ____ 
 
First Reading: ______________ 
Second Reading: ____________ 
Public hearing: _____________ 
Adopted: ________________ 
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
 

Considered by the Jasper County Planning Commission at its meeting on 
 



November 12, 2024. 
_____________________________________________ 

 
 

Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney. 
 

 
 
 

David L. Tedder         Date 
 

 

 

 





358 Third Ave, Ridgeland, SC.                                                                                         Page 1 of 1 

Jasper County  

Clerk to Council 
 

358 Third Avenue     

Ridgeland, South Carolina  29936 

Phone (843) 717-3696 

 

        

Wanda Giles 
Clerk to County Council 

wsimmons@jaspercountysc.gov 
 

 

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: 12.02.2024 

Project: Jasper County Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board 

Request: For submittal of a new Candidate to the Regional Housing Trust 

Oversight Board 

New Appointment For: Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board  

Recommendation: To appoint a new candidate to the Board 

 

Description:  

 
Ms. Michelle Gaston will not be seeking reappointment as Jasper County’s 
representative to the Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board for the next term (her 
current term ends 12.31.2024). There was a copy of a staff report in your 11.04.2024 
asking the Council to start considering Candidates for this appointment to the Jasper 
County Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board.  

 
Staff Request: Staff requests that Council appoint a Candidate to replace Ms. Gaston as 
of 01.01.2025 to the Jasper County Regional Housing Trust Oversight Board.  
  
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Wanda 





358 Third Ave, Ridgeland, SC.                                                                                         Page 1 of 1 

Jasper County  

Clerk to Council 
 

358 Third Avenue     

Ridgeland, South Carolina  29936 

Phone (843) 717-3696 

 

        

Wanda Giles 
Clerk to County Council 

wsimmons@jaspercountysc.gov 
 

 

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: 12.02.2024 

Project: Reappointment to the SouthernCarolina Alliance Board  

Request: For reappointment of Mayor Harry Williams to the  

SouthernCarolina Alliance Board of Directors 

Recommendation: To reappoint Harry Williams to the SouthernCarolina Alliance 
Board of Directors for another 3 year term   

 

Description:  

 
We have received a letter (see attached) from Mr. Danny Black regarding the SCA Board 
of Directors Appointment for 2025  
 
Jasper County Council appoints three members to the SouthernCarolina Alliance Board 
of Directors. These appointments are staggered three-year terms and are usually filled 
during the Annual Board of Directors meeting each year in April. This is a reminder that 
the term of Mayor Harry Williams will expire April 2025. They kindly request Council’s 
confirmation of re-appointment or replacement by December 31, 2024, due to our 
upcoming Board of Directors Retreat in January 2025 to allow your appointed member to 
attend. 
 
Staff Request: Staff requests that Council consider reappointing Mayor Harry Williams 
for another three-year term.   
  
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Wanda 



 

 
201 Lee Avenue, Hampton, SC 29924 (mailing address) 

1750 Jackson Street, Ste 100, Barnwell, SC 29812 
1201 Main Street, Ste 1700, Columbia, SC 29201  

803-541-0023 
www.southerncarolina.org 
sca@southerncarolina.org 

 

 

 

 
November 19, 2024 

 
The Honorable Marty Sauls, Chairman 
Jasper County Council 
P O Box 1149 
Ridgeland, SC 29936 

 
Re: SCA Board of Directors Appointment for 2025 

 
Dear Chairman Sauls and Council Members: 

 
As you are aware, Jasper County Council appoints three members to the SouthernCarolina Alliance Board 

of Directors.  These appointments are staggered three-year terms and are usually filled during the Annual Board 
of Directors meeting each year in April. 

 
This is a reminder that the term of Mayor Harry Williams will expire April 2025.   
 
We kindly request your confirmation of re-appointment or replacement by December 31, 2024, due to 

our upcoming Board of Directors Retreat in January 2025 to allow your appointed member to attend.  
 

Thanking you I am, 
 
 

Sincerely Yours, 

 
Danny Black 
President & CEO  
 
Cc:  Andy Fulghum, Administrator 
       The Honorable Marty Sauls 
       Clerk to Council  
         
 

http://www.southerncarolina.org/
mailto:sca@southerncarolina.org




 

Jasper County Emergency Services 
1509 Grays Hwy (P.O.B. 1509) 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

Office: 843-726-7607 Fax: 843-726-7966 
Chief Russell W. Wells, Director              Deputy Chief Darran Vaughn  

20, November 2024 

 

To: Honorable Jasper County Council Members 

 

Re: Request for authorization to purchase 

 

Greetings Council Members, 

Jasper County Emergency Services, 911 Communications Division budgeted the acquisition of two 

midsize SUVs in this current fiscal cycle. We have reached out to Santee Motors in Santee, SC. This dealership 

has provide the offering of two Dodge Durango’s on South Carolina State Procurement Contract. The 

documents and specifications are attached for your review.  

We are requesting your authorization to proceed with the acquisition of these vehicles. The intended use 

for these vehicles is to allow division personnel to travel to training events, court for testimony, conferences, 

and other matters of operational and education support. Additionally, we are requesting that the administrator be 

authorized to sign and execute all documents related to this purchase.  

Each Vehicle is estimated at $45,361.00. the purchase of two (2) Durangos should not exceed $91,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          Sincerely, 

 

 

 

          Russell W. Wells 







 Page 1 of 1 

Jasper County  
Finance Department 
358 Third Avenue, Post Office Box 1149 

Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 
Phone (843) 717-3692   Fax (843) 717-3626 

Kimberly Burgess, CPA 
Director of Administrative Services 
kburgessr@jaspercountysc.gov 

Jasper County Council 
Consideration and Approval of  

South Carolina Department of Public Health 
State Appropriated Trauma Funds 

For Increasing the Capability of EMS Trauma Care 

Meeting Date: December 2, 2024 
Subject: Council consideration and approval of the receipt of South 

Carolina Department of Public Health State Appropriated 
Trauma Funds to be used for increasing the capability of 
EMS trauma care in the amount of $11,344.40 for fiscal 
year 2024-2025. 

Recommendation: The Council approves the receipt of the South Carolina 
Department of Public Health grant in the amount of 
$11,344.40 to be used to increase the capability of EMS 
trauma care and to authorize the County Administrator to 
execute all documents for the receipt of the grant funds.  

Description:  The SC Department of Public Health distributes state appropriated 
trauma funds in accordance with Section 31.22 of the Part IB Provisos of the 2024-2025 
Appropriations Act, S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 44-61-540, and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-116 
Sec. 1201.  The funds are to be utilized to increase the capability of EMS trauma care 
providers from counties with a high rate of traumatic injury deaths to care for injury 
patients, and for support of the trauma system.  Jasper County’s allocation for Fiscal 
Year 2024-2025 is $11,344.40.  Chief Wells has determined that the funds will be used 
for training and education of trauma care providers.   

Recommendation:  Staff recommends that the County Council approves the receipt of 
the South Carolina Department of Public Health grant in the amount $11,344.40 to be 
used for training and education of Jasper County trauma care providers and to 
authorize the County Administrator to execute all documents for the receipt of the grant 
funds.   

Attachments: 
South Carolina Department of Public Health Trauma Funds grant award letter 

mailto:kburgessr@jaspercountysc.gov








 
Jasper County Emergency Services 

1509 Grays Hwy (P.O.B. 1509) 
Ridgeland, SC 29936 

Office: 843-726-7607 Fax: 843-726-7966 
Chief Russell W. Wells, Director              Deputy Chief Darran Vaughn  

20, November 2024 
 
To: Honorable Jasper County Council Members 
 
Re: Request for Administrator to accept SCDPH grant funds 
 
Greetings Council Members, 

Jasper County Emergency Services has received a grant award in the amount of $11,344.40. This grant 
is from the South Carolina Department of Health. Our intention is to utilize these funds to provide tuition 
coverage for two personnel to attend Paramedic School. We are requesting that the administrator be authorized 
to sign and accept these funds. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          Sincerely, 
 
 
 
          Russell W. Wells 























358 Third Ave, Ridgeland, SC.  Page 1 of 1 

Jasper County  

Clerk to Council 

358 Third Avenue     

Ridgeland, South Carolina  29936 

Phone (843) 717-3696 

Wanda Giles 
Clerk to County Council 

wsimmons@jaspercountysc.gov

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: 12.02.2024 

Project: Board of Zoning Appeals Reappointment 

Request: To reappoint a current Board of Zoning Appeals Member 

New Appointment For: N/A 

Reappointment For: Seat # 04-BZA 

Recommendation: Approval of a Reappointment of 1 Current BZA Member 

Description: 

We have one (1) current 1 BZA Board Member that needs to be reappointed to the 04-
BZA seat for a 4-year term:    

Barbara Bartoldus –  Seat # 04-BZA 

Staff Request: We ask that the current member be reappointed to their current seats with 
the noted term end dates shown below in order to keep the staggered terms on schedule: 

Seat # 04-BZA – Barbara Bartoldus With a term end date of 12.31.2028 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Wanda 



 

 

DUE TO THE COVID-19 CONSIDERATIONS, ALL IN-PERSON COUNCIL MEETINGS  
MAY BE REPLACED WITH EITHER ELECTRONIC OR HYBRID ELECTRONIC/PHYSICAL 
MEETINGS 
 

Watch Live via YouTube at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 
 

PROPOSED  

2025 County Council Meeting Schedule 
 

THE JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETS ON THE FIRST MONDAY OF EACH MONTH 

AND THE THIRD MONDAY OF EACH MONTH FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION AT 5:30PM AND AT 

6:30PM FOR THE REGULAR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING SESSION. IF THE FIRST OR THIRD MONDAY 

FALLS ON A HOLIDAY, THE COUNCIL WILL MEET ON TUESDAY OF THAT WEEK.  
 

Regular Session Council Meeting Date and Time Schedule  
• JANUARY 6, 2025 – 6:30PM  
• JANUARY 21, 2025 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• FEBRUARY 3, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• FEBRUARY 18, 2025 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• MARCH 3, 2025 – 6:30PM  
• MARCH 17, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• APRIL 7, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• APRIL 21, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• MAY 5, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• MAY 19, 2025 – 6:30PM  
• JUNE 2, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• JULY 21, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• AUGUST 18, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• SEPTEMBER 2, 2025 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• SEPTEMBER 15, 2025 – 6:30PM  
• OCTOBER 6, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• OCTOBER 20, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• NOVEMBER  3, 2025 – 6:30PM  
• NOVEMBER 17, 2025 – 6:30PM 
• DECEMBER 1, 2025 – 6:30PM 

 
DATES AND TIMES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 
SPECIAL MEETINGS CAN BE CALLED WITH 24 HOURS PUBLIC NOTICE 
FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONTACT:  843-717-3696 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER – SPECIAL ACCOMODATIONS AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST TO INDIVIDUALS WITH 
DISABILITIES    

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA


Minutes - 08.19.2024 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg. 
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936  

    Monday, August 19, 2024 

Officials Present: Chairman L. Martin Sauls IV, Vice Chairwoman Barbara B. Clark; Councilman John 
 Kemp and Councilman Rowell 

Staff Present: County Administrator Andrew Fulghum, Clerk to Council Wanda Giles, County Attorney 
David Tedder, Chief Russell Wells, Kimberly Burgess, Nicole Holt, Arthur Benjamin and Videographer 
Jonathan Dunham.   

1. Call to Order:
Chairman Sauls called the meeting to order. The Report of Compliance with the Freedom of Information
Act was read for the records as follows:  In compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, notice of
meetings and agendas were posted and furnished to all news media and persons requesting notification.

2. Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.
(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons:

1) Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion,
discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or
the appointment of a person to a public body – County Council - SC Public Employee Benefit
Authority (PEBA) – State Health Plan

(2) Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and proposed
purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice related to
pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client
privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary
situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim – Exit 3; Project Telfair; Tax Map
# 087-00-04-001; 252 Russell Street; Legacy Funeral Home Vehicle Rental; Nickel Plate MCIP;
City of Hardeeville v Jasper County; USCB MCIP; Treasurer - SC App Case No. 2021-000941;
Premium Pay; Opioid Litigation; Jasper Animal Rescue Mission (JARM) Lease; Jasper County
v Western Surety Company

(5) Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision
of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in
the area served by a public body – Prospect Update; Project Mr. C; Moffett Solar II; Project Veggie

Motion to go into executive session:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote: Unanimous 
The motion passed.  

 
ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE 
DISCUSSION SUSPENDED FOR PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND 
COUNCIL MAY RETURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION 
AGENDA ITEMS. 
 
PLEASE BE ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
 
3:  Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 
The Council returned to open session. 
 

o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session 
 
Chairman Sauls asked if there were any motions coming out of executive session. 
 
Motion # 1:  
 
Motion to move to ratify the amendment of the Tolling Agreement executed by the Administrator extending 
the status of limitations in the Nickel Plate matter:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second: Councilman Rowell 
Vote: Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
Motion # 2:  
 
Motion to move to ratify the Option Agreement for the property located at 252 Russell St., Ridgeland,  
Tax map parcel number 063-26 -02-003:  Councilman Rowell 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote: Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
Motion # 3:  
 
Motion to move to ratify the actions of the County Administrator in the opting in to the Opioid Class Action 
National Settlement with Kroger as recommended by their retained legal counsel:  Councilman Rowell 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote: Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
Chairman Sauls noted as a result of the South Carolina Appellate Case Number 2021-00094, Councilmembers 
were in full agreement, as well as staff, to have a workshop with the County Treasurer to go through the County 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

accounts to allow access and/or signing control for what is statutorily allowed.  He noted that they would be 
doing that since the case is no longer in force.  He said they would get with the Treasurer to have a workshop 
with Council to go through the accounts. 
 
Vice Chairwoman Clark noted that this was where they were picking up from, which was where they had 
stopped when the lawsuit was filed. She said this is exactly what they were trying to do. 
 
4.  Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation: The Pledge of Allegiance was recited and Chairman Sauls gave the 
invocation. 
 
5.  Approval of the Consent Agenda Items:  

Approval of Consent Agenda passes all Consent Agenda Items. Consent Agenda Items are not 
considered separately unless any Councilmember so requests. In the event of such a request the 
item is placed at the end of the Public Hearings, Ordinances and Action Items.  
 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda with removing item numbers 18, 19, 20,21, and 22 and placing 
them on the regular agenda:  Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  

 

 
6.  Approval of the Regular Agenda: 
 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7.  Presentations: 
 

• Chief Russell Wells, Director of Emergency Services – Discussion of Tropical Storm Debby 
Chief Wells gave an update and overview of the ongoing situation with Tropical Cyclone Debby. He 
discussed rainfall, flash flooding, calls for service, infrastructure damage, and damage assessment teams. 
 

• Keith Hughes, Director of JARM – Jasper Animal Rescue Mission Update 
Mr. Hughes, Director of JARM discussed the ongoings of the Jasper Animal Rescue Mission, how well the 
Volunteers were doing, and the future that they see for JARM.  He discussed the temporary fostering of 
animals during Tropical Cyclone Debby and noted how the facility handled the storm. 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

 

• Mike Skinner, Treasurer- Treasurer’s update on the pending litigation 
Mr. Skinner was not present, but Mr. Ronnie Richter, Attorney representing Treasurer Skinner.  He noted 
that at the last scheduled Council Meeting the Council never got to hear about the update of pending 
litigation from Treasurer Skinner’s perspective.  He noted that today he wanted to provide an update of the 
pending litigation from Mr. Skinner’s perspective.  For further information on this item please see the video 
our website at: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 
  

 

PROCLAMATION  
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
8. Chairman Sauls – Proclamation presentation to the daughter of Mr. Reid, Takisha Reid, declaring 
September 21, 2024, as “Robert Reid Day” for Tarboro citizen Robert Reid. 
Vice Chairwoman Clark Sauls read the proclamation for the record and presented the Proclamation to Ms. 
Takeisha Reid.  
______________________________________________________________________________________  

RESOLUTIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
9. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-23 to declare Sheriff Department property, 
Business License Department property, and Ridgeland-Claude Dean Airport property to be surplus and 
authorize its sale or disposition pursuant to Section 2-425 of the Jasper County Code of Ordinances. 
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of Resolution #R-2024-23 to 
declare Sheriff Department property, Business License Department property, and Ridgeland-Claude Dean 
Airport property to be surplus and authorize its sale or disposition as follows:  
 
Sheriff Department: 
1) 1986 US Coast Guard Aluminum Hull, HID# MAK402741086, with one (1) Honda 130HP Outboard Motor, 
serial# BZBE-1500708, and one (1) Honda 130HP Outboard Motor, serial# BZBE-1500823. Currently stored 
at 411 MarineCom, Inc. in Hardeeville, SC with a storage bill of over $45,000. This equipment is non-
operational.  
2) Boston Whaler, HID# US-BWG5J434F900WB, with one (1) Honda 130HP Outboard Motor, serial# BZBE-
1401630. Currently at Jasper County Sheriff’s Office CID Impound Yard. This equipment is non-operational.  
Business License Department:  
3) 2008 Chevrolet Colorado LT 4x4 Extended Cab 6 ft. box, VIN 1GCDT49E688192729. The vehicle mileage is 
in excess of 82,000 miles and the air conditioner no longer works.  
Ridgeland-Claude Dean Airport: 
 4) Hali-Brite 18-inch Windsock s/n 17638, model L807-S1-IN-120—ON-5. The 18- inch windsock was 
installed in 2018 and replaced in 2022 with a 36-inch lighted windsock. The Hali-Brite is in working order 
but no longer required at the airport. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA


 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Motion to approve:  Councilman Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
10. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-24 Electing the “Standard Allowance” for the 
Experienced Revenue Loss and Authorizing Expenditures from the American Rescue Plan Funds. 
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of Resolution #R-2024-24 
Electing the “Standard Allowance” for the Experienced Revenue Loss and Authorizing Expenditures from 
the American Rescue Plan Funds. She noted that this was part of the ARPA funds received in 2022 and have 
until December of 2024 to designate what the remaining funds will be spent for. Two identified projects for 
expenditures to provide $150,000.00 to Jasper County Neighbor’s United for affordable housing; and 
renovation of the Pratt Memorial Library. 
 
Motion to approve: Councilman Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
11. Andrew Fulghum – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-25 authorizing the addendum to an existing 
employer resolution regarding participation in the State Insurance Benefits Program – County Council 
Member Coverage.   
 
Mr. Fulghum was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of Resolution #R-2024-25 
authorizing the addendum to an existing employer resolution regarding participation in the State Insurance 
Benefits Program – County Council Member Coverage dealing with PEBA, and was not a compensation 
change. 
 
Motion to approve: Councilman Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
 ______________________________________________________________________________________  

PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

12. Lisa Wagner - Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance to amend the Official Zoning Map of 
Jasper County so as to apply the Solar Farm Floating Zone to properties bearing Jasper County Tax Map 
Numbers 050-00-06-002, 050-00-06-005, 059-00-01-002, 059-00-01-003, and 059-00-01-033, as shown 
on the Moffett Solar II Concept Plan, prepared by Wood., dated May 2024, located along Grays 
Highway, Firetower Road and Langfordville Road. 
 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Ms. Wagner was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of the 1st reading of an 
Ordinance to amend the Official Zoning Map of Jasper County so as to apply the Solar Farm Floating Zone 
to properties bearing Jasper County Tax Map Numbers 050-00-06-002, 050-00-06-005, 059-00-01-002, 
059-00-01-003, and 059-00-01-033, as shown on the Moffett Solar II Concept Plan, prepared by Wood. 
 
Ms. Wagner noted that Moffett Solar II, LLC was requesting that the Solar Farm Floating Zone (SFFZ) be 
applied to the subject properties as depicted on the Concept Map prepared for Moffett Solar II, LLC. The 
project site consists of approximately 740 acres.  
 
The site itself is bounded by Grays Highway to the east, Firetower Road to the north, and Langfordville 
Road to the west. Moffett Solar II, LLC is proposing a 74.9 megawatt (MW) solar farm. The electricity that 
will be generated from the photovoltaic (PV) solar panels will interconnect into Santee Cooper’s existing 
electrical grid. The anticipated project life is 40 years.  
 
In accordance with the SFFZ Ordinance, a concept plan has been prepared which depicts the setbacks, 
buffers, access roads, areas of wetlands, and areas where the solar panels will be located. As shown on 
the concept plan, a 100’ vegetated buffer is proposed along Grays Highway, Firetower Road, and Langford 
Road. Where the property abuts residential properties, a 200’ vegetated buffer is proposed and a 50’ 
vegetated buffer is proposed along properties that are zoned Rural Preservation, which are all heavily 
forested. Other buffers include a 50’ riparian buffer around all wetlands. In addition to the buffers, a 25’ 
setback will be established along the interior of the bufferyards.  
 
The solar farm will have approximately 5 pods of solar panels. Each pod will be fenced in, creating a 
wildlife corridor and leaving the wetlands undisturbed.  Moffett Solar II entered into a Purchase Option 
Agreement with the property owner, TRR Real Estate, LLC on December 18, 2017, for the purpose of 
developing a solar farm. TRR Real Estate intends to retain a portion of parcel number 059-00-01-002, 
which will be subdivided at the time of purchase or contemporaneous with the purchase of the property. 
The buyer and the seller have also agreed through a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), that the 
bufferyard and setback requirement will be reduced to 0’ once the new boundary line is created for parcel 
number 059-00-01-002. Although security fencing will be constructed, both parties agree solar panels will 
not need to be screened from view for the remaining TRR Real Estate property.  
 
The Planning Commission recommends approval for the Solar Farm Floating Zone to be applied to parcel 
numbers 050-00-06-002, 050-00-06-005, 059-00- 01-002, 059-00-01-003, and 059-00-01-033, and also 
recommends that County Council require the applicant to develop a soil monitoring plan to ensure that 
this project does not produce any type of surface or ground water contamination or other environmental 
impacts. Councilman Kemp asked if there were any concerns on the Planning Commission.  Ms. Wagner 
addressed this topic for him. She noted that the public hearing has been scheduled for September 3rd.   
 
Motion to approve: Councilman Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

13. David Tedder – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance authorizing the sale of TMS 
048-00-01-026, approximately five (5) acres, to Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, or its assigns, and to 
authorizing the Jasper County Administrator to execute such contracts, amendments, deeds and 
other documents as may be necessary and appropriate to effect the sale to Gopher Hill Holdings, 
LLC, or its assigns, and matters related thereto. 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of the 1st reading of an 
Ordinance authorizing the sale of TMS 048-00-01-026, approximately five (5) acres, to Gopher Hill 
Holdings, LLC, or its assigns, and to authorizing the Jasper County Administrator to execute such 
contracts, amendments, deeds and other documents as may be necessary and appropriate to effect 
the sale to Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, or its assigns. He noted that property was in Cypress Ridge 
Industrial Park that has been sitting vacant for some time.  
 
Motion to approve 1st reading of this ordinance of TMS 048-00-01-026, approximately five (5) acres:  
Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
14. David Tedder – Consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance #O-2024-17 Amending Jasper County 
Ordinance #O-2023-20 by Authorizing and Approving Modified Terms of a Loan from the South Carolina 
Transportation Infrastructure Bank; Authorizing and Approving Documents to Reflect the Modified Loan; 
Authorizing and Approving Modifications to an Intergovernmental Agreement among Jasper County, 
South Carolina, the City of Hardeeville, South Carolina and the South Carolina Transportation 
Infrastructure Bank; and Other Related Matters. (Exit 3) (1st reading 07.15.2024) 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of this ordinance pertaining to 
Exit 3 for a consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance #O-2024-17 Amending Jasper County Ordinance 
#O-2023-20 by Authorizing and Approving Modified Terms of a Loan from the South Carolina 
Transportation Infrastructure Bank; Authorizing and Approving Documents to Reflect the Modified Loan; 
Authorizing and Approving Modifications to an Intergovernmental Agreement among Jasper County, South 
Carolina, the City of Hardeeville, South Carolina and the South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; 
with a change in the term of the loan. 
 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
15. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of the 1st reading of a Budget Amendment by Title Only to Amend 
Jasper County Ordinance O-2023-09 For Fiscal Year 2024 Jasper County Budget To Provide For 
Amendments To The Budget And To Carryover Approved Lapsing Funds To Fiscal Year 2025, And To 
Amend Jasper County Ordinance O-2024-13 For Fiscal Year 2025 Jasper County Budget To Provide For 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Amendments To The Budget Resulting From The Carryover Of Approved Lapsing Funds From Fiscal Year 
2024.  
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of the 1st reading of a Budget 
Amendment by Title Only to Amend Jasper County Ordinance O-2023-09 For Fiscal Year 2024 Jasper County 
Budget To Provide For Amendments To The Budget And To Carryover Approved Lapsing Funds To Fiscal 
Year 2025, And To Amend Jasper County Ordinance O-2024-13 For Fiscal Year 2025 Jasper County Budget 
To Provide For Amendments To The Budget Resulting From The Carryover Of Approved Lapsing Funds From 
Fiscal Year 2024.  
 
Councilman Rowell asked if they would have the amounts and numbers at the September meeting.  
Councilman Kemp said he would like to table until they had the numbers so they could see what they were 
working with. 
 
Motion to table:  Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
16. Ryan Romano – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance authorizing the Execution 
and Delivery of a Development Agreement for Moffett Solar II Pursuant to the South Carolina 
Local Government Development Agreement Act and Article IV, Title 20 of the Code Of 
Ordinances Of Jasper County; Approving a Technical Amendment to Ordinance O-2024-11 A; 
Authorizing The Chairman Of Jasper County Council To Execute A Development Agreement; 
And Other Related Matters.   
 
Mr. Tedder was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of the 1st reading of 
an Ordinance authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a Development Agreement for Moffett 
Solar II Pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act and 
Article IV, Title 20 of the Code Of Ordinances Of Jasper County; Approving a Technical 
Amendment to Ordinance O-2024-11 A; Authorizing The Chairman Of Jasper County Council To 
Execute A Development Agreement. Mr. Tedder noted that this was for the Development 
Agreement only. He noted that there would be two public hearings in the month of September.   
 
Motion to approve:  Councilman 
Second:  Councilman 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
16A. Danny Lucas – Approval of the Proposed Purchase through a Public Purchasing Cooperative as 
Provided in Section 2-441 of the Jasper County Code of Ordinances for an Exmark Lazer Z- Diesel Mower 
Model: LZS88CDYM96RW0 for SkyBlue Aviation. 
 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Mr. Lucas  was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of proposed purchase through a 
Public Purchasing Cooperative as provided in Section 2-441 of the Jasper County Code of Ordinances for an 
Exmark Lazer Z- Diesel Mower Model: LZS88CDYM96RW0 for SkyBlue Aviation.  Mr. Lucas also discussed the 
need for a trailer for the mower.  Chairman Sauls asked if he had asked Engineering Services if they had a 
trailer that would work.  The sizes and usage of equipment were discussed. 
 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  There was no second to the motion. 
The motion failed for the lack of a second.  
 
16B. Kimberly Burgess –Approval of Axon Enterprises, Inc.  Contract Revision for Seventy-Seven (77) Body 
Cameras and Seventy-Seven (77) Tasers for the Sheriff Department and Authorize County Administrator to 
Execute the Contract Effective October 1, 2024. 
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of the Axon Enterprises, 
Inc.  Contract Revision for Seventy-Seven (77) Body Cameras and Seventy-Seven (77) Tasers for the Sheriff 
Department and Authorize County Administrator to Execute the Contract Effective October 1, 2024.   
 
Ms. Burgess noted that Jasper County currently has a contract with Axon Enterprises, Inc. for body cameras 
and tasers. The Sheriff Department would like to revise the current contract to replace current body cameras 
with new body cameras at no charge, to add an additional twelve cameras for a total price of $11,003.04 
(including sales tax), and to provide training for the new body cameras and tasers for a total price of 
$16,500.00. The new bundled contract price is $1,724,911.93 and provides credits totaling $49,291.57. The 
total net price of the new contract is $1,703,123.40 (including the additional cameras and training programs) 
payable annually over five years. She also explained the benefits of this request. 
 
Sheriff Hipp explained the need for this equipment and how vital it is to the citizens and to the person carrying 
them and overviewed how they work. Chief Deputy Crosby explained the use of grants that helped pay for 
this, how they came to get the first cameras that outfitted every Deputy when Sheriff Hipp took office, he 
also discussed how the cameras have two-way voice communication.  He noted they can log in and watch 
the camera live while Deputies are on a call.  
 
Motion to approve:  Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
16C. Andrew Fulghum – Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement / Social Media / Marketing.  
(Sol Freedom Marketing LLC) 
 
Mr. Fulghum was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of approval of Independent 
Contractor Agreement / Social Media / Marketing (Sol Freedom Marketing LLC).  This is an agreement for 
Social Media and Marketing Services and was discussed at a previous meeting, and Councilman Rowell had 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

a chance to speak with the.  Mr. Fulghum noted this was a 1 year contract and asked that he be allowed to 
negotiate the contract with Sol Freedom Marketing LLC.   
 
Motion to approve:  Councilman Rowell 
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
 
16D. Kimberly Burgess – Approval of Revised Southern Health Partners Contract Providing Inmate Health 
Care with an Increase in Staffing and Access to a Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner on an As Needed Basis for 
FY2025 Budget and Authorize County Administrator to Execute the Contract Effective September 1, 2024. 
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of this request. She noted that   
Jasper County is in the fifth year of an inmate health care contract with Southern Health Partners.  
 
The terms of the contract include an annual 3% increase upon automatic renewal and an increase in the per 
diem rate, which is the daily rate per inmate over an agreed upon number of inmates. The FY25 base contract 
amount beginning July 1, 2024, is $22,382.96 and the per diem rate is $0.97.  
 
The Detention Center Director, with concurrence of the Chief Procurement Officer and the County 
Administrator, has requested amendments to the contract as follows:  
• Additional Southern Health Partners staffing hours from 12 hours per day, 7 days per week, to a new 
schedule of 16 hours per day, 7 days per week, which will increase the monthly amount to $28,061.36; and 
• A provision for psychiatric nurse practitioner services on an as-needed basis, upon request, to be billed at 
an hourly rate of $150 with costs going into the pool accounting. Pool accounting is a provision in the contract 
that provides that Southern Health Partners pays the first $25,000 of outside inmate medical care, i.e., 
hospital or doctor, and the County is responsible for any outside inmate medical care expenses greater than 
$25,000 upon approval by the County.  
 
The additional costs to the contract will be paid under the current FY25 budget from account 2710- MEDICAL 
SERVICES CONTRACT $306,500, with any overages reclassified from 2680-JUVENILE HOUSING EXPENSE or 
2430-EQUIPMENT. Recommendation: The Council approves the revised Southern Health Partners contract 
and authorizes the County Administrator to execute the contract effective September 1, 2024. 
 
Motion to approve:  Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 
16E. Kimberly Burgess – Acknowledgement and ratification of acceptance of School Resource Office 
Grant. 
 



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

Ms. Burgess was present to review and discuss this request for consideration of this request.  She noted 
that the SC Department of Public Safety awarded Jasper County Sheriff’s Office, the implementing agency, 
a School Resource Grant in the amount of $578,031 on August 6, 2024, in the amount of $578,031 for the 
award period 7/1/2024 – 6/30/2025. Sheriff Donald Hipp has accepted the award on behalf of the Jasper 
County Sheriff’s Office. Recommendation: Staff recommends that the County Council acknowledges receipt 
of the School Resource Officer Grant Award No. 5R-117-C2700-25 from the SC Department of Public Safety 
in the amount of $578,031 for the period 7/1/2024 – 6/30/2025 and ratifies Sheriff Hipp’s acceptance of 
the grant award. 
 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Rowell 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  
Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes. 
 
Scott Yancy - Was present to discuss the pending litigation with Council and the Treasurer, funds and the 
Treasurer’s office. 
Citizen - Thanked Council for all they had done on the Euhaw Broad River Area to save the area’s history. 
Milton Woods - Thanked the Council for what they were doing in the County and for the development in 
the County. 
Janet Shonaugh - Thanked Council for working so hard to develop the County in the proper manner by 
balancing the demands of growth and future development.   
Smittie Cooler - Thanked Council for how they were handling the Zoning Change process. 
Citizen - She wanted to discuss matters related to the Treasurer’s Office.  
Tony Versaille - Discussed his thoughts on Council and County staff. 
Mrs. Frazier – Discussed the Coosawhatchie Community Center. 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
17. Administrator’s Report:   Mr. Fulghum reviewed the information in his report. There were no Action 
Items requiring a vote from the Council in the Administrator’s Report.  Mr. Fulghum asked Ms. Wagner to 
cover the Euhaw Broad River Planning Area with an update of where things are.   
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

_______________________________________________________________________________________  



 
 

Minutes - 08.19.2024 
 

 

18. Danny Lucas –Approval of the Proposed Purchase through a Public Purchasing Cooperative as Provided in 
Section 2-441 of the Jasper County Code of Ordinances for an Exmark Lazer Z- Diesel Mower Model: 
LZS88CDYM96RW0 for SkyBlue Aviation. (This item was moved to the Regular Agenda as Item # 16A) 
 
19. Kimberly Burgess –Approval of Axon Enterprises, Inc.  Contract Revision for Seventy-Seven (77) Body 
Cameras and Seventy-Seven (77) Tasers for the Sheriff Department and Authorize County Administrator to 
Execute the Contract Effective October 1, 2024. (This item was moved to the Regular Agenda as Item # 16A) 
 
20. Andrew Fulghum – Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement / Social Media / Marketing.  
(Sol Freedom Marketing LLC) (This item was moved to the Regular Agenda as Item # 16A) 
 
21. Kimberly Burgess – Approval of Revised Southern Health Partners Contract Providing Inmate Health Care 
with an Increase in Staffing and Access to a Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner on an As Needed Basis for FY2025 
Budget and Authorize County Administrator to Execute the Contract Effective September 1, 2024. (This item 
was moved to the Regular Agenda as Item # 16A) 
 
22. Kimberly Burgess – Acknowledgement and ratification of acceptance of School Resource Office Grant for 
Fiscal Year 2025 in the amount of $578,031 from the South Carolina Department of Public Safety.  (This item 
was moved to the Regular Agenda as Item # 16A) 
 
23. Approval of the Minutes 04.15.2024; 04.22.2024; 05.06.2024 and 05.15.2024 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

24. Council Members Comments:  Councilmember Comments were given but there were no comments 
that required action. 

 
25. Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II. *Council may act on any item appearing on the agenda including items discussed in executive 
session.  For additional information on this meeting please visit our website for this meeting’s agenda e-
packet or for the video go to https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 

 
26. Adjournment: 
 

Motion to adjourn:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Kemp 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed and the meeting adjourned.   

 
  Respectfully submitted:      

         
  _________________________________                 _____________________________________ 
  Wanda H. Giles              L. Martin Sauls IV   
  Clerk to Council              Chairman 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA


1 
Minutes – 08.20.2024 

 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL  
and  

JASPER COUNTY AIRPORT COMMISSION 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg  
     358 3rd Avenue Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

Tuesday, August 20, 2024 
MINUTES 

 
 

Officials Present: Chairman L. Martin Sauls IV, Vice Chairwoman Barbara B. Clark; Councilman John      
Kemp and Councilman Rowell 

 
Staff Present: County Administrator Andrew Fulghum, County Attorney David Tedder, Danny Lucas and 
Videographer Jonathan Dunham.  
 
Chairman Sauls called the Council and Airport Commission Workshop to order.   Chairman Cleland called 
the Airport Commission Workshop to order, so the County Council and Airport Commission Workshop 
could be joined together.   
 
The Report of Compliance with the Freedom of Information Act was read for the records as follows:  In 
compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, notice of meetings and agendas were posted and 
furnished to all news media and persons requesting notification.  

 
Pledge to the Flag and Invocation: 
The Pledge to the Flag was recited and Chairman Sauls gave the invocation.  Chairman Sauls then turned the 
Workshop over to Chairman Cleland.   

 
Avery Cleland, Airport Commission Chairman:   Introduction of Guests 
 
Chairman Cleland thanked everyone for coming and getting together at this workshop. Chairman Cleland also 
introduced Mike Hodges who was there for any questions, comments, counseling on leases and pertinent 
information. 

 
Discussion of Airport Matters: 
 
The items discussed for this meeting were as follows: 

• Hangar Lease Policy 

• Airport Commission Duties and Authority 

• Aviation Fuel 

• Fee Structure 

• Airport Reviews 



2 
Minutes – 08.20.2024 

 

• Airport Maintenance  

• Access to Airport Amenities 

• Turf Operating Area 

• Airport Security and Emergency Responder Access 
 
For additional information on this meeting please visit our website for this meeting’s agenda e-packet or 
for the video go to https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 

 
Adjournment: 

 
Motion to adjourn:  Airport Commission Chairman Cleland 
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed and the meeting adjourned.   

 
  Respectfully submitted:      

         
  _________________________________                 _____________________________________ 
  Wanda H. Giles              L. Martin Sauls IV   
  Clerk to Council              Chairman 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA



